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Financial Year 2016 Highlights
Jan
2016

Feb
2016

March
2016

Capital
activity

April
2016

May
2016

June
2016

€70m
Secured a debt facility of €70.0 million
over a period of 7 years from the
European Investment Bank.

Investing
activity

€20.7m
Completed €20.7 million of follow-on
investments in Hatteras, Viamet, Xenex,
Melinta, Emba Medical and 3D4Medical.

Investee
company
operational
updates

Kymab and the University of
Texas MD Anderson Cancer
Center announced a
strategic cancer drug
discovery and development
alliance to discover and
develop novel human
therapeutic antibodies to
treat a variety of cancers.
Immunocore’s IMCgp100
for the treatment of uveal
melanoma was granted US
FDA Orphan Drug
designation which qualiﬁed
Immunocore for a number
of development incentives
and fast track registration
for IMCgp100.
Melinta initiated a Phase 3
study of delaﬂoxacin
(Baxdela™) in
hospital-treated
community-acquired
bacterial pneumonia.

Jan
2016
02

Feb
2016

Altan took signiﬁcant steps
towards building a direct
commercial presence in key
European markets beyond
Spain. Commercial resources
were put in place in the UK to
support launch of its ﬁrst
product in 2017 with additional
launches to come thereafter.
Additionally, plans were
established to initiate
regulatory ﬁlings in 2017 for a
substantial number of existing
and new products in the UK,
Germany, France, Italy,
BeNeLux, and Portugal.

Melinta announced top-line results from the
second Phase 3 study of delaﬂoxacin, for the
treatment of patients with acute bacterial skin
and skin structure infections, having met the
primary endpoints required by the US FDA and
EMA.
Viamet’s VT-1598 for the treatment of
coccidioidomycosis (Valley Fever) granted US
FDA Orphan Drug designation.
Restructured the Serenus business
to narrow its geographic focus.
Viamet received fast track
designation from the US FDA for
VT-1129 for the treatment of
cryptococcal meningitis.

Viamet reported positive
results from planned interim
analysis of its ongoing Phase
2b clinical trial of VT-1161 in
onychomycosis and recurrent
vulvovaginal candidiasis.

3D4Medical received Apple
Design Award for its ﬂagship
application, Complete Anatomy,
from over 2 million apps available
across iOS and macOS, for
technical excellence, outstanding
design and innovation.

Immunocore’s IMCgp100
started Phase 1 trials for the
treatment of uveal melanoma.

March
2016

April
2016

May
2016

June
2016
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July
2016

Aug
2016

Sept
2016

Oct
2016

Nov
2016

€10m

€30m

Drawdown of an initial
€10.0 million of the €70.0
million EIB debt facility.

Drawdown of a further
€30.0 million of the
€70.0 million EIB debt
facility.

Dec
2016

2017

Malin completed a
placing of 2.7
million Ordinary
Shares raising gross
proceeds of €27.0
million in May 2017.

€31.8m

€5.4m

€5.2m

Completed €31.8 million of
follow-on investments in
Novan, Poseida, Viamet,
Melinta and An2H.

Completed a €5.4 million investment in NeuVT, a company
established by combining existing Malin investee companies,
Emba Medical and Emba Neuro, together with a third party
company focused on the development of a portfolio of
innovative neurovascular and peripheral vascular medical devices.

Completed €5.2 million of
investments in Wren,
Cilatus and Artizan.

Novan announced that the
ﬁrst patient has been dosed in
its Phase 2 clinical programme
to evaluate the eﬃcacy and
safety of topical nitric oxide
product candidate SB208 in
the treatment of infections
caused by dermatophytes
(e.g. athlete’s foot and
onychomycosis).

Viamet’s VT-1161 granted US FDA
QIDP and fast track designation for
treatment of RVVC.
Novan announced statistically
signiﬁcant Phase 2 trial results
for SB206 for the treatment of
genital warts caused by human
papillomavirus, or HPV.
Kymab secured $100 million
Series C funding.

Novan completed an
IPO raising gross
proceeds of $52.0
million.

Melinta’s
NDA for
delaﬂoxacin
accepted for
ﬁling by US
FDA.

Viamet’s VT-1598
granted US FDA
QIDP designation for
treatment of Valley
Fever.

July
2016

Aug
2016

Sept
2016

Oct
2016

Melinta and Menarini Group entered into a commercial and
co-development agreement for delaﬂoxacin in 68
countries.
Viamet reports positive results from REVIVE Phase 2b trial
of VT-1161 in RVVC and from RENOVATE Phase 2b trial of
VT-1161 in onychomycosis.
Novan announced the results of both of its Phase 3 pivotal
clinical trials for SB204 in the treatment of acne vulgaris.
SB204 demonstrated statistical signiﬁcance compared to
vehicle on all three co-primary endpoints in one of the
trials, but demonstrated statistical signiﬁcance on only one
of three co-primary endpoints in the other trial. Novan also
announced positive topline results with SB208 in Phase 2
trial with clinical evidence of antifungal activity.
Xenex continued its expansion into global markets by
signing an exclusive distribution license with Terumo
Corporation for Japan.
Kymab announced the expansion of its Infectious Disease
Programmes with the receipt of a grant from the Bill &
Melinda Gates Foundation to accelerate the development
of novel vaccines and therapeutics for infectious diseases,
including HIV.

Nov
2016

Dec
2016

2017
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Chairman’s Letter

On behalf of the Board of Malin,
I am pleased to present our annual report and financial
statements for the period ended 31 December 2016.
The Board is satisfied with the progress made to build
long term value for shareholders and support the
development of innovative healthcare products by our
investee companies.

We invested €356 million of capital in 18 investee companies
in the period since our IPO in March 2015 to 31 December
2016. A number of our investee companies achieved
significant strategic, scientific and clinical milestones in 2016.
Management is now focused on operationally, strategically
and scientifically supporting our investee companies to
turn this progress into tangible value creation for our
shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I want to thank John Given
for his work as Chairman of Malin and Prof. Dr Uwe Bicker
and Sean Murphy for their contributions to the Board.
Sean stepped down from the Board to focus on his senior
operating and strategic executive duties within the Company.

In June 2016 we secured a €70 million 7-year debt facility
from the European Investment Bank (“EIB”). This additional
non–dilutive capital provides us with a funding source that
optimally complements our equity capital. In addition to the
€380 million of equity capital that we raised in 2015, Malin
completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in
the capital of the Company, raising gross proceeds of €27.0
million in May 2017.

Kyran McLaughlin
Chairman
2 June 2017

The depth and diversity of the knowledge and experience
of the Malin team that has been built under Kelly Martin’s
leadership is a significant asset. Complemented by our Board
and advisory partners, this expertise and experience are
crucial components of our business model as we seek to
significantly contribute to the advancement of our investee
companies.

04

Management is now focused on
operationally, strategically and
scientifically supporting our investee
companies to turn this progress
into tangible value creation for our
shareholders.
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Chief Executive’s Review

2016 was defined by a substantial amount of followon activity relating to our Company establishing itself
as a unique and influential participant in the global
human healthcare industry. Of particular importance
was the deepening of our relationships, understanding
and operational/strategic involvement with all the
businesses which we are currently invested in.

The following five themes underscore critical aspects of our
effort to create a unique value proposition for our shareholders
and reflect the overall Malin business model which has been
constructed.
• Risk is dynamic and embedded within the full value chain of
the industry. Risk is part of the underlying science, clinical
trials, product manufacturing/operations and regulation, as
well as pricing and reimbursement. Diversification across a
range of companies and the continuous reduction of specific
components of risk, while simultaneously creating upside
potential by unlocking value, are fundamental aspects of our
business model.
• Core capital pools (sovereign wealth funds, public/private
pension funds, certain elements of the insurance industry and
high net worth individuals) are significantly underinvested
in healthcare as a sector. All of these entities are looking for
opportunities and organisations to partner with and become
more active within the human healthcare sector. If additional
capital opportunities can be achieved to the benefit of Malin
and its shareholders, we intend to pursue such opportunities.
• The underlying industry dynamics and the progress within
science, diagnostics, devices, mobile and computational
capability continues to accelerate on a global basis.
Advancement in the underlying fundamentals of the human
healthcare sector are far outpacing the business and

capital models that currently exist within the industry. Our
relationships, global network and breadth of assets allow us
to assess and understand the underlying progression within
the industry on a global basis.
• Multi-disciplinary talent that works together and on an
integrated basis is a key ingredient for success. Problem
identification followed by the generation of new pathways
for solutions is possible by harnessing complimentary talents
with the underlying advancements and industry dynamics
described above. We continue to selectively add or identify
unique and complimentary talent to our organisation.
• Significant step-function advancements across many
therapeutic areas are evolving at a pace which appears to be
accelerating. Two specific areas to highlight are oncology (it is
not just “one disease” but multi-factorial in biology, causality,
genetic disposition and risk assessments) and neurology (the
integration of physical science with current biological theories
and/or clinical observations). We continue to explore ways to
participate in and harness the opportunities available within
therapeutic areas that exhibit the fundamentals necessary
to provide significant long term benefit to shareholders and
patients.
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Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

Several of our investee companies have made substantial
progress over the course of 2016. I have highlighted some of
these companies and their progress below:
• Melinta Therapeutics has successfully completed a pivotal
Phase 3 trial and has filed a New Drug Application with
the US Food and Drug Administration for their lead asset,
delafloxacin. Upon approval, this asset would bring the first
quinolone antibiotic with activity against MRSA, a widely
prevalent, drug-resistant Staph infection strain to market,
being a novel life-saving antibiotic for the treatment of
serious and difficult-to-treat bacterial infections. Delafloxacin
will be available in IV and oral dosage forms. The Melinta
executive team is world-class and we are fortunate to be able
to work with them at this important time in the company’s
development. Melinta is Malin’s second largest investment.
• Xenex, our technology-based disinfection company, continues to
grow in terms of market share, revenue, institutional penetration
and global-reach. Having completed a significant strategic
financing transaction in February 2017, the company is poised to
grow significantly in terms of revenue, global-reach, impact and
importance within this critical area of human health. The senior
executives in the company are of the highest calibre in terms of
integrity, business knowledge, experience and professionalism.
As with the Melinta team, we, as Malin, are fortunate to have the
opportunity to work with the Xenex team.
• Immunocore continues to make significant progress on its
biology platform. Exploration of the applicability of the
platform across a number of possible therapeutic applications
has been a major focus of the executive team of the company
in recent months. Progression of the lead therapeutic area
(oncology) continues in both monotherapy and a variety of
combination therapy opportunities. We work closely with the
executive team, other shareholders and the board of directors
on strategy and execution pathways that might lead to a
continuous de-risking of the platform while, at the same time,
preserving the significant upside possibility that exists within
the science. Immunocore is Malin’s largest investment.
• Novan is our only asset to date that has moved onto the
public markets. In January 2017, Novan released the results
of its two Phase 3 acne trials in which it achieved statistical
significance in one of the trials but not the other. Novan
had completed an Initial Public Offering at $11 per share
and the stock ran up to approximately $30 per share in the
subsequent months. Post the release of the data the stock
traded to a low of $3.52 per share and is currently trading
at approximately $5 per share. We are actively working with
Novan’s board and the executive management team to
create stability within the company and enable the underlying
science to advance. Malin owns approximately 2.6 million
shares of Novan and we are their largest investor.
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• Jaan Health our mobile health and patient care company has
made significant progress in the field of personalised patient
care utilising mobile computing power. Market demand
continues to provide several areas of growth for this well-run
and highly focused company.
• Kymab is another of our substantial UK-based companies.
Founded by Professor Allan Bradley, who was CEO and
director of the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute for over a
decade, the underlying science in Kymab is both exciting
and has the potential to be ground-breaking across several
different therapeutic areas. We work closely with the board,
the executive management team and, importantly Professor
Bradley as the founding scientist, to move the science
forward and demonstrate clinical benefit as science advances
to human trials and implementation stage. The company
has recently completed a significant strategic financing
transaction and has thoughts and possibilities of exploring
geographically interesting opportunities as the science
matures.
During 2017, we anticipate that we will have several
opportunities to both unlock value and de-risk our positions
across different aspects of the human healthcare value chain.
We look forward to sharing the output of our efforts with all of
our shareholders and will continue to work diligently, on your
behalf, to provide a unique and value creating company.
I would like to thank our employees for their continued
dedication and hard work towards creating value for the
shareholders of Malin. I would also like to thank our Board of
Directors for their continued guidance, support, governance and
leadership as we further build-out the company. The Board’s
role and active involvement in the Company, its strategy and
overall operation is invaluable to me, as the CEO, and represents
the views and perspectives of shareholders in a consistent,
progessional and value additive manner.

Kelly Martin
Chief Executive Officer
2 June 2017

Malin Corporation plc | Annual Report 2016

Vision

Our Progress to 31
December 2016

Long Duration
Capital

• €380 million of equity capital issued
• €70 million 7-year EIB debt facility

• 18 life sciences investee companies:

Assets & Talent

–– 7 Science and Discovery
–– 5 Clinical
–– 6 Commercial

Operational &
Strategic Expertise

Time

• Experienced executive team, advisory partners
and Board assembled with deep, diverse and
global experience in the life sciences sector
• Making meaningful contributions to influence
the advancement of our investee companies

• Deployment of €356 million of capital to our
assets to best enable them to broadly progress
their businesses
• Rigorous focus on business execution and
tangible value creation

Value Recognition
& “Unlock”

• Significant scientific, technical, clinical and
commercial progress in our investee companies
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Key Performance Indicators

Measuring our performance

Financial KPIs

Description

Performance

Total shareholder
return (“TSR”)

The aggregate of the
appreciation in value of the
reported trade price for a Malin
Ordinary Share over the initial
placing price (€10.00) and the
aggregate of all distributions
and returns of capital per
Ordinary Share.

Malin’s share price was trading at €12.20 on 31 December 2016, giving a TSR
of 22% for the 21-month period from Malin’s initial placing of shares on the
Enterprise Securities Market on 25 March 2015. As of 1 June 2017, Malin’s share
price was trading at €12.54, resulting in a cumulative TSR of 25% since Malin’s
initial placing of shares.

Invested capital

The amount of capital that Malin
has deployed in life sciences
assets during the period.

Malin invested €356 million to acquire interests in 18 life sciences assets in the
period since the IPO in March 2015 to 31 December 2016, €63 million of which
was invested in 2016.

Observable
change in the fair
value of investee
companies1

The observable change in the
fair value of Malin’s investee
companies during the period.

At 31 December 2016, Malin had externally validated updated valuations for 5
of its assets, Novan, Immunocore, Xenex, Kymab and Viamet from that at which
Malin acquired its initial equity stake.
• The fair value of Malin’s investment in Novan increased by 91% to €67.2
million.2
• The fair value of Malin’s investment in Immunocore increased by 15% to €85.6
million.
• The fair value of Malin’s investment in Xenex increased by 42% to €33.0 million.
• The fair value of Malin’s investment in Kymab increased by 57% to €28.2
million.
• The fair value of Malin’s investment in Viamet increased by 5% to €27.8 million.
• A number of Malin’s other assets have achieved significant milestones since
Malin’s initial investment which might infer that their value has progressed. For
further details on the fair values and value appreciation indicative events of the
investee companies, please refer to page 31.

Non-financial KPIs

Description

Performance

Investee company
progress

Milestones Targets Set

3D4Medical

Launch of first product in Clinical
Anatomy Series

The first product, Complete Ortho, has been fully developed and launched in
May 2017.

Altan

New products/markets

• Signed a licensing agreement to commercialise a generic version of
caspofungin across European territories and Latin America and also launched
Linezolid 2mg/ml solution for infusion for the treatment of communityacquired pneumonia and nosocomial pneumonia in Spain.
• Put resources in place to support direct commercial entry into the UK market.
• Signed a significant number of out-licensing agreements in the Middle East,
Asia and Eastern Europe that will begin to generate sales in early 2018.

3

NeuVT
510(k) approval & launch of 5F
(targets set for Emba product. Initiate first-in-human
Medical and Emba
trials of additional products
Neuro)

The company continues to seek US FDA approval for its 5F product and this
has also delayed the development of the 3F (Emba Neuro) product. However,
significant progress has been made with over 51 clinical cases now successfully
completed using the 5F embolisation product.

1. The increase in fair value of these investee companies is based on transactions in the equity of these companies in 2016, at an enhanced value from that at which Malin
acquired its initial equity stake.
2. Novan is a public company and the fair value of Malin’s investment in Novan, based on Novan’s open market share price, has since decreased to €11.7 million on 1 June 2017.
3. The 2016 milestone targets were included in the anticipated news flow disclosure in our 2015 annual report. In addition to the progress of our investee companies set
out above, a number of other important strategic, scientific and clinical milestones were achieved during 2016 by our investee companies. These are set out in the “Our
Investee Companies” section of the annual report on pages 12 to 29. Malin’s anticipated news flow for 2017 and 2018 is set out on pages 28/29 of this annual report.
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Non-financial KPIs

Description

Investee company
progress

Milestones Targets Set1

Immunocore

IMCgp100 (cutaneous
melanoma) start Ph.1b/2 in
combination with Medimmune’s
durvalumab and tremelimumab

Started a Phase 1b/2 combination trial in January 2016 for the treatment of
metastatic cutaneous melanoma with durvalumab and tremelimumab.

IMCgp100 (uveal melanoma)
complete Ph.1 and start Ph.2

Presented positive data from its Phase I clinical monotherapy trial in uveal
melanoma (“UM”). The pivotal Phase 2 study in UM is expected to start dosing
patients in the third quarter of 2017.

IMCgp100 (uveal melanoma)
start Ph.1b/2 in combination
with a SMI from Lilly

This combination trial is expected to commence during Q1 2018.

Jaan Health

Launch major product updates

Launched Phamily patient communication tool.

Melinta

Delafloxacin (ABSSSI) Ph.3
results

The US FDA accepted the company’s New Drug Applications (“NDAs”) for its IV
and oral Baxdela™ (delafloxacin). This follows the positive results from its two
Phase 3 studies, in both of which Baxdela met the primary endpoints.

Delafloxacin (ABSSSI) potential
FDA filing

Performance

Initiated a Phase 3 study of delafloxacin in hospital-treated community-acquired
bacterial pneumonia.

Delafloxacin (cUTI) start Ph.2b
Novan

Viamet

Xenex

SB206 (warts) Ph.2 results

Novan announced positive Phase 2 anti-viral data (SB206).

SB204 (acne) start Ph.3

Novan announced the results of both of its Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials for
SB204 in the treatment of acne vulgaris. SB204 demonstrated statistical
significance compared to vehicle on all three co-primary endpoints in one of the
trials, but demonstrated statistical significance on only one of three co-primary
endpoints in the other.

SB208 (OM) potential file IND
and start Ph.2

Novan also started a Phase 2 antifungal programme (SB208) in 2016 and
reported positive topline results in April 2017.

VT-1161 (OM, RVVC) Ph.2b
results

Viamet reported positive efficacy and safety results from its 2 Phase 2b clinical
trials of its lead compound, VT-1161, for the treatment of recurrent vulvovaginal
candidiasis (“RVVC”) and onychomycosis (“OM“).

VT-1129 (cryptococcal
meningitis) Ph.1 results

Positive Phase 1 results of VT-1129 (cryptococcal meningitis).

Launch next generation X5
robot

Next generation robot has been successfully launched.

Increase geographic footprint

Revenues ex-US have shown robust growth. In December 2016, Xenex entered
into a distribution agreement with Terumo who will have exclusive rights to
distribute Xenex’s robots in Japan. Xenex continues with positive growth in exUS markets.

1. The 2016 milestone targets were included in the anticipated news flow disclosure in our 2015 annual report. In addition to the progress of our investee companies set
out above, a number of other important strategic, scientific and clinical milestones were achieved during 2016 by our investee companies. These are set out in the “Our
Investee Companies” section of the annual report on pages 12 to 29. Malin’s anticipated news flow for 2017 and 2018 is set out on pages 28/29 of this annual report.
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Operating Review

Overview

Our Investee Companies

Malin is an Irish incorporated
public limited company. Its
purpose is to create shareholder
value through the selective longterm application of capital and
operational expertise to private
operating businesses in dynamic
and fast growing segments of the
life sciences industry. Through
its operational involvement,
Malin works with the investee
companies to enable them to
reach the full potential of their
value proposition and to achieve
commercial success.

Over the course of the past 2 years,
we have assembled a platform
of life sciences assets spanning
innovation across therapeutics,
devices and technologies. In each of
our investee companies, Malin has
identified cutting-edge science and
technology, world-class talent and
compelling value propositions.
At 31 December 2016, we had invested €356 million to acquire
equity positions in 18 life sciences companies with breadth
across stages of development and therapeutic areas to
appropriately align risk and value potential. The progression of
assets over time is anticipated to create further opportunities
for Malin to re-invest capital in new scientific and technical
innovation.
The table on page 13 shows Malin’s investing activity in each
of our investee companies during 2016 as well as our total
capital invested to date in each company and our percentage
shareholding in each investee company.
Collectively, Malin’s assets have progressed strongly over the period
since our initial investments. Further details on the companies,
their science and technologies as well as their progression and
milestone achievements to date are set out in the asset profiles
from pages 15 to 27. Although many of these achievements and
the progress made by our assets would infer value progression,
we only reflect observable, market-driven valuation changes in the
fair value information on our investee companies that we disclose
in the Financial Review on page 31. Five of Malin’s assets, Novan,
Immunocore, Xenex, Kymab and Viamet have had transactions in
their equity capital following our initial investment and therefore
have updated externally validated valuations.
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Science
and Discovery

7

5

Clinical

6

Commercial

Invested capital at 1
January 2016
€’m

Capital
invested
during 2016
€’m

Total invested capital
up to 31 December
2016
€’m

Malin
% shareholding at 31
December 20162

4.2

5.03

9.2

26%

Artizan

-

1.2

1.2

27%

Kymab

18.0

-

18.0

11%

Poseida

18.2

9.0

27.2

37%

Hatteras

0.7

1.3

2.0

N/A

KNOW Bio

-

-

-

16%

Wren

-

3.5

3.5

35%

Immunocore

74.3

-

74.3

10%

Melinta

31.1

15.83

46.9

17%

NeuVT1

6.9

6.3

13.2

32%

Novan

27.3

7.8

35.1

16%

Viamet

18.6

7.8

26.4

16%

3D4Medical

14.7

0.5

15.2

38%

Altan

34.5

-

34.5

65%

-

0.5

0.5

80%

0.9

-

0.9

15%

Xenex

18.7

4.5

23.2

12%

Serenus

24.5

-

24.5

76%

292.6

63.2

355.8

Investee Company

Science & Discovery
An2H

Clinical

Commercial

Cilatus
Jaan Health

1. The capital invested in NeuVT at 1 January 2016 represents amounts invested in Emba Medical Limited and Emba Neuro Limited at this date.
2. Shareholding based on issued share capital at 31 December 2016.
3. All of the capital invested in An2H during 2016 and €6.7 million of the capital invested in Melinta during 2016 represents convertible bridge debt. Malin’s % shareholding
at 31 December 2016 does not take this convertible debt capital into account.
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Operating Review

KNOW Bio has identified specific
areas where management believe the
NITRICIL™ platform technology has
particular therapeutic applicability.
Initial R&D efforts are focused on
areas including: respiratory diseases
(including cystic fibrosis), hair loss,
wound-healing and oncology.

14

Our Investee Companies
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Science & Discovery Assets

An2H

Artizan

An2H is an Irish headquartered company focused on the design
of novel small molecule therapeutics that target key proteins
within the Ubiquitin Proteasome Pathway System (the “UPS”).
The UPS is an intracellular system involved in the regulation of
protein function. The UPS can malfunction and destroy useful
proteins and allow for harmful proteins to congregate within
the cell. Dysfunction within the UPS is implicated in multiple
therapeutic areas including oncology, neurodegeneration,
virology, metabolic and autoimmune diseases.

Artizan is a biotechnology company headquartered in Durham,
NC, with labs in New Haven, CT, US, focused on developing
a platform to identify putative disease-driving bacteria from
the intestinal microbiota in humans with inflammatory bowel
disease (“IBD”) and ultimately eliminate or neutralise the specific
colitogenic bacteria. The company’s discovery platform is based
on research from Prof. Richard Flavell’s laboratory at Yale
University in New Haven.

An2H is applying its unique in-house expertise in proprietary
compound binding mechanisms to assemble a pipeline of
novel compounds against multiple targets within the UPS.
An2H’s goal as a drug discovery company is to predictably and
repetitively design patented compounds for druggable targets
with the intent to out-license these compounds for commercial
availability.

Prof. Flavell’s laboratory has shown that the composition of the
intestinal microbiota varies substantially between individuals
and is thought to be a key determinant of susceptibility to
an increasing variety of diseases. To elucidate the role of the
microbiota in IBD, Artizan is focused on functional classifications
to distinguish disease-driving bacteria from the remainder of the
intestinal microbiota. The company is developing a strategy to
target these disease-driving bacteria therapeutically.

Hatteras

KNOW Bio

Hatteras is a US-based venture capital firm that invests in earlystage companies in life sciences, with a focus that includes
discovery science, clinical platforms, medical devices, diagnostics,
healthcare IT and related opportunities in human medicine.

Given nitric oxide’s role across multiple biological functions, the
ability to stabilise nitric oxide could play an important role in
the treatment of a number of therapeutic areas. In December
2015, Novan separated its dermatology and non-dermatology
assets with a view to maximising long-term shareholder
value by allowing each independent business to have a more
focused strategic, development and capital plan. Novan’s nondermatology assets and rights, including its wound care assets,
were transferred to KNOW Bio and the shares of KNOW Bio
were distributed to Novan’s existing shareholders on a pro-rata
basis. There is a broad range of therapeutic areas that could
be impacted by the NITRICIL™ platform technology and KNOW
Bio has identified specific areas where management believe
the technology could have particular therapeutic applicability.
Initial R&D efforts are focused on areas including: respiratory
diseases (including cystic fibrosis), hair loss, wound-healing and
oncology. KNOW Bio announced in January 2017 that it had
appointed Anne Whitaker, a former executive of GSK, Sanofi,
Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. and CEO of Synta
Pharmaceuticals, as CEO of its respiratory business. Malin is
working closely with KNOW Bio as the company focuses on
developing its business strategy, assessing its future funding
requirements and determining the most suitable therapeutic
pathways to advance the NITRICIL™ platform.

Hatteras’ investments are primarily focused in the Southeast
of the US, including North Carolina’s Research Triangle Park,
where it leverages its partner relationships with a number of
world class universities (including Duke, North Carolina State,
Vanderbilt, Georgia Tech and Wake Forest) and a large number
of discovery and early stage companies to grow portfolio
companies from seed stage to maturity. It is anticipated that the
combination of these partner relationships together with the
Hatteras team of seasoned entrepreneurs and operators, will
generate numerous life sciences opportunities in the US, Ireland
and other countries.
Malin’s strategic partnership with Hatteras provides streamlined
access to additional discovery and early-stage assets, in
collaboration with a proven leader in this field, without the
requirement to build a discovery infrastructure.
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Science & Discovery Assets (continued)

Kymab
Kymab is the first spin-out from The Wellcome Trust Sanger
Institute, Cambridge, UK, a world leader in the Human Genome
Project and genetic studies aimed at determining the function
of genes in health and disease. Kymab is deploying its best-inclass antibody platform to build a pipeline of differentiated
drug candidates.
Kymab has developed a novel approach to the generation of
fully human monoclonal antibody therapeutics via its proprietary
Kymouse™ platform. Kymouse™ has been designed to rapidly
generate a very broad and diverse range of fully human antibodies
against multiple challenging, and previously intractable, disease
targets. Selecting from a broad diversity of fully human antibodies
assures the highest probability of identifying a rare drug candidate
with best-in-class characteristics. The platform generates very high
affinity, candidate-quality molecules without the need for further
lead optimisation.
In addition to the flagship Kymouse™ platform, Kymab has 2 further
technologies which Kymab believes will advance the discovery of
fully human monoclonal antibody drugs: a B-cell screening platform
that deeply mines the Kymouse™ platform and isolates candidatequality molecules, and a Kymouse KO™ platform that enables rapid
knockout of drug targets from Kymouse™ strains to pursue difficult
and highly homologous sequences.

Kymab’s first partnership agreement was concluded with
Novo Nordisk in 2013 to enable the discovery, development
and commercialisation of therapeutic monoclonal antibody
drugs. In 2016, Kymab announced an additional strategic
partnership with the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer
Center’s Oncology Research for Biologics and Immunotherapy
Translation (“ORBIT”) unit to discover and develop novel human
therapeutic antibodies to treat a variety of cancers. By utilising
Kymab’s industry-leading antibody platform, in-house discovery
and development experience together with the University of
Texas MD Anderson’s novel target biology, clinical datasets,
translational and clinical infrastructure, the collaboration will
seek to develop products to clinical proof-of-concept and
ultimately for submission for US FDA approval.
Kymab is building a pipeline of assets across 4 main therapeutic
areas including; immuno-oncology, inflammation, infectious
disease and haematology. Pre-clinical stage assets include
KY1005-Anti-OX40L in immunology that is expected to enter
First in Human (“FIH”) clinical trials during 2017. In addition
to this, Kymab is developing several other clinical candidates
and has entered a collaboration with the Bill & Melinda Gates
Foundation and its partners on vaccine antigen discovery
research and development. Malin continues to work closely
with Kymab’s board and executive management team to seek to
advance the science and demonstrate clinical benefit.

Kymab is using its technology platform to build a pipeline
of drug candidates, through both its internal drug discovery
programmes and in collaboration with pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and academic partners.

Kymab’s most advanced
asset is scheduled to
commence clinical
development in 2017.

16

Malin Corporation plc | Annual Report 2016

Poseida
Poseida utilises best-in-class, proprietary genome editing
technologies to develop targeted, life-saving therapeutics in
areas of high unmet medical need. Poseida has demonstrated
proof-of-principle that validates the potential of their
differentiated genome engineering technologies and the
related therapeutic applications.
Poseida’s technology platforms, including the piggyBac™
Transposon System and Footprint-Free™ Gene Editing, have
broad applicability. The piggyBac™ Transposon System is a nonviral vector for adding or removing genes, which is safer than
viral vectors, transduces more cells with higher expression levels
and is fully reversible, leaving no footprint. The Footprint-Free™
Gene Editing technology then combines site-specific nucleases
with piggyBac™ for seamless precision engineering. Poseida
believes this is the only therapeutic method capable of seamless
excision of resistance or reporter genes and can edit as little as
a single nucleotide with no unwanted mutations – proving to
be the cleanest gene editing technology available. The initial
applications of Poseida’s technologies will be in gene therapy
and CAR-T product candidates for haematological disorders and
cancer, respectively. Further applications in monogenic diseases
(e.g. liver, cardiovascular and central nervous system (“CNS”)
diseases among others are also being explored.

Wren
Wren Therapeutics is a biopharmaceutical company based in
Cambridge, UK, focused on drug discovery and development
for protein misfolding diseases, which include Alzheimer’s and
Parkinson’s diseases, type-2 diabetes, and many rare forms of
amyloidosis. Wren’s proprietary technology platform is built
on a new and fundamental understanding of the origins of
these diseases and is based on more than a decade of scientific
research at the University of Cambridge and Lund University.

In December 2016, Poseida announced data from the company’s
CAR-T cell drug candidate, referred to as P-BCMA-101, which
demonstrated a superior stem cell memory phenotype and
self-renewal capacity, as well as strong and persistent antitumour activity in an established xenograft model of multiple
myeloma. The company plans to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial
of P-BCMA-101 for the treatment of patients with relapsed or
refractory multiple myeloma in 2017.
Cognisant of the risk associated with Poseida’s underlying
science given it is early stage and an emerging technology
platform with broad applicability, Malin continues to closely
monitor Poseida’s scientific progression and to work with the
board in framing out the company’s long-term fully funded
business strategy; both of which will be required to demonstrate
Poseida’s advancement and success in this therapeutic space.

17

Operating Review

Immunocore, based on decades of
world-leading scientific innovation
in the discovery of HLA targets and
TCR technology, has a pipeline of
wholly-owned and partnered ImmTAC
programmes with robust clinical data,
validated by collaboration with worldleading pharmaceutical companies.
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Clinical Assets

Immunocore
Based in Oxford, UK, Immunocore is one of the world’s leading
biotechnology companies focused on the development of a new
class of biologic drugs with its proprietary novel T cell receptor
(“TCR”) based technology for immunotherapies.
Immunocore is primarily focused on oncology but its
technology is also applicable to infectious diseases and
autoimmune disorders. Immunocore is the first company to
enable the engineering of TCRs as therapeutics, targeting
a class of antigens (HLA-peptide antigens) which cannot be
targeted with antibodies.
Immunocore has developed proprietary technology focused on
small protein molecules called Immune mobilising TCR Against
Cancer (“ImmTACs”) which enable the immune system to
recognise and kill cancerous or bacterially/virally infected cells.
ImmTACs are soluble TCRs that naturally recognise diseased
cells with ultra-high affinity and enable circulating T cells to
selectively identify, link to and kill diseased cells, via a highly
potent immune response. By contrast to antibody therapeutics,
which target cell surface proteins, ImmTACs address intracellular
targets that have been processed and presented on the cell
surface. Since the majority of potential target antigens are

intracellular, ImmTACs have the potential to access up to nine fold
more targets.
Immunocore’s ImmTAC molecules destroy cancer cells through
the following 4 step process:
1. ImmTACs first recognise and strongly bind to cancer cells
displaying the peptide-HLA target antigen.
2. Circulating T cells are then recruited to the cancer cell by
engaging with the free end of the ImmTAC molecule, an antiCD3 antibody fragment.
3. The ImmTAC then acts as a bridge between the T cell and the
cancer cell.
4. The T cell release its load of cancer cell killing lytic granules,
leading to destruction of the cancer.
Immunocore, based on decades of world-leading scientific
innovation in the discovery of Human Leukocyte Antigen
targets and TCR technology, has a pipeline of wholly-owned
and partnered ImmTAC programmes with robust clinical data,
validated by collaborations with world-leading pharmaceutical
companies. Immunocore aims to leverage the utility of its
platform across a wide range of indications to become a premier
biotechnology company and world leader in its field.
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Clinical Assets (continued)

Immunocore (continued)
Immunocore’s lead candidate IMCgp100 targets the melanomaassociated antigen gp100 and has demonstrated efficient and
specific killing of melanoma cell lines in vitro by redirected T
cells. Initial results from the Phase 2a clinical trial of IMCgp100 in
advanced cutaneous and uveal melanoma have been reported.
These initial results showed that the responses were durable, with
5 objective responses to date and 2 partial responders in patients
with uveal melanoma. The US FDA has granted Orphan Drug
Designation to IMCgp100 for the treatment of uveal melanoma
which qualifies Immunocore for a number of development
incentives and will enable Immunocore to receive fast track
registration for IMCgp100. IMCgp100 for the treatment of uveal
melanoma has also been accepted onto the European Medicines
Agency’s (“EMA”) Adaptive Pathways programme providing an
opportunity for rapid approval.
In addition to cutaneous and uveal melanoma, IMCgp100 is
being explored for the treatment of other solid tumours.
IMCgp100 is also being investigated in combination with
AstraZeneca’s durvalumab and tremelimumab for cutaneous
melanoma and in combination with Eli Lilly for the treatment of
metastatic cutaneous and uveal melanomas respectively.
Alongside its proprietary programmes, Immunocore has codiscovery and co-development programmes with Eli Lilly and
discovery programmes, including milestones and royalties, with
GlaxoSmithKline, Genetech and AstraZeneca (MedImmune).

Programme

Preclinical

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Registration

Indication

IMCgp100

Uveal melanoma

IMCgp100+AZ1

Cutaneous melanoma

IMCgp100 + Lilly2

Various

Other internal

Various

Co-development3

NSCLC/Bladder Cancer/
Synovial sarcoma

Co-development4

Various

1. IMCgp100 plus AstraZeneca MedImmune’s durvalumab and tremelimumab.
2. IMCgp100 plus a small molecule inhibitor from Lilly.
3. Co-discovery and co-development programme with GlaxoSmithKline.
4. Co-discovery programmes with Genentech, GlaxoSmithKline, AstraZeneca MedImmune and Eli Lilly.
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NeuVT

Novan

Based in Ireland, NeuVT is a global medical company committed
to transforming the treatment of stroke and vascular diseases
by designing, developing and commercialising innovative and
effective interventional therapies to enable physicians to
safely relieve pain, lessen disability and improve the quality
of life in their patients. NeuVT was formed in 2014 and Malin
initially acquired its interest in NeuVT in August 2016, through
combining existing Malin companies, Emba Medical and Emba
Neuro, together with a third party company.

Novan, based in Morrisville, North Carolina, US, is a clinical stage
public company focused on redefining the standard of care in
dermatology through the development and commercialisation
of innovative therapies using the company’s nitric oxide
platform. Nitric oxide fulfills multiple roles across biological
functions including as part of the natural immune system
response against microbial pathogens and a critical regulator
of inflammation. Novan’s nitric oxide platform is comprised of
two key components, the proprietary NITRICIL™ technology,
which drives creation of new chemical entities, and the topical
formulation science, both of which are used to modulate
product candidate for specific indications.
In November 2016, Novan announced positive Phase 2 results
for its product candidate SB206, a topical anti-viral to treat
external genital warts due to human papilloma virus (“HPV”)
infection.
In January 2017, Novan announced the results of both of its
Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials for SB204 in the treatment of acne
vulgaris. SB204 demonstrated statistical significance compared
to vehicle on all three co-primary endpoints in one of the trials,
but demonstrated statistical significance on only one of three
co-primary endpoints in the other. Following the release of the
Phase 3 data, Novan’s stock traded to a low of $3.52 per share
and is currently trading at approximately $5 per share. Malin is
actively engaged with the board and executive team of Novan to
achieve stability within the company and enable the underlying
science to advance.
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Clinical Assets (continued)

Melinta
Melinta is dedicated to saving lives threatened by the global
public health crisis of bacterial infections through the
development of novel antibiotics that provide new and better
therapeutic solutions.
The US FDA has accepted two NDAs from Melinta for its IV and
oral Baxdela™ (delafloxacin) for the treatment of patients with
acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections (“ABSSSI”). US
FDA approvals are expected in June 2017. Delafloxacin is an
investigational anionic fluoroquinolone with a broad spectrum
of antimicrobial activity, including activity against Methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus (“MRSA”). Melinta’s NDAs are
based on the results of two Phase 3 studies, in both of which
delafloxacin met the primary endpoint of non-inferiority to
a combination regimen of vancomycin plus aztreonam in
reducing lesion size at the primary infection site at 48-to-72
hours. In addition, delafloxacin met the primary endpoint,
the investigator assessment of clinical cure, for the European
Medicines Agency (“EMA”) in both studies.
Melinta has also advanced delafloxacin into a Phase 3 clinical
study for hospital community-acquired bacterial pneumonia
(“hCABP”) and is ready to start Phase 2 trials for cUTI.

Melinta has also developed a pre-clinical ESKAPE Pathogen
Programme (“ESKAPE”) which aims to develop a new class of
antibiotics to overcome the multi and extremely drug-resistant
pathogens for which there are few to no options, known
collectively as ESKAPE pathogens, and which are responsible for
the majority of life-threatening hospital infections.
Another product candidate, Radezolid (oxazolidinone), is in clinical
development and is designed in topical formulation for the
treatment of multiple dermatological indications. Melinta has outlicensed the topical formulation of Radezolid with dermatological
application, and has an opt-in to co-promote it in the future.
In March 2017, Melinta and Menarini Group entered into a
commercial and co-development agreement for delafloxacin in
68 countries.

Delafloxacin has been designated a Qualified Infectious Disease
Product (“QIDP”) for both ABSSSI and community-acquired
bacterial pneumonia by the US FDA.

Programme

Preclinical

Phase 1

Delaﬂoxacin

Phase 2

Phase 3

Registration

Indication

ABSSSI1
hCABP2
cUTI3

Radezolid

Derm4

Multiple

ESKAPE5 Pathogens

1. Acute Bacterial Skin and Skin Structure Infections.
2. Hospital treated Community Acquired Bacterial Pneumonia.
3. Complicated Urinary Tract Infections.
4. Melinta entered into a license agreement for Radezolid, under which the licensee has exclusive rights to develop and commercialise Radezolid in topical formulations for a
variety of dermatological indications. Melinta retains the option to co-develop or fully regain rights to Radezolid upon completion of predetermined development milestones.
5. Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumonia, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Enterobacter species.
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Viamet
Based in North Carolina, US, Viamet is a drug discovery
company focused on the development and commercialisation
of novel small molecule drugs that target metalloenzymes via a
proprietary platform called MIDAS technology (“Metalloenzyme
Inhibitor Design And Synthesis”). Viamet seeks to design drugs
that have greater selectivity, fewer side effects and improved
potency compared to existing agents. The technology platform
enables the discovery of highly differentiated metalloenzyme
inhibitors across a broad range of therapeutic applications.
Metalloenzymes are distinguished from other enzymes in that
they contain a metal, such as iron or zinc, at the core of the
enzyme active site. The metal has frequently been a target for
pharmaceutical intervention, and approximately 10% of all
marketed drugs act by inhibiting metalloenzymes. Viamet’s core
expertise comprises a deep understanding of over 120 unique
metalloenzyme targets, proprietary in silico design tools and
a library of unique metal-binding groups (“MBGs”). Using the
MIDAS technology Viamet designs inhibitors that contain novel
MBGs that deliver a high degree of selectivity for the desired
metalloenzyme target, while maintaining high target potency.

Programme

Preclinical

Phase 1

Phase 2

VT-1161

Viamet’s pipeline is relatively advanced with positive results from
its 2 Phase 2b clinical trials for its lead asset, VT-1161, for the
treatment of onychomycosis and RVVC. In October 2016 VT-1161
was granted US FDA QIDP and fast track designations for the
treatment of RVVC.
Viamet’s VT-1129, a novel candidate for the treatment of
cryptococcal meningitis was granted US FDA QIDP designation
in September 2015 providing Viamet with significant incentives
for the development of VT-1129, including the potential for
priority review by the US FDA. VT-1129 is a potent, highly
selective and orally available inhibitor of fungal CYP51. The
molecule is in Phase 1 clinical testing for the treatment of
cryptococcal meningitis, a life-threatening fungal infection of
the central nervous system. VT-1598 was granted US FDA QIDP
designation in September 2016.
VT-1598 is a potent, highly selective and orally available inhibitor
of fungal CYP51. The molecule is in late-stage preclinical testing
for a range of invasive fungal infections, including Valley Fever.
Utilising their MIDAS technology, Viamet has developed a
number of earlier stage programmes addressing oncology and
orphan indications. These programmes are in various stages of
preclinical testing.

Phase 3

Registration

Indication

Onychomycosis
RVVC1

VT-1129

Cryptococcal Meningitis

VT-1598

Invasive Fungal Infections2

Other Programmes

Oncology & Orphan Diseases

1. Recurrent Vulvovaginal Candidiasis.
2. Invasive fungal infection, including coccidioidomycosis, also known as Valley Fever.
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Malin has a broad range of
commercial assets in its portfolio.
These diverse businesses range from
medical technology, specialty pharma
and hospital disinfection devices to
strategic and operational consulting
services.
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Commercial Assets

3D4Medical
3D4Medical is a leading innovative medical technology company,
headquartered in Ireland, that specialises in the development of
medical, educational and health and fitness apps for healthcare
professionals as well as student and patient education.
3D4Medical’s apps are designed to encourage unique learning
experiences through intuitive interactivity and visualisations and
to utilise revolutionary proprietary 3D technology to show the
human body.

In September 2015, 3D4Medical’s new product, the Complete
Anatomy Series, was featured in Apple’s launch of the iPad Pro.
3D4Medical announced and later released the first product in
its new Complete Anatomy Series to coincide with the release
of the iPad Pro in November 2015. In December 2016, Complete
Anatomy featured in Apple’s “App Store Best of 2016”, a
showcase of the year’s 16 most innovative apps and games
selected by Apple’s editorial team.

3D4Medical creates apps for the iPad, iPhone, Mac OS, Android,
Windows and Flash platforms that have all been medically
approved and designed to the highest standard, including a
number of which have been developed in collaboration with
personnel from Stanford University School of Medicine.

The Complete Anatomy Series is aims to bridge the gap between
patients and doctors, which Malin expects will lead to better
healthcare and patient outcomes. Its goal is to provide users with
new functionality not previously available with Essential Anatomy.
3D4Medical also sells images from its 40,000 high resolution
database for use on front covers. 3D4Medical’s images have
previously been used on the front covers of Time, Newsweek and
The Scientist.

To date, 3D4Medical has had success with over 10 million app
downloads worldwide and numerous top grossing No. 1’s on
the App Store with Essential Anatomy. 3D4Medical intends to
build on its success through the release of the new generation
proprietary 3D technology and platform solution. 3D4Medical
will focus on the expansion of the cutting-edge 3D medical
learning platform and build out company infrastructure which
the company believes could bring with it new and larger markets
and opportunities.

3D4Medical’s focus remains on the rapidly growing global
academic market and the continually evolving clinical solutions
market with its first clinical product, Complete Ortho, launched
in May 2017. Malin continues to work with 3D4 Medical in
seeking to define and execute on its evolving commercial
strategy and to position its technology in new areas of
healthcare and academia. 3D4Medical’s latest apps could
revolutionise the teaching and learning of anatomy, physiology
and exercise, enabling users to effortlessly navigate via 360°
views of the human body.

Human body model:
3D4Medical’s award
winning app ‘Complete
Anatomy’ allows the user
to navigate through the
human anatomy.
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Commercial Assets (continued)

Altan

Cilatus

Altan is a specialty pharmaceutical company headquartered
in Dublin, Ireland, committed to improving patient care by
providing specialty medications of superior quality and value for
the benefit of patients and caregivers.

Cilatus is focused on strategic and operational consulting
services in chemistry, manufacturing & controls (“CMC”),
technical development, GMP manufacturing, regulatory affairs,
quality control/assurance, supply chain, engineering, validation
and qualification for small and large molecules. The company
possesses significant advisory and operating capability with
industry experienced expert consultants with broad expertise
for worldwide clients. Cilatus advises and operationally supports
mainly small and medium sized biopharma companies and has
established a successful track record from developing Initial
Drug Applications (“INDs”), Investigational Medicinal Product
Dossiers (“IMPDs”), to Contract Manufacturing Organisation
(“CMO”) management, Phase 1 to Phase 3 development and
manufacturing into supporting Biologics License and Marketing
Authorisation Application filings, commercial operations and
supply chains.

Altan’s first acquisition, a privately-owned group of Spanish
drug companies called the GES Group, provides an attractive
opportunity in the generic injectable business in Europe and
select Asian and Latin American markets. Altan develops,
manufactures and markets injectable medications for the
hospital and other provider segments. Altan currently has a
product portfolio that includes a range of pain, anti-infective
and other medications available in a variety of presentations
including premix bags, liquid and lyophilized vials, and ampoules.
Altan intends to continue to build on GES’ strong position in the
Spanish market and significantly improve its competitive profile
in international markets as it simultaneously pursues additional
opportunities.
Altan will grow its business in a number of ways: by establishing
a direct commercial presence in major European markets; by
out-licensing products to select partners in other markets where
it does not have a significant presence; by building a strong
R&D pipeline to support accelerated new product launches; and
by in-licensing or acquiring specialty pharmaceutical products
to broaden its product lines and acquiring strategic assets
that enhance Altan’s development, manufacturing and/or
commercial capabilities globally.

Serenus
Serenus is a healthcare company specialising in the in-licensing,
registering, and commercialising of Western approved
therapeutics in the African continent and the Middle East.
Serenus’s headquarters are in Ireland. During 2016, the Serenus
business was restructured to focus on key African markets.
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By acquiring a significant ownership stake in Cilatus, Malin gains
access to often mission critical CMC, manufacturing and GMP
expertise of Cilatus and can participate directly in this aspect of
the industry value chain. The Cilatus capability further enables
Malin to accurately assess potential CMC and manufacturing
challenges and thus creating opportunities to unlock value for
the operating companies with whom Malin works.
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Jaan Health

Xenex

Jaan Health is a privately held, New York, US, based mobile
healthcare technology company specialising in patient
coordination.

Located in San Antonio, Texas, US, Xenex aims to become the
new standard of care for disinfection in healthcare facilities
worldwide, eliminating harmful bacteria, viruses and fungi
which can cause healthcare associated infections in patients
and staff. Xenex’s primary product is a patented transportable
pulsed xenon UV room disinfection robot which is used for the
advanced disinfection of healthcare and other facilities.

Founded by an experienced team of healthcare & technology
entrepreneurs, Jaan Health has developed and launched
Phamily™, a unique mobile and web-based communication tool
that connects healthcare providers, patients and their loved
ones. The Phamily™ platform utilises smart electronic messages
that take advantage of the technologies that patients actually
like to use – text messaging, email and mobile apps. It also
makes it simple for authorised loved ones to serve as a back-up
to patients who either lack technology skills or don’t provide
updates when needed.

Xenex’s Pulsed Xenon Full Spectrum™ UV disinfection Robots
leverage the full germicidal UV spectrum to achieve four primary
methods of cellular damage and disinfect surfaces without
contact or chemicals. Traditional UV disinfection methodologies
primarily achieve one type of cellular damage and contain toxic
mercury or hydrogen peroxide.
Xenex’s disinfection robots can effectively disinfect a typical
patient/procedure room in 5 to 10 minutes, as demonstrated
in 15 peer-reviewed published studies. Xenex is the only UV
disinfection provider with multiple hospital customers reporting
fewer infections in peer reviewed published studies.
Due to its speed and ease of use, the Xenex system integrates
smoothly into hospital cleaning operations. Nearly 400
hospitals around the world have implemented the Xenex room
disinfection system as a pivotal part of their infection prevention
team. Many healthcare facilities have reported a significant
return on investment in Xenex when evaluating the impact on
reimbursement and reduction in chemical and labour costs and,
most importantly, reductions in infection rates.

Xenex Pulsed Xenon
Full Spectrum™ UV
disinfection Robot
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2016 achievements & anticipated news flow

3D4Medical

Altan

2016
Achievements

2017
News flow

2018
News Flow

Complete Anatomy featured in Apple’s
‘App Store Best of 2016’

Launched first product in patient education
series – Complete Ortho

Launch of Complete Anatomy – Content
Builder and began global marketing

Expand Complete Anatomy academic platform
content

Expand patient
education apps to
new specialties

Signed a licensing agreement to
commercialise a generic version of
caspofungin across European territories
and Latin America

Additional product launches and business
development activity

Launched Linezolid solution for the
treatment of community-acquired
pneumonia and nosocomial pneumonia
in Spain

Expand direct commercial presence into new
territories

Additional product
launches and business
development activity

First direct commercial product launch in the UK

Expand direct
commercial presence
into additional
territories

Identify optimal bacterial targets and target
patient population

Progress preclinical
studies towards IND

Define therapeutic strategy

Expand platform
utility across multiple
therapeutic areas

Business development activity

Developed and launched Solibu in Spain,
representing the first presentation of
Ibuprofen in an IV bag
Artizan

Completed Series A funding

Cilatus

Malin completed acquisition of 80% of the
equity of the business

Expand service contract customer base and
increase revenues

Immunocore

Started Phase 1b/2 combination trial
in January 2016 for the treatment of
metastatic cutaneous melanoma with
durvalumab and tremelimumab

IMCgp100 (melanoma) complete Phase 1/2a

Presented positive data from Phase 1/2a
monotherapy trial in cutaneous and uveal
melanoma at ASCO 2016 Annual Meeting
Additional uveal melanoma data presented
at the Society for Melanoma Research
meeting
Finalised pivotal clinical trial design for
uveal melanoma and awarded Orphan
Drug status with US FDA

IMCgp100 (cutaneous melanoma) complete
dose escalation of ongoing Phase 1b/2 in
combination with Medimmune’s durvalumab and
tremelimumab
Commence dosing patients in pivotal Phase 2/3
metastatic uveal melanoma study
Continued progression of proprietary and
partnered pipeline across multiple therapeutic
fronts (including oncology, anti-infectives)

Publication of paper showing utility
of technology in anti-infective setting
against HIV
Kymab

Raised $100m in a Series C financing round
David Chiswell appointed as CEO
3 senior management appointments
in key therapeutic areas (Vaccines and
Infectious diseases, Blood diseases and
Immuno-oncology)
Cancer drug discovery and development
alliance agreed with University of Texas
MD Anderson Cancer Center
Partnership with Heptares to develop
antibodies that target GPCR proteins
acting as checkpoints in cancer
development
Cross-licensing/development agreement
with EpimAb to develop bispecific
therapeutic antibodies against multiple
targets
Preclinical KY1005 GvHD data presented
at the American Society of Haematology
(“ASH”) Annual Meeting
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Interim data pivotal
Phase 2/3 study in
metastatic uveal
melanoma in late
2018
Interim data from
IMCgp100 (cutaneous
melanoma)
IMCgp100 start Phase
1b/2 in combination
with Lilly’s small
molecule inhibitor
for metastatic uveal
melanoma
File INDs & commence
1 – 2 internal Phase 1
programmes

Expanded anti-infective disease efforts with $9m
grant from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation

Phase 1 data from
lead asset KY1005

File Clinical Trial Application (“CTA”) for lead asset
KY1005

Significant pipeline
progression across
multiple targets,
antibody technology/
treatment modalities
and therapeutic areas

Start clinical trials of KY1005 following highly
positive preclinical results displaying the drug’s
potential in multiple autoimmune settings and
GvHD
Continued progression of unique, proprietary
antibody pipeline
Appointed Executive Vice President of Research &
Development and Chief Medical Officer

Continued evolution
and development of
the core technology
platform
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Melinta

2016
Achievements

2017
News flow

2018
News Flow

Eugene Sun M.D. appointed as CEO

Baxdela FDA approval for ABSSSI and commercial
launch; CABP Phase 3 enrollment

Baxdela CABP Phase 3
enrollment complete
in the second half of
2018

John Temperato appointed as President
and COO
Filed NDAs for its IV and oral Baxdela™
(delafloxacin). This follows the positive
results from its 2 Phase 3 studies, in
both of which Baxdela met the primary
endpoints
Initiated a Phase 3 study of delafloxacin
in hospital-treated community-acquired
bacterial pneumonia

NeuVT

Novan

Completed further successful human
clinical cases and continued to engage
with the US FDA as regards 510(k)
clearance of 5F embolisation device

Melinta’s option to co-develop Radezolid with
partner or develop it exclusively is exercisable in the
second half of 2017
Melinta and Menarini enter into commercial
agreement for Baxdela in 68 countries (ex-US and
Japan)
File first IND for candidate from the ESKAPE
Pathogen Programme
Build-out management team
Further product regulatory submissions and
development

Establish Irish R&D
and manufacturing
facility and
organisation

Merged existing Malin investee
companies, Emba Medical & Emba Neuro,
with Hatchill to form NeuVT

Potential regulatory
approvals of initial
products

Continued design and development of a
number of vascular devices

Further advance
product pipeline

Robert A. Ingram appointed as Chairman
Completed IPO on NASDAQ, raising gross
proceeds of $52m
Released positive Phase 2 trial results for
SB206 for the treatment of genital warts
caused by HPV
Initiated Phase 2 clinical programme of
SB208 in the treatment of infections
caused by dermatophytes such as
trichophyton rubrum
Released preclinical data demonstrating a
immunomodulatory effect of nitric oxide
in a psoriasis mouse model with potential
utility in other inflammatory skin diseases

Poseida

Radezolid topical Phase 1 results expected, and
Phase 2 start expected in the second half of 2017

Presented preclinical data with a shrinking
tumour response from BCMA–specific
CAR-T asset at the ASH Annual Meeting
Strengthened senior executive leadership
team (Chief Medical Officer, Vice
President, Technical Operations and Vice
President, Business Development)

Reported positive top-line results for SB208 in
Phase 2 antifungal programme
Announced mixed results from 2 Phase 3 trials for
SB204 in the treatment of acne vulgaris. SB204
demonstrated statistical significance (compared
to vehicle) on all 3 co-primary endpoints in 1 study
but on only 1 of 3 co-primary endpoints in the
other

Targeted NDA
submission for SB204
in the treatment of
acne vulgaris

Company plans to meet with US FDA to discuss
SB204 in Q3 2017
Plan to initiate clinical development of SB414 in
Q2 of 2017 with the filing of an IND, followed by
a Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial in patients with
psoriasis
Plan to seek US FDA input on SB206 in Q2
2017 and be in position to proceed to Phase 3
development by end of 2017
File IND for lead BCMA-specific CAR-T asset
P-BCMA-101
Initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial of P-BCMA-101
for the treatment of patients with relapsed or
refractory multiple myeloma

Phase 1 data
from lead asset
P-BCMA-101

Progress product pipeline

Formed SAB with world leaders in Gene
Editing and Cell Therapy
Viamet

Received QIDP status for VT-1161 in RVVC
and VT-1598 in Valley Fever
Received FDA fast track status for VT-1129 in
cryptococcal meningitis

Reported positive results from REVIVE Phase 2b
trial of Oral VT-1161 in RVVC and from RENOVATE
Phase 2b trial of Oral VT-1161 in onychomycosis
Report results from VT-1161 Phase 2b
onychomycosis (OM) extension study
Initiate Phase 3 trial for VT-1161 in RVVC

Initiate Phase 3 trial
for VT-1161 in OM
Initiate Phase 2/3 VT1598 trial
File IND for VT-11138

File IND and initiate Phase 1 trial for VT-1598
Xenex

Launched next generation robot

Completed Series I financing

Increased geographic footprint including
the execution of a distribution agreement
with Terumo who will have exclusive rights
to distribute Xenex’s robots in Japan

Continued increase in revenues and geographic
footprint

Further development
of hospital infection
prevention products
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Financial Review

As at 31 December 2016:
Capital

Equity

€380 million
Debt

€70 million
Invested

Science & Discovery

€61 million
Clinical*

€196 million
Commercial

€99 million

* At the date of investment, Immunocore was deemed a science and
discovery asset. The asset has since advanced to clinical stage activity.
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Having issued almost €380 million worth
of equity in 2015, we secured a 7-year, €70
million debt facility from the EIB in June
2016, of which we had drawn €40 million by
31 December 2016. We had deployed €356
million across 18 life sciences assets by 31
December 2016. Our investee companies
represent a broad cross section of the
value chain within the life sciences industry.
They include discovery science, clinical
programmes, devices, healthcare technology
and fully commercial organisations.
Management’s focus is now firmly on
providing strategic, operational, technical
and scientific oversight and support to each
of our assets to advance the businesses
and create shareholder value. This focus on
execution within our assets should support
some near-term value inflection points for
our assets with resultant cash realisations
and inflows potentially bolstering our
year-end cash position of €28.8 million. Our
cash position is further supported by the
completion of a placing of 2.7 million Malin
shares in May 2017 raising gross proceeds of
€27.0 million.
The alignment of long duration capital with
substantial and demonstrated operating
expertise around a broad array of life science
assets provides a unique opportunity to create
and unlock value. The EIB debt facility provides
Malin with additive non-dilutive capital that
can then be judiciously deployed to accelerate
the progression of current and prospective
Malin investee companies.
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Fair value of Malin’s investee companies
Although we are not mandated by International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) to include current valuations of all of our
investee companies, we present, as supplementary non-GAAP information, updated fair value information where such a valuation is
supported by observable market data. This typically results from a subsequent capital transaction by the investee company.
At 31 December 2016, Malin had externally validated updated valuations for 5 of our assets, Novan, Immunocore, Xenex, Viamet and
Kymab based on transactions in the companies’ equity capital since we acquired our initial equity stake. In addition, Novan spun off its
non-dermatology assets and rights to a newly established entity, KNOW Bio in 2015 giving its shareholders at that time, including Malin, a
separate incremental entity, focused on the non-dermatology application of Novan’s nitric oxide technology. A number of our assets have
achieved significant milestones since our initial investment which might infer that their value has progressed. In the absence of observable
market information to validate an updated valuation, these investments are included at cost in the table below.
Investment
consideration to
31 December 2016
€’m

Observable
Fair value at 31
December 2016
€’m

An2H

9.2

9.2

Artizan

1.2

1.2

Kymab

18.0

28.21

Poseida

27.2

27.2

Hatteras

2.0

2.0

KNOW Bio

0.0

1.12

Wren

3.5

3.5

Immunocore

74.3

85.61

Melinta

46.9

46.9

NeuVT

13.2

13.2

Novan

35.1

67.23

Viamet

26.4

27.81

3D4Medical

15.2

15.2

Altan

34.5

34.5

Cilatus

0.5

0.5

Jaan Health

0.9

0.9

Xenex

23.2

33.01

Serenus

24.5

14.84

Investee Company

Science & Discovery

Clinical

Commercial

1. The increase in the fair value of these investee companies is based on transactions in the equity of these companies in 2015 and 2016, at an enhanced value from that at
which Malin acquired its initial equity stake.
2. In December 2015, Novan spun off its non-dermatology assets and rights to a newly established entity, Know Bio. The shares of that company were distributed to
Novan’s existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.
3. The increase in the fair value of Novan is based on the publicly quoted share price of Novan, Inc. at 31 December 2016. The carrying value of Novan at 31 December 2016
was €25.1 million which management believes is recoverable based on detailed impairment testing performed. At 1 June 2017, Novan’s share price had reduced to $4.99 per
share, implying the observable fair value of Malin’s investment in Novan as €11.7 million on this date.
4. Malin recognised an impairment charge of €9.7 million against the recognised goodwill of Serenus during 2016.
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Financial Review (continued)

Basis of preparation of Malin’s consolidated financial statements
Malin’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS which requires Malin to consolidate investee
companies which we control (subsidiaries), equity account for investee companies over which we have the right to exercise
significant influence (associate companies) and account for the remainder of our investments at fair value where we do not
control or significantly influence the companies (available-for-sale investments).
As a result, our consolidated income statement incorporates the results of Malin, our direct corporate subsidiaries and our
investee company subsidiaries as well as recognising our share of the profits or losses of our associate companies as a single line
item in the consolidated income statement. Changes in the fair value of our investee companies regarded as available-for-sale
investments are recognised through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The consolidated balance sheet
includes the assets and liabilities of Malin and its subsidiary companies, as well as recognising Malin’s associate companies at cost
plus or minus our share of the profits or losses of these companies and Malin’s available-for-sale investments at fair value.
The result of these accounting requirements is that the financial statements do not provide a strong basis on which to evaluate the
performance of Malin. The selected financial data and analysis that follows attempts to highlight the key financial information that
we believe is most relevant in assessing Malin’s financial progress, performance and position.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 December 2016
€’m

31 December 2015
€’m

162.3

176.2

Investments in available-for-sale undertakings

79.3

54.0

Goodwill and other intangible assets

57.6

51.3

Property, plant and equipment

12.2

12.2

8.9

1.3

320.3

295.0

Inventories

13.9

14.0

Trade and other receivables

19.8

18.2

Cash

48.9

97.0

Total current assets

82.6

129.2

Loans and borrowings

(67.6)

(34.9)

Trade and other payables

(17.5)

(13.4)

Deferred tax liability

(8.7)

(7.9)

Provisions

(1.0)

(2.6)

Total liabilities

(94.8)

(58.8)

Equity

308.1

365.4

Investment in associate undertakings

Other
Total non-current assets
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended
31 December 2016

Period from
incorporation on 16
December 2014 to
31 December 2015

Total
€’m

Including Company
Establishment Costs1
€’m

Revenue

42.1

22.9

Cost of sales

(30.6)

(19.3)

Gross Profit

11.5

3.6

(5.1)

(2.7)

Selling, general and administrative expenses

(62.6)

(46.4)

Total operating expenses

(67.7)

(49.1)

Share of net losses of associate undertakings

(26.4)

(5.9)

Operating Expenses
Research and development expenses

Net gain on associate undertakings

-

2.4

Fair value movement on derivatives

(1.3)

Net finance expense

(2.4)

(0.8)

(86.3)

(49.8)

Loss before tax
Taxation
Loss after tax

(0.3)
(86.6)

-

0.2
(49.6)

1. Includes Company Establishment Costs of €17.1 million incurred in the period from incorporation on 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015 in relation to the
Company’s formation, acquisition of subsidiaries costs and a share-based payment charge relating to Founder Shares issued to Brandon Point Industries.
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Financial Review (continued)

Malin’s investments
The table below provides an overview of our subsidiary, associate company and available-for-sale investment interests at 31
December 2016.

Investee1

Headquarters

Investment
consideration2 at 31
December 2016
€’m

Malin % shareholding
at 31 December 20163

Subsidiaries
Altan

Ireland

34.5

65%

Cilatus

Ireland

0.5

80%

NeuVT

Ireland

13.2

32%

Serenus

Ireland

24.5

76%

Wren

UK

3.5

35%

Associate investments
3D4Medical

Ireland

15.2

38%

An2H

Ireland

9.2

26%

Artizan

US

1.2

27%

Immunocore

UK

74.3

10%

Jaan Health

US

0.9

15%

KNOW Bio

US

-

16%

Kymab

UK

18.0

11%

Poseida

US

27.2

37%

Novan

US

35.1

16%

Viamet

US

26.4

16%

Hatteras

US

2.0

N/A

Melinta

US

46.9

17%

Xenex

US

23.2

12%

Available-for-sale investments

Cash position
Malin’s consolidated cash and cash equivalents balance at 31 December 2016 of €48.9 million includes cash and cash equivalent balances
of €20.1 million held by its investee subsidiary companies and €28.8 million held by Malin and Malin’s direct corporate subsidiaries.
During 2016, Malin incurred cash outflows of €10.6 million to acquire equity positions in 4 new companies and made follow-on
investments and convertible note purchases of €52.5 million in 9 of Malin’s existing investee companies.
Subsequent to the year end, on 3 May 2017, Malin completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the
Company representing approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross
proceeds of €27.0 million.

1.	Notwithstanding the above categorisation of Malin’s investee companies, the Group’s activities are organised, reviewed and analysed internally under a single operating
segment structure.
2. Includes amounts transferred from Brandon Point Industries on Admission and convertible debt invested in 2016.
3. Shareholding based on issued share capital at 31 December 2016 and does not take convertible debt capital into account.
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Debt facility with EIB
On 23 June 2016, Malin secured a €70.0 million debt facility over a period of 7-years from the EIB to enable Malin to increase its
investment in innovation and research across the dynamic and fast-growing segments of the European life sciences industry. As at 31
December 2016, Malin had drawn down €40.0 million of this debt facility.

Revenue
The full amount of the Group’s revenue of €42.1 million (2015: €22.9 million) is attributable to Malin’s subsidiaries, Altan and
Cilatus. Altan’s revenue is derived from the sale of pharmaceutical products, primarily the sale of injectable medications, by Altan,
to hospitals and other healthcare providers. Cilatus’ revenue is derived from the provision of consulting services to biotechnology
companies.

Operating expenses
The consolidated cash and non-cash operating expenses incurred by Malin and its subsidiaries during the year to 31 December 2016,
presented in the consolidated income statement, are analysed below.

Cost of sales
expenses
€’m

Selling,
Research &
general &
development administrative
expenses
expenses
€’m
€’m

Total
€’m

-

-

20.2

20.2

30.6

5.1

13.5

49.2

Write-off of goodwill of subsidiary

-

-

9.7

9.7

Malin share-based payment charges

-

-

19.2

19.2

30.6

5.1

62.6

98.3

Malin corporate subsidiaries
Investee subsidiary companies

The consolidated operating expenses incurred by Malin and its subsidiaries (excluding the once-off company establishment costs)
during the period from incorporation on 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015 are analysed below.

Cost of sales
expenses
€’m

Selling,
Research &
general &
development administrative
expenses
expenses
€’m
€’m

Total
€’m

-

-

10.0

10.0

19.3

2.7

9.8

31.8

Business integration costs

-

-

1.4

1.4

Malin share-based payment charges

-

-

6.9

6.9

Malin investee company employee share-based payment charges

-

-

1.2

1.2

19.3

2.7

29.3

51.3

Malin corporate subsidiaries
Investee subsidiary companies
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Risk Management

The execution of Malin’s strategy is subject to
a number of risks and uncertainties. A vigorous
and effective risk management framework is
essential for Malin to achieve its objectives.
The ongoing assessment and review of the risks
facing Malin and each of its investee companies
is a key focus of the Board to ensure that the
risks are well understood and mitigated insofar
as possible.

Malin’s Risk Framework
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• Risk assessments are
monitored regularly by
the Audit Committee and
overseen by the Board
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• Risks facing Malin and
each of its investee
companies identiﬁed and
assessed
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• Eﬃcacy of the risk
framework is monitored
and reﬁned
• Malin's risk appetite is
deﬁned and agreed

• Key risks analysed and
understood. Mitigating
factors are considered
and appropriate
mitigating actions put in
place.
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Risk Management Roles and Responsibilities
Everyone within Malin has an active role in managing risk and
fostering a positive attitude to risk management within the
organisation. The Board recognises that this is achieved by
having a broad based and deeply embedded culture of risk
awareness and risk management throughout the organisation.
In order to facilitate this, certain responsibilities are assigned
within the organisation as outlined below.
Board of directors
The Board of Malin has overall responsibility for Malin’s
risk management and sets the “tone from the top” of the
organisation. The Board is also responsible for determining the
overall risk appetite. The Board has delegated certain aspects of
the day to day operation and oversight of the risk management
framework to the Audit Committee and management.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee oversees the internal controls of the
company and reviews the risk register on a regular basis.
Executive Management Team
The Executive management team implements the Board’s risk
strategy and has day-to-day responsibility for the management
of identified risks and for Malin’s control environment.
Management also has responsibility for identifying and assessing
risks and ensuring that updates to risks at both the Malin level
and at investee companies are appropriately communicated to
the Audit Committee.
Malin business analyst team and investee company board
members
The Malin business analyst team as well as Malin’s
representatives on investee company boards are responsible
for identifying and assessing risks for each of Malin’s investee
companies. They are also responsible for engaging with
management to highlight risks and ensure mitigating actions or
controls are taken against the risks identified.

Board

Audit
Committee

Executive
Management
Team

Malin Business Analyst
Team & Investee Company
Board Members
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Risk Management (continued)

Malin’s Key Risks and Mitigating Factors and Actions
The operations of Malin and the implementation of its objectives and strategy are subject to a number of key risks and uncertainties.
Malin could have specific risks related to its business as well as being exposed to risks related to its investee companies.
Risk and description

Mitigating Factors and Actions

1. Asset Risk
A critical pillar of Malin’s business is the
ability to identify and acquire assets
that fit strategically, scientifically and
philosophically within its operating
framework and within its current platform
of life sciences assets. The inability to
identify or successfully execute asset
acquisitions has a significant negative
impact on Malin’s operations and the
potential for Malin to create value for
shareholders and other stakeholders.

Malin has invested a significant amount of time and resources into building a world
class network of operational life sciences expertise including:

The failure to identify materially
negative facts or circumstances related
to an investee company during the due
diligence stage of the investment could
also have a material impact on Malin’s
financial position and the potential future
returns to shareholders.

Malin’s executive team has significant experience in identifying, sourcing and
developing life sciences assets to significant value inflection points. This experience,
supported by external advisors, is integral to Malin’s due diligence process.
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• A Board of Directors with exceptional commercial and industry experience;
• An advisory board comprised of individuals with extensive scientific, medical,
regulatory and industry experience;
• Long-term relationships with leading universities around the world.
Through these relationships Malin identifies new opportunities to invest in businesses
with exciting, cutting-edge technologies and also uses the expertise and experience
within this network to assess new opportunities identified.

Malin’s investment hypothesis of providing long-term capital and operational expertise
to support life sciences businesses is unique in the market and is appealing to exciting,
growing life sciences companies with broad-based value objectives.
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Risk and description

Mitigating Factors and Actions

2. Capital Risk
The inability of Malin to fund its
operations and follow-on investment
opportunities in its existing investee
companies or the acquisition of interests
in new investee companies could
significantly damage Malin’s long-term
value potential.
Malin’s share price could be
disproportionately affected by the actions
of one or more of its shareholders.

The €380 million of equity capital raised by Malin during 2015 supported the
construction of a diverse platform of life sciences assets across therapeutic areas and
stages of development and will support the most promising follow-on investment
opportunities in our assets. Malin secured a €70 million debt facility with the EIB
in June 2016, of which €40 million has been drawn down to date. The expeditious
deployment of a significant portion of Malin’s capital gives Malin the best potential of
generating significant returns to shareholders. The return on Euro denominated cash
deposits remained at 0% or below throughout 2016.
Malin’s investment and capital deployment stage is now substantially complete and Malin
is focused on supporting the development of its assets to their next value inflection
points. Some of Malin’s assets will require further capital to fund the next phase of their
development beyond their next value inflection point while other assets may reach the
optimal value inflection point to engage with interested strategic acquirers or to access the
public markets.
Malin’s capital position will vary depending on the timing and attractiveness of investee
company follow-on investment opportunities as well as the timing and success of investee
company value realisation events. Capital returns to shareholders, new investment
opportunities, operating expenditure and new capital inflows will also impact on Malin’s
capital position.
Malin’s Board and executive management closely monitor Malin’s current and
forecasted cash position, including committed or contingently committed investments,
the projected timing of the next value inflection point for each investee company and
whether a follow-on investment opportunity or value realisation event is most likely
beyond this point.
Malin’s Board and executive management team have a close business and strategic
relationship with a significant portion of the holders of Malin’s equity. These equity
holders’ investment philosophy is aligned with Malin’s. The predominant ownership of
Malin equity by a small number of long-term shareholders and the resultant relevant
illiquidity of the stock resulted in, what management believe is, a disproportionate
decline in the Malin share price in the second half of 2016 and into 2017 when some
small shareholders exited their positions (33% decline in the share price between 1 July
2016 and 30 April 2017 underpinned by share volume equating to approximately 3%
of total issued share capital). The Board and management are working to remedy this
anomaly in our capital market structure as soon as possible, which, in the Board and
management’s view, has resulted in a significant divergence between Malin’s intrinsic
value and market capitalisation.
Subsequent to the year end, on 3 May 2017, Malin completed a placing of 2,689,906
new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company representing approximately 6.4%
of the Company’s issued share capital, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross
proceeds of €27.0 million.
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Risk Management (continued)

Risk and description

Mitigating Factors and Actions

3. Investee Company Influence Risk
The risk that Malin cannot strategically
or operationally influence the investee
companies and that a strategy pursued by
an investee company is one with which it
fundamentally disagrees with.

Malin’s differentiated investment hypothesis is built on not only providing long-term capital
to growing, innovative life sciences companies but also supporting these businesses with
deep operational expertise and experience. Malin aims to influence the strategies of its
investee companies to drive the maximum value potential.
Malin’s capital exposure to each company is meaningful and allows it to strategically
contribute to the progression of the businesses. Malin has at least 1 Board member or a
senior advisory role in all of its investee companies. Malin continues to work to develop
strong business relationships with its investee companies’ management teams and boards.

4. Talent Risk
Malin’s operational and strategic
experience and expertise is essential in the
identification of new assets and vital to the
operational oversight that Malin brings to its
investee companies. A deficit in the relevant
scientific, technological or commercial
experience to best assess the value, strategy
and risks of current or prospective investee
companies could have a significant impact
on Malin’s competitive advantage and
future prospects. Malin’s ability to attract,
integrate and retain key employees, Board
members and advisory partners within the
company is of critical importance.

Malin seeks to create an environment that is vibrant, diverse, energetic, resilient and
intellectually curious with a rigorous pursuit for learning and incorporating its knowledge
into future activities. Malin is team oriented and collectively driven to achieve meaningful
results for its key stakeholders including shareholders, employees, investee companies, and
ultimately the world’s population overall – all of whom would benefit from advancements in
life sciences.
Malin offers a balanced and fair incentive package for all employees comprising a mix of
salary, benefits and equity. Board fees are also based on market comparisons while the
advisory board fees are modest.

5. Market & Policy Risk
Instability in the equity and debt markets
could result in the inability to access
capital markets or realise value from its
investee companies. In addition, unforeseen
changes in government policy, regulation
or legislation could significantly impact on
Malin’s operations.
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Malin encourages its investee companies to develop their businesses with the aim of having
an exciting and broad-based business that appeals to strategic acquirers as well as the public
markets.
Malin engages with government and policy makers to express the long term benefits
of Malin’s capital and operational investing model to fund innovation in life sciences for
economic, scientific and medical benefit.
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Risk and description

Mitigating Factors and Actions

6. Investee Company Risks
The execution of each of Malin’s investee companies’ businesses is
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties which are identified,
assessed and continually reviewed by Malin’s management as part
of its risk management process. Each company has specific risks and
uncertainties. There is a strong correlation between the release of
these risks and the creation of value in these investee companies.
The principal risks that apply to the platform of investee businesses
broadly fall within the 5 risk captions below:

Malin seeks to mitigate against the specific risks related to its investee
companies in the following ways:

• Science & Technology (inc. IP) Risk
The risk that R&D and/or early-stage technology programmes
will fail to make it to the clinic or progress as expected. This
risk is also associated with a breach or withdrawal of the
protection of the Company’s IP, know-how or business secrets
as a result of a legal challenge, fraudulent action or other
competitive event.

• Operational influence at the Board and strategic executive level
of investee companies to highlight specific risks and request the
adoption of measures to attempt to mitigate against the specific
investee company risk.

• Clinical & Regulatory Risk
The risk that clinical programmes will fail to make it to
the market or progress as planned due to safety, efficacy,
regulatory and/or manufacturing issues.
• Commercial Launch & Marketing Risk
The risk that business projections are not achieved. The failure
to meet projections may be a result of new or stronger than
expected competition, pricing/reimbursement issues, cost
or any other events that could have a material impact on
revenues.

• A diversified platform of life sciences companies spanning
therapeutics and stages of development. These companies
represent a broad cross section of the value chain within the
life sciences industry. These include: discovery science, clinical
programmes, devices, healthcare technology and fully commercial
organisation.

• The combined scientific, medical, regulatory and industry
experience and expertise of Malin’s executive team, Board and
advisory partners gives Malin a unique ability to understand
and develop businesses with the optimal value creation and risk
profile. This applies in Malin’s existing investee companies as well
as in identifying prospective new investee companies. Malin’s
experience and expertise is also critical in quickly identifying,
highlighting and seeking to mitigate against specific investee
company risks.

• Talent Risk
The risk that the management team does not have the
relevant scientific, technological or commercial experience
appropriate for the current stage of the business they
operate. This could affect management’s ability to plan or
execute strategies efficiently, attract the necessary talent,
and/or to create a corporation capable of complying with all
applicable laws/regulations.
• Business Strategy Risk
The risk that the Company has not formed, implemented
or executed a dynamic business strategy/vision or that the
strategy deployed is compromised or insufficient. There
is a risk that the Company will or has already positioned
itself, its science, or its technology in an unattractive or
underperforming market.
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Our Core Values

People and Culture
Malin embraces the importance of people and culture as a key
pillar of its values. Malin seeks to create an environment which
is vibrant, diverse, energetic, resilient and intellectually curious
for all employees. This team-oriented and collectively driven
atmosphere allows Malin to achieve meaningful results for
key stakeholders including employees, shareholders, investee
companies and ultimately the world’s population – all of whom
would benefit from advancements in life sciences.
The motivated and highly committed Malin team provides
the business with a strong competitive advantage. Given this
importance, Malin endeavours to attract, develop, reward and
retain the strongest talent across all areas of the business.
Malin offers employees a lifestyle allowance which enables
employees to have greater control over their health and
lifestyle benefits. The allowance is specifically allocated to
maximise the health and wellbeing of the employee and can
be used to offset health costs including health insurance and
fitness initiatives e.g. gym or sports club membership.
Malin employees are encouraged and supported to upskill as this
offers both professional and personal development while also
broadening the skillset of the Company. Employees may avail of
the opportunity to undertake further educational studies within
and beyond their current field of work. Malin has a diverse
and experienced group of advisory partners which gives the
Company unique access to expertise, know-how and experience
across a wide range of specialities in the life sciences sector.
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Science and Innovation
Malin is committed to the progression of science
and pioneering technologies as the bedrock of
innovation and primary driver of the future of life
sciences. This commitment manifests itself in our
integrated approach to science and technology
assessment, execution requirements and operating
assistance, and by providing long-duration capital
to allow these innovations to properly advance and
tangibly demonstrate the breadth of their potential
opportunity. An overview of the range of therapeutic
areas and indications in which Malin is supporting the
development of innovative products is included on
page 44.
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Integrated national commitment and
positioning
As a globally focused, indigenous Irish company, Malin seeks to
harness the considerable strength and embedded advantages of
Ireland’s domestic business platform from which to operate and
grow the business on a global scale.
Malin is also conscious that global growth and opportunities
will be fuelled by specific and focused investment in and
commitment to Ireland, including business and technical
partners, academic institutions and health care providers.
Malin supports the creation and conservation of highly skilled
jobs in Ireland, both in the Company itself and in our investee
companies.
Malin is conscious of the importance of not only supporting
the communities in which we operate but we also recognise
the responsibility we have towards protecting and enhancing
Ireland’s reputation internationally. During 2016, we made
tangible contributions to Irish organisations representing and
supporting Ireland abroad and also made contributions to the
local community.

Business practice and approach
Malin’s purpose is to create shareholder value through
the selective long-term application of capital and
operational expertise to private operating businesses in
dynamic and fast-growing segments of the life sciences
industry. Malin is committed to the progression of
science and pioneering technologies and offers a
unique platform for long-term investors and life
sciences companies who are at a critical stage in their
life cycle.
The principles governing the management of Malin’s
operating, investing and financing activities are fully
aligned with our wider commercial and reputational
practices and are consistent with our commitment to
corporate responsibility.
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Our Core Values (continued)
Supporting the development of innovative products across therapeutic areas and indications

Therapeutic Areas
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Type 2 diabetes
Inﬂammatory bowel disease
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Inﬂammatory skin
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Atopic Dermatitis
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Acne Vulgaris
Genital Warts
Wound-healing
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Melanoma (uveal &
cutaneous)
Lung cancer
Head & Neck cancer
Ovarian, Breast &
Endometrial cancers
Bladder cancer
Synovial sarcoma
Multiple myeloma
Prostate cancer
Other tumour types

HIV
Fungal Infection including: Onychomycosis,
RVVC, cryptococcal meningitis &
coccidioidomycosis (Valley Fever)
Cystic Fibrosis
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Hospital
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•

•
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* Indications include but are not limited to the above and are subject
to change depending on the advancement of assets.
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Medical Technology
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Governance

Chairman’s Introduction

Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to present the
Corporate Governance Report of
Malin Corporation plc for 2016.
This section of the annual report contains details of the key
features of the Malin’s governance structures and provides an
insight into our Board and Board Committees, including their
membership and activities during 2016.
The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance that is commensurate with the size
and stage of development of Malin. As Chairman, one of my
primary responsibilities is to uphold and promote high standards
of integrity, probity and corporate governance, and I am
committed to ensuring a well-governed and successful business
which creates long-term returns for our shareholders.
All Directors will offer themselves for re-election at Malin’s
2017 Annual General Meeting. I am satisfied that each Director
continues to provide the Board with valuable expertise and
support, and that they each devote sufficient time to their roles
with Malin. I therefore recommend their re-election.
Kyran McLaughlin
Chairman
2 June 2017
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Board of Directors

Kyran McLaughlin (73)

Darragh Lyons (36)

Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Position

Date of
Appointment

Chairman

1 January 2017

1 year 1 month*

19 December 2014 2 years

Chairman of the
Nominations
Committee

1 January 2017

N/A

Chief Financial
Officer

Member of the
Remuneration
Committee

26 April 2016

Member of the Audit 12 October 2016
Committee

8 months

2 months

Mr McLaughlin is deputy chairman and head of Capital Markets
at Davy Group and holds a number of public and private company
directorships, including Ryanair plc. Mr McLaughlin is also a past
director of Elan Corporation plc (“Elan”) from December 1998 to its
sale to Perrigo Company in December 2013 and was chairman of
Elan from January 2005 to January 2011. Prior to his appointment
as Chairman of Malin in January 2017, he had previously served as
an Independent Non-Executive Director from 3 December 2015.

Kelly Martin (58)
Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Chief Executive
Officer

21 August 2015

1 year 11 months*

Kelly Martin served as CEO of Elan from February 2003 until its
successful sale to Perrigo Company in December 2013. Before
joining Elan, Mr Martin spent more than 20 years at Merrill
Lynch & Co., Inc., where he held a broad array of operating
and executive roles. Mr Martin also serves as a non-executive
director on a number of public and private company boards.

Adrian Howd, Ph.D (45)
Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Chief Investment
Officer

21 August 2015

1 year 11 months*

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Darragh Lyons is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Ireland and
worked in a number of senior finance positions in Elan (prior
to the sale of Elan to Perrigo Company). Prior to joining Elan,
Mr Lyons worked with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Dublin, the
US and Canada, and also served in the firm’s Global Technical
Accounting Group.

Liam Daniel (65)
Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Lead Independent
Non-Executive
Director

12 February 2015

1 year 11 months

Chairman of the
Audit Committee

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

Chairman of the
3 March 2015
Governance and
Conflicts Committee

1 year 10 months

Member of the
Remuneration
Committee

1 year 10 months

3 March 2015

Liam Daniel is a non-executive director of Horizon Pharma plc
since September 2014 and was president of the Institute of
Directors in Ireland from 2013 to 2015 having been elected
to the board of that Institute in June 2010. He served with
Elan from 1993 until 2014 in various roles including controller,
company secretary, executive vice president and as an executive
director. Following Elan’s acquisition by Perrigo Company in
December 2013, Mr Daniel retired from Elan in March 2014. He
is a graduate of University College Dublin, a Fellow of Chartered
Accountants Ireland and a Chartered Director.

Dr Adrian Howd has held both sell-side and buy-side roles, being
a highly ranked sell-side analyst, at Berenberg, Nomura and ABN
Amro where he was global head of Healthcare Research. He also
gained buy-side experience running a healthcare portfolio as part
of the Principal Strategies Group at ABN Amro. Dr Howd also
served as executive vice president and head of Neuroscience and
Corporate Development at Evotec AG. Dr Howd has a Ph.D in
molecular neuroscience from the University of London.

*

Represents from date of initial appointment to the Board of Directors
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Board of Directors (continued)

Owen Hughes (42)

Kieran McGowan (73)

Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Independent
Non-Executive
Director

12 February 2015

1 year 11 months

Independent
Non-Executive
Director

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

Member of the
Audit Committee

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

Member of the
Nominations
Committee

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

Chairman of the
Remuneration
Committee
Member of the
Nominations
Committee

10 February 2016

10 months

Member of the
3 March 2015
Governance and
Conflicts Committee

1 year 10 months

Owen Hughes currently serves as chief business officer and
head of Corporate Development at Intarcia Therapeutics, a late
stage diabetes company and as a director of Radius Health, an
osteoporosis company seeking regulatory approval for its lead
product candidate. Prior to Intarcia, Mr Hughes served as a
director at Brookside Capital, a multibillion-dollar hedge fund
that falls under the Bain Capital umbrella. There, Mr Hughes
co-managed public and private healthcare investments including
those in the biotechnology, medtech and services segments. Mr
Hughes has over 16 years of Wall Street experience on both the
buy and sell-side.

Former Directors
The following individuals also served as Directors during 2016:

Robert A. Ingram (74)

• Prof. Dr Uwe Bicker (retired effective 26 April 2016)

Position

Date of
Appointment

Tenure as of
31 Dec 2016

Independent
Non-Executive
Director

12 February 2015

1 year 11 months

Member of the
Nominations
Committee

3 March 2015

1 year 10 months

Robert A. Ingram is the former CEO/chairman of GlaxoWellcome
where he co-led the merger and integration that formed
GlaxoSmithKline. Mr Ingram currently serves as a general
partner of Hatteras Venture Partners. He previously served as
chairman of Elan from 2010 until its sale to Perrigo Company
in December 2013. Mr Ingram has numerous community and
board engagements, including chairman of both Novan and
Viamet, two of Malin’s investee companies. Mr Ingram was
asked by former US President George H.W. Bush to form and
chair the CEO Roundtable on cancer, and he was awarded the
Martin Luther King, Jr. Legacy Award for International Service in
January 2004.
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Kieran McGowan is currently chairman of Appian Asset
Management. From 1990 until his retirement in December 1998,
Mr McGowan was chief executive of the Industrial Development
Authority of Ireland. Up until May 2012, Mr McGowan was
chairman of CRH plc, and has sat on the board of a number of
private companies. He is a director of Charles Schwab Worldwide
Funds plc. Mr McGowan is also a past director of Elan from
December 1998 to its sale to Perrigo Company in December
2013. He has served as president of the Irish Management
Institute and has chaired the Governing Authority at University
College Dublin.

• Sean Murphy (retired effective 17 August 2016)
• John Given (retired effective 31 December 2016)
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Corporate Governance Statement

Principles of Corporate Governance

Leadership

The Board recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in supporting growth in long-term shareholder
value and is committed to maintaining the highest standards
of corporate governance commensurate with Malin’s size and
stage of development.

Role of the Board

While there is no specific corporate governance regime mandated
in Ireland for companies admitted to trading on the Enterprise
Securities Market (“ESM”), Malin has voluntarily committed to
comply with the principles of the Quoted Companies’ Alliance
(“QCA”) Corporate Governance Code for small and mid-size
quoted companies (the “QCA Code”) and, to the extent they are
considered appropriate and practicable given Malin’s size, stage
of development and resources, the principal provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in September 2014, together with the
Irish Corporate Governance Annex published by the Irish Stock
Exchange (together “the Codes”). A copy of the QCA Code is
available at www.theqca.com.
The Board has also adopted a set of corporate governance
guidelines (the “Corporate Governance Guidelines”), which
are available on the Company’s website, www.malinplc.com.
The Corporate Governance Guidelines cover key corporate
governance matters, including the mission of the Board,
Director responsibilities, Board structure, matters reserved
for the Board, Board composition, Independent Directors,
Board membership criteria, selection of new Directors, time
limits and mandatory retirement, Board evaluation, leadership
development, Board committees, Board meeting proceedings,
Board and Independent Director access to top management.

The Board is responsible for the supervision and control of Malin
and is accountable to the shareholders. The Board has reserved
decision-making on a variety of matters, including determining
strategy, reviewing and monitoring executive management
performance and monitoring risks and controls.
A detailed description of the matters reserved for the Board
are set out in the Corporate Governance Guidelines and these
include:
• Responsibility for the overall management of the Company
• Approval of the Company’s long-term objectives and
commercial strategy
• Approval of the Company’s annual operating and capital
expenditure budgets
• Oversight of the Company’s operations, including ensuring
the maintenance of adequate accounting and other records
• Changes to the Company’s capital structure, including
the issue of shares and entering into debt and financing
arrangements
• Material acquisitions, disposals and investments
• Approval of interim results, annual reports and financial
statements
• Ensuring a sound system of internal control and risk
management
• Changes to the structure, size and composition of the Board
and Committees
• Selection of the Chairman, CEO and Lead Independent
Director
The Board has delegated a number of its responsibilities
to standing Committees of the Board and also to Malin’s
management team. The Board has approved the terms of
reference of the Committees and the authority limits of
management, and receives regular updates in respect of all
delegated authorities.
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Board Composition

Chief Executive Officer

The Board comprises of 8 Directors, being the Chairman,
4 Independent Non-Executive Directors and 3 Executive
Directors. The Board meets regularly, and no less than 6 times
per year. The Directors have established 4 standing committees,
being an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a
Nominations Committee and a Governance and Conflicts
Committee, to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. Each
Committee has formally delegated rules and responsibilities.
Further details in respect of each of these Committees and the
work carried out by them in 2016 is outlined on pages 54 to 70.

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of
Malin’s operations and the implementation of strategy and
policies agreed by the Board. The CEO plays a key role in
the process of setting and reviewing Malin’s strategy and of
maximising the contribution of senior management to business
planning, operational control and Malin’s performance.

Division of Responsibilities
The roles of the Chairman and CEO are separated as is clearly set
out in the Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Chairman of
the Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Board. The CEO has overall responsibility for the operation
of the business of Malin.

Chairman
The Chairman’s primary responsibility is to lead the Board. His
role is to ensure that the Board is effective as a group and that
it upholds the highest standards of integrity and corporate
governance. He is also responsible for ensuring that all Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information to enable them to
carry out their duties and for ensuring that the Board agendas
contain adequate time for the discussion of all agenda items, in
particular strategic issues. The Chairman promotes a culture of
strong open dialogue between the Executive and Non-Executive
Directors. He is responsible for ensuring that there is ongoing
and effective communication with shareholders and that
members of the Board develop and maintain an understanding
of the views of shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors’ main responsibilities are to
review the performance of management, assist in strategy
development, and ensure that appropriate and effective
systems of internal control and risk management are in place.
They are expected to challenge management proposals
constructively and to draw on their experience and knowledge
in relation to challenges facing Malin and the development
of Malin’s strategy. The Non-Executive Directors review the
relationship with the external auditor through the Audit
Committee, monitor remuneration structures and policy
through the Remuneration Committee and oversee potential
governance and conflict issues through the Governance and
Conflicts Committee.

Lead Independent Director
The Lead Independent Director coordinates, in a lead capacity,
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and provides ongoing
and direct feedback from the Directors to the Chairman and
the CEO. The specific responsibilities of the Lead Independent
Director are set out in the Corporate Governance Guidelines.
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Company Secretary
The Company Secretary reports directly to the Chairman on
governance matters and supports the Chairman in ensuring
the Board functions effectively and fulfils its role. He is also
secretary to each of the Board Committees. The Company
Secretary ensures that Malin is in compliance with applicable
rules and regulations and is responsible for advising the Board,
through the Chairman, on all governance matters. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
and the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a
matter for the Board.

Conflicts of Interest
The Board has adopted a Conflicts of Interest Policy which
is overseen by the Governance and Conflicts Committee. In
addition, the Board reviews potential conflicts of interest as a
standing agenda item at each Board meeting. Directors have
continuing obligations to update the Board on any changes to
potential conflicts.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
Malin maintains appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability
(“D&O”) insurance cover, the level of which is reviewed annually.
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Board Attendance
During 2016, the Board held 6 scheduled meetings. In addition
to the scheduled meetings, the Board also met on 3 occasions
to address specific matters. The individual attendance record
of the Directors at Board meetings during 2016 is set out in the
table below.

Effectiveness
Independence of Directors

Director

Number of Board
Meetings Attended
in 2016

Kyran McLaughlin

9/9

Kelly Martin

9/9

Adrian Howd

9/9

Darragh Lyons

9/9

Liam Daniel

9/9

Owen Hughes

9/9

Robert A. Ingram

7/9

The Corporate Governance Guidelines provide that at all times
at least 2 members of the Board will be independent. The Board
has adopted the definition of independence based upon the
standard set out in the Code. For a Director to be considered
independent, the Board must affirmatively determine that he
or she has no material relationship with the Company which
is likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the Director’s
judgement. The Board has considered the independence of
each Non-Executive Director, and affirmatively determined Mr
Daniel, Mr Hughes, Mr McGowan and Mr Ingram, who together
represent half the members of the Board, to be independent
in character and judgment and that there are no relationships
or circumstances that are likely to affect their independent
judgment. Mr McLaughlin was considered independent in his
role as a Non-Executive Director which he held immediately prior
to his appointment as Chairman.

Kieran McGowan

7/9

Appointments to the Board

Remuneration
Details of the Directors’ Remuneration are set out in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66.

All Directors, with the exception of Mr McLaughlin, were
appointed to the Board in the context of Malin’s intention to
apply for a public listing in March 2015. Mr McLaughlin was
appointed to the Board in December 2015. The Directors
were evaluated for their suitability in terms of skills, expertise
and independence. The terms and conditions of the NonExecutive Directors’ appointments are set out in their letters
of appointment, which are available for inspection at the
Company’s registered office during normal business hours.
The Nominations Committee leads the process for Board
appointments and makes recommendations to the Board in this
regard.

Commitment
Under their terms of appointment, all of the Non-Executive
Directors agreed to devote such time as is necessary for the
proper performance of their duties and agreed to be prepared
to spend at least 15 – 20 days per year on Malin business, which
includes attendance at 6 scheduled Board meetings, the AGM
and up to 2 other dates set-aside as provisional Board dates and/
or events. In addition, Non-Executive Directors are aware that
they are expected to devote appropriate preparation time in
advance of meetings. In accepting appointment to the Board,
each Non-Executive Director confirmed that they were able to
allocate sufficient time to meet the expectations of the role.
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Induction
All of the Directors received a Director Induction Pack at
the time of their appointment to the Board which provides
background information on Malin and its investee companies
and the various obligations arising from its governance
structures and listing on the ESM. In addition, all Directors were
given the opportunity to meet with the Company Secretary,
the Executive Directors and senior management to discuss any
queries they had in respect of Malin.

Training and Development
The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that all Directors
receive ongoing training and development so as to allow them
to discharge their duties to the best extent possible. The
training and development needs of Directors were considered
by the Board, through the Governance and Conflicts Committee,
in the context of the Board evaluation process undertaken by
that Committee during Quarter 1 of 2017.

Information and Support
The Company Secretary, under the direction of the Chairman, is
responsible for ensuring good information flow within the Board
and its Committees and between management and the NonExecutive Directors. Prior to each Board meeting the Directors
receive an agenda with supporting papers. The Board uses an
electronic board pack system to ensure that Directors can access
all Board papers quickly and easily. The Chairman and the CEO
also maintain regular informal contact with Directors.

Independent Advice
The Directors have access to independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense where they judge it necessary in order
to discharge their responsibilities.

Board Evaluation
The Board, through the Governance and Conflicts Committee,
completed an internally facilitated Board evaluation process
in Quarter 1 of 2017. The Board evaluation considered the
balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge
of the Directors, how the Board works as a unit and other
factors relevant to its effectiveness and the effectiveness of
its Committees. The key findings and recommendations of
the Evaluation process are summarised in the Governance and
Conflicts Committee Report on pages 69 to 70.

Re-election
All Directors appointed to the Board are required to offer
themselves for re-election at the first AGM after their
appointment. In line with this, all current Directors offered
themselves for re-election at Malin’s 2016 AGM and were duly
re-elected. All Directors will seek re-election at the 2017 AGM.
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Accountability
Financial and Business Reporting
Page 7 contains an outline of Malin’s business vision, including
the basis on which it intends to generate value over the longterm and to deliver on its strategic objectives. The Board is
committed to providing a fair, balanced and understandable
assessment of Malin’s position and prospects.

Going Concern
The Directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and accordingly have adopted the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
In making this assessment, the Directors have considered
that Malin’s capital position, and its ability to invest in new or
existing assets, may be impacted by a number of potential
value inflection points during 2017 which could result in capital
inflows, as well as the potential capital inflows from raising
additional debt or equity capital.
Subsequent to the year end, on 3 May 2017, Malin completed a
placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the
Company representing approximately 6.4% of the Company’s
issued share capital, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross
proceeds of €27.0 million.

Risk Management
The Board retains ultimate responsibility for determining the
Company’s level of risk tolerance. The Board has approved the
Company’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy Manual and
has undertaken an assessment of the principal risks facing the
Company. Details of the risks identified and the process by which
the Board oversees risk management is contained on pages 36 to
41. The Board has delegated responsibility for ongoing review of
the Company’s Risk Register to the Audit Committee.

Internal Controls
The Board is responsible for maintaining the Company’s system
of internal controls, required to safeguard the Company’s assets,
and for reviewing the effectiveness of that system at least once
per year. The Company’s internal control systems are designed
to identify, manage and mitigate financial, operational and
compliance risks inherent to the Company. In addition, they are
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Audit Committee has responsibility for ensuring the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial
controls and further details on this topic are contained in the
Audit Committee Report on pages 54 to 56.
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Acquisitions and Investment Process

Relations with Shareholders

The evaluation and execution of acquisition and investment
transactions involves 4 key steps: sourcing, analysing,
executing and approval of the proposed transaction. Malin’s
management team, advisory partners and Board, assembled
with deep, diverse and global experience and relationships in
the life sciences sector, are the primary source of investment
opportunities. The appraisal of acquisition and investment
opportunities involves the assessment of the target asset on 6
key dimensions:

Shareholder Communication

• strength of science and technology: the scientific and/or
technical robustness, differentiation versus competition and
depth of applicability across different therapeutic areas
• development feasibility: the technical and clinical complexity of
the development process
• market attractiveness: the magnitude of the unmet market
need and the intensity of the market competition
• management team: the experience, depth and ability of the
management team and whether Malin can complement this
experience
• value and risk: Malin’s view of the value of the business against
the asking price and whether the value upside is appropriate
relative to the riskiness of the business
• fit: the incremental benefit of the proposed acquisition or
investment to the current Malin life sciences platform either
through operational or risk diversification or complementing a
current business
Malin’s transactional diligence typically concentrates on the
financial, legal, intellectual property and taxation arrangements
of the target business. All investments involving a commitment
of greater than €5 million must be approved by the Board, while
executive management is authorised to approve transactions
below this amount.

The Chairman, CEO, CIO and CFO are the primary links between
the Board and shareholders. The Chairman is responsible for
ensuring that the views of shareholders are communicated to
the Board as a whole, and in particular to the Non-Executive
Directors. Significant matters relating to Malin are announced to
the market by way of Regulatory News Service announcements.
Such announcements also appear on Malin’s website, www.
malinplc.com.

Annual General Meeting
Formal notification and related papers are sent to all
shareholders at least 21 days before the AGM and separate
resolutions are proposed on each substantially separate
issue. For each resolution, proxy appointment forms provide
shareholders with the option to direct their proxy to vote for
or against a resolution, or to withhold their vote. Shareholders
attending the AGM are informed of the number of proxy votes
lodged for each resolution, and the number of votes for, against
or withheld respectively. Detail of proxy votes received are also
made available on Malin’s website following the AGM. Other
general meetings may also be convened from time to time
on at least 21 days’ notice or where certain requirements are
met, including prior approval by shareholders by way of special
resolution, on 14 days’ notice. The AGM gives shareholders an
opportunity to ask questions of the Chairman and, through him,
the Chairmen of the various Board Committees.

Share Dealing
As a company listed on the ESM, Malin has been subject to the
Market Abuse Regulation (“MAR”) since it became effective on
3 July 2016. During 2016, the Board adopted a revised share
dealing code to ensure compliance with MAR. Under the share
dealing code, Persons Discharging Managerial Responsibility
(“PDMRs”) and applicable employees are required to obtain
clearance before dealing in Company shares. PDMRs and
applicable employees are prohibited from dealing in Company
shares during closed periods and prohibited periods, and when
the individual is in possession of inside information.
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Audit Committee Report

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased
to present to you the report of
the Audit Committee of Malin
Corporation plc for the year ended
31 December 2016.
Overview
The Audit Committee comprises 2 Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Chairman of the Board and met on 6 occasions
during the year. The Audit Committee operates in accordance
with its Terms of Reference as adopted by the Board and which
are available on the Company’s website, www.malinplc.com.
The Audit Committee’s primary responsibility is to ensure
that the financial performance of Malin is properly monitored
and reported. The Audit Committee also has a duty to ensure
that Malin’s Annual Report and Financial Statements are
fair, balanced and understandable and that they provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess Malin’s
performance, business model and strategy.

Activities in 2016
During 2016 the Audit Committee’s primary focus continued
to be ensuring that Malin is accounting for its acquisition and
investment activity appropriately to ensure that Malin’s financial
statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial
affairs. In addition, the Audit Committee reviewed Malin’s risk
matrix and its internal control functions.
Details of the significant issues considered by the Audit
Committee in respect of Malin’s financial statements are set out
on page 55.
Liam Daniel
Chairman, Audit Committee
2 June 2017
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Major Tasks undertaken by the Audit Committee
Financial Reporting

• Consideration of the accounting policies adopted by Malin
• Consideration of the significant issues and accounting judgements in the preparation of the 2016
interim and annual financial statements (see table below)
• Consideration and review of the 2015 annual financial statements
• Consideration and review of the 2016 interim financial statements

Narrative Reporting

• Review of the content of the 2015 annual report
• Review of the content of the 2016 interim report

External Audit

• Review of the key findings of the external auditor from the year-end 2015 audit
• Review of the report from the external auditor on the key findings from their review of the 2016
interim financial statements
• Review of the external auditor plan for the year-end 2016 audit
• Re-appointment of the external auditor

Budget

• Review and recommendation to Board for approval of 2016 operating budget

Internal Controls

• Review of proposed testing of internal controls by external party

Risk

• Review of risk framework

Significant issues considered in relation to Malin’s Financial Reporting
Matters

Judgments

Accounting Policies of
Malin

The Committee considered the accounting policies adopted by Malin to ensure that the policies
adopted continued to be appropriate and in accordance with IFRS and their interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”)
and those parts of the Companies Acts 2014 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

Accounting treatment of
Malin’s investments

The Audit Committee considered the nature of each significant acquisition, investment and investee
merger transaction made by Malin during 2016, and in particular assessed the accounting treatment
to be applied to ensure that each investment is correctly accounted for and adequately disclosed
in Malin’s financial statements. The determination of the classification and hence the accounting
for each investee company under IFRS focuses on the ability of Malin to exercise control (subsidiary
companies) or significant influence (associate investment companies). Where it is determined that
Malin does not exercise control or significant influence, the investee companies are classified as
available-for-sale investments.

Malin made initial and
follow-on investments
in a number of investee
companies during 2016

The Audit Committee received comprehensive memorandums prepared by management which
outlined the proposed methodology to be applied by Malin for classifying each material investment.
In addition, the Audit Committee discussed the proposed accounting with the external auditor.
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the methodology applied to each investment and that Malin’s
financial statements appropriately account for, and adequately disclose, all investments made by the
Company in 2016.
Accounting treatment of
Malin’s options to invest
Malin holds options
to increase its equity
participation in a number of
investee companies

The Audit Committee considered the proposed method of accounting for Malin’s various
investment options to invest further capital in certain of its investee companies and reviewed
detailed memoranda on this point prepared by management. The Audit Committee agreed with
management’s recommendation that certain of the options to invest should be classified as and
accounted for as derivative financial instruments.
The Audit Committee agreed that pursuant to such accounting treatment these options were
required to be recognised at fair value on the date of the investment and subsequently re-measured
to fair value at each financial reporting date.
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External Auditor
KPMG was appointed as Malin’s external auditor in March 2015.

Audit Committee membership and attendance at
meetings in 2016

The external auditor has a standing invitation to attend the
Audit Committee’s meetings and representatives from KPMG
attended 5 of the 6 Audit Committee’s meetings in 2016. The
Audit Committee had an open relationship with the external
auditor throughout the year, particularly in respect of the
appropriate method to account for Malin’s investments and the
receipt and consideration of audit plans.

Members

Number of Meetings
Attended in 2016

Liam Daniel (Chairman)

6/6

Owen Hughes

6/6

Sean Murphy*

4/4

Kyran McLaughlin**

1/1

The Audit Committee has evaluated the work undertaken by
the external auditor during 2016, taking into account the other
services provided to Malin by KPMG, and the Audit Committee is
satisfied with their effectiveness, objectivity and independence.
The Audit Committee does not believe it is appropriate for the
external auditor to tender for the audit work at this time. The
Audit Committee will review this determination on an annual
basis.

*

Internal Financial Controls
The Audit Committee is satisfied that the level of internal
financial controls that Malin has put in place during 2016 is
appropriate for a public company, taking into account Malin’s
size and stage of development. The Committee approved the
engagement of an external party to undertake testing of certain
of Malin’s internal controls during 2016 and annually thereafter.

Risk Management
The Board retains ultimate responsibility for determining
Malin’s level of risk tolerance. The Board has approved Malin’s
Risk Management Policy and has undertaken an assessment
of the principal risks facing Malin. Detail on the risks identified
and the process by which the Board oversees risk management
is contained on pages 36 to 41. The Board has delegated
responsibility for the ongoing review of Malin’s Risk Register to
the Audit Committee.

Internal Audit
In 2016 Malin engaged an external professional services firm to
undertake internal audit reviews. The first internal audit review
took place in Quarter 4 of 2016 and the results of the internal
controls testing were presented to the Audit Committee at their
meeting in February 2017.

Confidential Disclosures (Whistleblowing) Policy
Malin does not currently have a Confidential Disclosures
(Whistleblowing) Policy in place and the Audit Committee is
satisfied that this is not required at this point given Malin’s size
and stage of development. The Audit Committee will keep
this under review on an annual basis in conjunction with the
Company Secretary.
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Retired from the Board effective 17 August 2016.

** Appointed to the Audit Committee effective 12 October 2016.

In addition to the Committee members, relevant members of
the internal finance team attend the Audit Committee meetings
by invitation. The Board considers that the Audit Committee
Chairman has sufficient recent and relevant financial experience
and that there is sufficient financial and commercial experience
within the Committee as a whole. Biographies of the members
of the Audit Committee, which set out their experience, are
contained on pages 47 and 48.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased
to present to you the report of the
Remuneration Committee of Malin
Corporation plc for the year ended
31 December 2016.
Overview
The Remuneration Committee comprises 2 Independent
Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman of the Board. The
Remuneration Committee operates in accordance with its Terms
of Reference as adopted by the Board and which are available
on Malin’s website, www.malinplc.com.

Activities in 2016
During 2016 the Remuneration Committee focused on ensuring
that appropriate incentive and remuneration arrangements were
in place to ensure that Malin’s Executive Directors and senior
management are adequately compensated given their importance
to Malin’s continued success, while ensuring alignment with
the performance of Malin, its strategic goals and the long-term
interests of shareholders. The terms of the Awards made to certain
Executive Directors, including the CEO, in July 2016 under the
2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2015 LTIP“) recognised the fact
that they were the first such awards made to those individuals.
The Committee are of the view that the level and terms of these
awards are justified given the nature and timing of the awards.

Disclosure
In line with Malin’s Directors Remuneration Report for 2015, this
report incorporates many of the features of current best practice
in respect of remuneration reporting, including a Directors’
Remuneration Policy table which explains the components of
our remuneration framework for Executive Directors and a
“single figure of remuneration” for each Director for 2016. This
demonstrates the Company’s commitment to high standards of
disclosure and transparency in respect of remuneration.

Shareholder Vote
This Directors’ Remuneration Report will be put to a shareholder
‘advisory’ vote at Malin’s 2017 AGM. While there is no legal
obligation on the Company to put such a resolution to
shareholders, the Remuneration Committee and the Board
believes that this is in line with best practice and recognises
the importance of engagement with shareholders in respect of
Directors’ Remuneration.
Kieran McGowan
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
2 June 2017
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Principal Responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee

Remuneration Committee Membership and
Attendance

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee as
described in detail in its Terms of Reference include:

Members

• Determine and agree with the Board the framework for the
remuneration of the Executive Directors.

Number of Meetings
Attended in 2016

Kieran McGowan (Chairman)

4/4

John Given*

4/4

Liam Daniel

4/4

Kyran McLaughlin**

3/3

• Recommend and monitor the level and structure of
remuneration for senior management.
• Ensure that a significant proportion of Malin’s remuneration
is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance as well as Company strategy and is designed to
promote the long-term success of the Company.
• Approve the design of all performance related pay plans
operated by Malin and approve the total annual payments
made under such plans.
• Review of the design of all share incentive schemes prior to
recommendation to the Board for approval and determine
whether awards will be made, and if so, the overall amount
of such awards, the individual awards to Executive Directors,
the Company Secretary and senior management, and the
applicable performance targets.
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is approved by the
Board.

Key areas of focus for the Remuneration Committee
during 2016
• Consideration and recommendation of appropriate
remuneration and incentive arrangements for Executive
Directors and senior management;
• Review and approval of Company objectives for 2016 in the
context of the Annual Cash Bonus Plan.
In February 2017 the Remuneration Committee, and
subsequently the Board, approved the establishment of an
Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP is designed to
provide Malin employees with an opportunity to acquire Malin
shares through accumulated payroll deductions and/or lump
sum amounts at an effective 15% discount through an Employee
Trust arrangement. The ESPP commenced with effect from 1
March 2017.
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*

Retired from the Board effective 31 December 2016.

** Appointed to the Remuneration Committee effective 26 April 2016.

The Board considers that the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee has recent and relevant financial and commercial
experience for the role and that there is sufficient financial and
commercial experience within the Remuneration Committee
as a whole. Biographies of the members of the Remuneration
Committee, which set out their experience, are contained on
pages 47 to 48.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report
Malin’s policy on Executive Director remuneration is designed to reward, retain and motivate the Executive Directors to perform in
the best interests of shareholders. The components of the remuneration and incentive arrangements for Executive Directors and
senior management are set out in the table below.
Element

Purpose and link to Malin’s Strategy and Operation

Maximum Opportunity

Performance Metrics

Base Salary

To provide an appropriate level of fixed remuneration
to reflect the skills and experience of the individual,
and which is sufficient to attract and retain individuals
of the necessary calibre to execute the Company’s
strategy.

There is no prescribed
maximum. Salaries will be
reviewed annually by the
Remuneration Committee,
having regard to personal
performance, Company
performance and market
practice, as well as reflecting
any changes in the scope of
roles and responsibilities.

Individual
and Company
performance are
considered in setting
base salary.

Pension

To provide a market competitive pension package.

Up to 15% of base salary for
Ireland and UK based Executive
Directors. 6% of base salary for
US based Executive Directors.

Not performance
related.

There is no prescribed
maximum. The level of benefits
is set at an appropriate
market rate and is reviewed
periodically.

Not performance
related.

Pension contributions are calculated on basic salary
only. Contributions are made into the Company’s
defined contribution pension scheme, an individual’s
personal pension plan or the Company’s 401(K) plan in
the US.
Benefits

To provide a market competitive level of benefits.
The benefits currently provided by the Company
comprise a contribution towards the cost of health
insurance and benefits under the Company’s group
risk schemes including death in service cover and
long-term disability cover.

Annual Cash
Bonus Plan

To reward individuals for their performance on the
achievement of annual individual and Company goals.

Total annual aggregate
Company bonus pool not
to exceed 100% of annual
Rewards are based on a combination of individual and aggregate base salaries. The
Company performance metrics.
Remuneration Committee sets
the size of the total bonus pool
The Annual Cash Bonus Plan contains clawback
on an annual basis and approves
provisions in the event of material breach of service
the individual awards to
contract or material error in the performance of duties Executive Directors and senior
by a participant.
management.

Company goals
and objectives are
approved by the
Remuneration
Committee. Awards
are determined by
the Remuneration
Committee based on
actual performance
against the Company
and individual targets.
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Element

Purpose and link to Malin’s Strategy and Operation

Maximum Opportunity

Performance Metrics

Long Term
Incentive Plan

To advance Malin’s interests and those of its
shareholders by providing a means to reward, retain
and motivate employees, consultants and Directors,
to recognise individual contributions and reward
achievement of performance goals, and to promote
the creation of long-term value for shareholders by
aligning the interest of participants with those of
shareholders.

The maximum annual award
under the 2015 LTIP rules is
250% of salary, unless the
Remuneration Committee
decides that exceptional
circumstances exist to justify a
waiver of such limit.

Performance targets
(if applicable) for
the vesting of
awards are set by
the Remuneration
Committee at the
time of grant of
awards.

The 2015 LTIP came into effect on 1 November 2015.
It is anticipated that awards under the 2015 LTIP
will be made annually. Awards may also be made to
some individuals on joining the Company or on the
occurrence of other specific events. Under the 2015
LTIP, the Remuneration Committee has the ability to
make awards in the form of share options, Restricted
Shares, Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) and Share
Appreciation Rights (“SARs”).
Generally, an award will lapse on cessation of
employment. However, in certain circumstances1
the award will not lapse. On a change of control of
the Company, the Remuneration Committee has a
range of options available to it in respect of existing
awards, including: (i) acceleration of vesting, exercise
or cessation of restrictions; (ii) agree that outstanding
awards will be assumed or substituted by the surviving
company or its parent; (iii) to make payment of a cash
settlement to participants equal, per share, to the
amount to be paid for one share under the agreement
of merger or takeover terms; or (iv) to otherwise vary
the outstanding awards on such conditions as the
Committee may decide.

Unless otherwise resolved
by shareholders in a general
meeting, no more than 5%
of the issued share capital of
the Company may be issued
or reserved in aggregate for
issuance under the 2015 LTIP
and any other share scheme
operated by the Company over
any 10 year period, including
the 2015 Long Term Bonus Plan
(“2015 LTBP“).

The 2015 LTIP contains clawback provisions for
material misstatement of accounts or material
wrongdoing by a participant.

1. Including health reasons (as defined), redundancy, voluntary severance or otherwise at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.
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Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) Targets in the November 2015 Awards under the 2015 LTIP
€ 15.00

Malin Share Price

€ 14.00

3

2. The second tranche of RSUs are due to vest in Quarter 2 of
2017 as Malin achieved a TSR of 10% between the grant
date and 1 February 2017.

€ 13.00
€ 12.00
€ 11.00

2

3. The third tranche of RSUs will vest if Malin achieves a TSR
of 25% between the grant date and 1 February 2018. This
infers Malin having a share price of €13.191 on 1 February
2018 for the awards to vest. If the third tranche TSR target is
not achieved, the third tranche of RSUs will lapse.

1

€ 10.00
Nov-15

Feb-17

1. Base price of €10.55 per share on which TSR targets are set.
One third of the total awards granted vested on 2 November
2015 (the grant date).

Feb-18

TSR Targets in the May 2016 Awards2 under the 2015 LTIP
€ 19.00
3

Malin Share Price

€ 18.00

2. The second tranche of RSUs did not vest as Malin did not
achieve a TSR of 10% between the grant date and 12 May
2017.

€ 17.00
2

€ 16.00
€ 15.00

1

€ 14.00
May-16

May-17

1. Base price of €14.31 per share on which TSR targets are set.
One third of the total awards granted vested on 12 May 2016
(the grant date).

May-18

3. The third tranche of RSUs will vest if Malin achieves a TSR of
25% between the grant date and 12 May 2018. This infers
Malin having a share price of €17.881 on 12 May 2018 for the
awards to vest. If the third tranche TSR target is achieved, the
second tranche of RSUs will vest alongside the third tranche
of RSUs. If the third tranche target is not achieved, the second
tranche and third tranche of RSUs will lapse.

1. As well as share price appreciation, all other distributions to shareholders are taken into account in calculating the TSR achieved by Malin during the vesting period. TSR is
defined in Malin’s Constitution and the share price appreciation element is calculated using a volume weighted average of the reported trade price for an Ordinary Share (as
derived from the Irish Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the 20 Business Days immediately preceding the day on which the TSR is due to be calculated.
2. Awards under the 2015 LTIP were made to the majority of employees in May 2016. Awards to certain Executive Directors were made in July 2016. Information in respect of the
July 2016 awards are set out in the table on page 65. No performance targets were applied to the awards made in July 2016 due to the nature and timing of those awards.
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Element

Purpose and link to Malin’s Strategy and
Operation

Maximum Opportunity Performance Metrics

Long Term
Bonus Plan

To advance Malin’s interests and those of
its shareholders by providing a means to
reward, retain and motivate employees,
consultants and Executive Directors
for the achievement of stretching TSR
performance and to promote the creation
of long-term value for shareholders
by strongly aligning the interests of
participants with those of shareholders.

8.5% of the actual
TSR if the TSR
thresholds are
achieved.

The 2015 LTBP came into effect on 1
November 2015. This is an incentive bonus
plan whereby on achievement by Malin of
a significant level of TSR out-performance
over a prescribed period, a bonus pool
of 8.5% of the actual TSR achieved in
the relevant period will be created for
distribution to participants. The Bonus
Pool may be distributed in cash, Company
shares, in specie distribution of assets, or a
combination of these 3 elements.
The 2015 LTBP contains clawback
provisions in the event of material breach
of service contract or material error in the
performance of duties by a participant and
for material misstatement of accounts.

On achievement of 100% TSR in the 3-year
period from the commencement date (1
November 2015), a bonus pool of 8.5%
of actual TSR achieved will be created for
distribution to participants. If creation of
the bonus pool is not triggered after 3
years, the TSR is re-tested after years 4 and
5 (assuming TSR threshold not achieved in
previous year), with appropriate step ups in
the TSR targets as follows:
• Year 4: Bonus Pool created if 125% TSR
achieved;
• Year 5: Bonus Pool created if 150% TSR
achieved.
The baseline share price for the calculation
of TSR is defined in the 2015 LTBP as the
volume weighted average of the reported
trade price (“VWAP”) for the Company’s
shares for the 20 Business Days immediately
preceding 1 November 2015, which was
€10.63. The TSR targets for the LTBP are set
out below.

TSR Targets under the 2015 LTBP
€ 30.00

4

€ 25.00
Malin Share Price

2

3

2. First Calculation Period – the 2015 LTBP will vest if a TSR of
100% has been achieved between the commencement date
of 1 November 2015 and 31 October 2018. This infers Malin
having a share price of €21.261 on this date.

€ 20.00
€ 15.00

3. Second Calculation Period – if the 2015 LTBP does not vest
on the first calculation period, it will vest if a TSR of 125%
has been achieved between the commencement date of
1 November 2015 and 31 October 2019. This infers Malin
having a share price of €23.921 on this date.

1
€ 10.00
€ 5.00
Programme

Preclinical

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

IMCgp100

IMCgp100 + Lilly2
Other internal

Registration

Indication

Uveal melanoma

IMCgp100+AZ1

Cutaneous melanoma

Nov-15

Various
Various

Co-development3

NSCLC/Bladder Cancer/
Synovial sarcoma

Co-development4

Various

1. Base price of €10.63 per share on which 2015 LTBP TSR
targets are set.

Nov-18

Nov-19

Nov-20

4. Third Calculation Period – if the 2015 LTBP does not vest on
the first or second calculation periods, it will vest if a TSR
of 150% has been between the commencement date of 1
November 2015 and on 31 October 2020. This infers Malin
having a share price of €26.581 on this date.

1. As well as share price appreciation, all other distributions to shareholders are taken into account in calculating the TSR achieved by Malin during the relevant period. TSR
is defined in Malin’s Constitution, and the share price appreciation element is calculated using a volume weighted average of the reported trade price for an Ordinary Share
(as derived from the Irish Stock Exchange Daily Official List) for the 20 Business Days immediately preceding the day on which the TSR is due to be calculated.
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Notes to the Directors Remuneration Policy Report
Malin’s practice with regard to the remuneration of senior executives immediately below the level of Executive Director is consistent
with€ the
15.00Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors. These executives are eligible to participate in the Annual Cash Bonus Plan, the
2015 LTIP and 2015 LTBP and all have a significant portion of their remuneration package linked to Malin’s performance.
€ 14.00
Malin Share Price

Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy
€ 13.00

Element

Purpose and Link to Malin’s strategy and Operation

€ 12.00

Non-Executive
Director
€ 11.00Fees

1

€ 10.00
Nov-15

€ 19.00
€ 18.00
Malin Share Price

3

€ 17.00
€ 16.00
€ 15.00

1

2

To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the required skills
and experience and reward them for fulfilling the relevant role.

Applicable Fees

Fees as at 1 January 2017 were:
Chairman fee: €125,000

In addition to the base fee, Non-Executive Directors, other
than the Chairman of the Board, are paid additional fees for
Feb-17
Feb-18
memberships of Board
Committees. Fees
for Non-Executive
Directors are set by the Board (excluding the Non-Executive
Directors).
Non-Executive Directors are entitled to participate in the
Company’s 2015 LTIP. In July 2016 the Board approved an annual
grant of RSUs to each Non-Executive Director. Under the term of
the grants, the RSUs will vest on the earlier
3 of: (i) 10 years from
the date of grant; or (ii) 90 days after the individual ceases to be a
Director. An award will lapse in the event that the Director ceases
to be a Director of Malin within 12 months from the date of
2
grant, unless the Board
resolves that such award shall not lapse.
The awards made to Non-Executive Directors do not contain
performance related elements. No Non-Executive Director had
any role in determining their own award.

Base Director fee: €50,000
Audit Committee Chairmanship fee: €20,000
Audit Committee Membership fee: €15,000
Other Committee Chairmanship fee: €10,000
Other Committee Membership fee: €7,500
Lead Independent Non-Executive Director
fee: €10,000

€ 14.00

Letters ofMay-16
Appointment

May-17

May-18

Each of the Non-Executive Directors has been appointed pursuant to the terms of a Non-Executive Appointment Letter. Each
appointment is for an initial term of 3 years, is subject to election by the Company’s shareholders at the first AGM following
appointment and to re-election at any subsequent AGM at which either the Constitution of the Company require, or the Board of
the Company resolves, that the Non-Executive Director stand for re-election. All of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors were
re-elected at the Malin’s 2016 AGM.
Non-Executive Directors are typically expected to serve two 3-year terms but may be invited by the Board to serve for an additional
period. Any term renewal is subject to review by the Board and Nominations Committee and re-election at the Company’s AGM.
Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to any compensation in the event of loss of office.
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Director Remuneration for 2016
The following table summarises the remuneration received by the Directors of the Company, in their role as Directors, in respect of
the 12-month period ending 31 December 2016:
Base Salary/
Fees (1)
€’000

Pension (2)
€’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

LTIP/ Equity-based
Benefits (3) Cash Bonus (4) Remuneration (5)
€’000
€’000
€’000

Total
(€’000)

Chairman
Kyran McLaughlin*

Executive Directors
Kelly Martin**

334

-

38

-

2,651

3,023

Adrian Howd

393

38

7

-

252

690

Darragh Lyons

210

21

240

-

100

571

John Given (retired 31 December 2016)

483

68

6

483

2,606

3,646

Liam Daniel

98

-

-

-

-

98

Owen Hughes

80

-

-

-

-

80

Robert A. Ingram

58

-

-

-

-

58

Kieran McGowan

67

-

-

-

-

67

Uwe Bicker (retired 26 April 2016)

16

-

-

-

-

16

Sean Murphy (retired 17 August 2016)

41

-

-

-

-

41

1,780

127

291

483

5,609

8,290

Non-Executive Directors

Total
*

Mr McLaughlin waived his Directors’ fees for 2016.

** Mr Martin’s salary was amended with effect from 1 August 2016 and from such date it consists of: (i) an annual cash salary of $75,000 and a Director’s fee of €20,000; and
(ii) the issue of 150,000 Ordinary Shares in Malin annually (none of these shares, in respect of 2016, have been issued).

1. Base salary for Executive Directors comprises Directors’ fees and salary paid by the Group.
2. Pension represents Company contributions to the Company’s defined contribution pension scheme, an individual’s approved
personal pension plan or the Company’s 401(K) plan.
3. Benefits comprise a contribution towards the cost of health insurance and benefits under the Company’s group risk schemes
including death in service cover and long term disability cover. Mr Lyons relocated to the Company’s US office during 2016 and the
Company incurred relocation costs which, including tax gross-up, are recorded as a benefit.
4. Cash bonus represents the value of the bonus awarded in respect of 2016 under the Company’s Annual Cash Bonus Plan. The
Remuneration Committee has approved the following bonus awards for Executive Directors in respect of 2016 under the Annual Cash
Bonus Plan but has deferred payment of such bonus amounts until specific additional Company milestones have been achieved: Adrian
Howd (€312k); Darragh Lyons (€267k); and Kelly Martin who has agreed to receive his cash bonus in shares (75,000 shares).
5. LTIP represents awards made under the 2015 LTIP that vested during 2016. The value shown has been calculated based on the
Company’s closing share price on the date of vesting. Details on the 2015 LTIP awards made to Directors in 2016 are presented in
the tables on page 65. The fair value of Mr Martin’s equity-based remuneration at 31 December 2016 was €804k which was due
but has not yet been issued.

Employment Agreements
The Executive Directors have employment agreements containing notice periods not exceeding 6 months (the “Employment
Agreement(s)”). The current Employment Agreements with Kelly Martin and Adrian Howd were entered into on 21 August 2015.
The current Employment Agreement with Darragh Lyons was entered into on 2 November 2015. All of the Employment Agreements
contain an entitlement to notice and payment in lieu of notice. Under the Employment Agreements, if an individual’s employment
is terminated without cause, or if certain specified events occur in respect of the individual’s employment within 12 months of a
change of control of the Company, then the Company will be obliged to pay the relevant individual a severance payment. In respect
of Mr Martin and Dr Howd, the severance payment shall be equal to 2 times their gross annual salary and bonus earned in the year
preceding the relevant trigger event. In respect of Mr Lyons, the severance payment shall be equal to 1 time his gross annual salary
and bonus earned in the year preceding the relevant trigger event.
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Company Appointments to Investee Company Boards
In situations where Directors of the Company serve on the boards of investee companies they generally do not receive a fee for
such service. The Company is generally reimbursed by investee companies for travel and other expenses reasonably incurred by its
appointees in connection with their attendance at board meetings of investee companies. Novan was an exception to this general
policy in 2016, the details of which are included in note 30 to the financial statements.

LTIP Awards
The table below contains details of the awards made to Executive Directors during 2016 under the 2015 LTIP:
Directors

Type of
Award

Number of RSUs
Awarded

Kelly Martin

RSUs

Adrian Howd

Market Price on Date
of Grant

Vesting Thresholds

Vesting Period

196,348 RSUs

2/3 on grant; 1/3 subject to
temporal vesting

22 July 2016 – 22 July
2017

€14.11

RSUs

52,928 RSUs

1/3 on grant; 2/3 subject to
subject to TSR performance
thresholds and temporal
vesting

12 May 2016 – 12 May
2018

€14.31

Darragh Lyons

RSUs

20,877 RSUs

1/3 on grant; 2/3 subject to
subject to TSR performance
thresholds and temporal
vesting

12 May 2016 – 12 May
2018

€14.31

John Given*

RSUs

196,348 RSUs

2/3 on grant; 1/3 subject to
temporal vesting

22 July 2016 – 22 July
2017**

€14.11

*

Mr Given retired as a Director with effect from 31 December 2016.

** Mr Given’s 2016 LTIP Award was subject to accelerated vesting on his retirement as a Director on 31 December 2016.

The table below contains details of the awards made to Non-Executive Directors during 2016 under the 2015 LTIP. No performance
targets are applied to any awards made to Non-Executive Directors.
Directors

Type of
Award

Number of RSUs
Awarded

Vesting Thresholds

Vesting Period

Market Price on Date
of Grant

Kyran McLaughlin RSUs

20,000 RSUs

100% of award
subject to temporal
vesting

Earlier of: (i) 10 years from the
date of grant; or (ii) 90 days
after ceasing to be a Director.

€14.11

Kieran McGowan

RSUs

20,000 RSUs

100% of award
subject to temporal
vesting

Earlier of: (i) 10 years from the
date of grant; or (ii) 90 days
after ceasing to be a Director.

€14.11

Liam Daniel

RSUs

20,000 RSUs

100% of award
subject to temporal
vesting

Earlier of: (i) 10 years from the
date of grant; or (ii) 90 days
after ceasing to be a Director.

€14.11

Robert A. Ingram

RSUs

20,000 RSUs

100% of award
subject to temporal
vesting

Earlier of: (i) 10 years from the
date of grant; or (ii) 90 days
after ceasing to be a Director.

€14.11

Owen Hughes

RSUs

20,000 RSUs

100% of award
subject to temporal
vesting

Earlier of: (i) 10 years from the
date of grant; or (ii) 90 days
after ceasing to be a Director.

€14.11
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Directors’ and Company Secretary’s Share Interests
Shares Unvested RSUs
beneficially
under 2015
owned as at
LTIP as at
1 January 2016 1 January 2016

Shares Unvested RSUs
beneficially
under 2015
owned as at
LTIP as at
31 December 31 December
2016
2016

Shares Unvested RSUs
beneficially
under 2015
owned as at
LTIP as at
1 June 2017
1 June 2017

Directors
Kyran McLaughlin

50,000

-

80,000

20,000

200,000

20,000

Kelly Martin*

2,580,569

-

1,978,915

65,449

1,988,915

65,449

Adrian Howd

34,942

131,856

44,292

167,142

46,539

167,142

8,478

18,467

15,995

32,385

19,367

32,385

Liam Daniel

10,000

-

10,000

20,000

10,000

20,000

Kieran McGowan

14,099

-

14,099

20,000

14,099

20,000

Robert A. Ingram

17,406

-

17,406

20,000

17,406

20,000

Owen Hughes

11,373

-

11,373

20,000

11,373

20,000

John Given**

60,007

-

358,272

-

N/A

N/A

6,751

10,772

8,699

18,890

8,699

18,890

Darragh Lyons

Company Secretary
Padraic Roche

* At 31 December 2016, 1,114,488 Ordinary Shares of the Company held by corporate entities are regarded as being a disclosable interest on behalf of Mr Martin pursuant
to Section 258(d) of the Companies Act, 2014 as Mr Martin is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one third or more of the voting power at general meetings of
these entities.
In addition to the share interests of Mr Martin at 31 December 2016 and 1 June 2017, which are outlined in the table above, Mr Martin’s remuneration package comprises of
equity-based remuneration (the details of which are outlined on page 64) which entitles Mr Martin to an additional 62,500 shares at 31 December 2016 and a further 62,500
shares for the 5-month period from 01 January 2017 to 1 June 2017.
** Mr Given retired as a Director with effect from 31 December 2016.
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Nominations Committee Report

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased
to present to you the report of the
Nominations Committee of Malin
Corporation plc for the year ended
31 December 2016.
Overview
The Nominations Committee comprises of 3 Independent NonExecutive Directors and the Chairman of the Company. The
Nominations Committee operates in accordance with its Terms
of Reference as adopted by the Board and which are available
on the Company’s website, www.malinplc.com.
The Nominations Committee’s primary roles are nominating
candidates for all Board vacancies and regularly reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and its Committees, and making
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes.

Activities in 2016
The main business conducted by the Nominations Committee
was the consideration of the appointment of a new Chairman
of the Board, undertaking the first annual CEO Evaluation and
reviewing the composition of the Board in conjunction with the
Board evaluation process.
Kyran McLaughlin
Chairman, Nominations Committee
2 June 2017
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Principal Responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Nominations Committee as
outlined in its Terms of Reference include:

Nominations Committee membership and
attendance at meetings in 2016
Members

Number of Meetings
Attended in 2016

John Given (Chairman)*

2/2

• Assessment of the effectiveness and performance of the
Board and each of its Committees including the balance of
skills, experience, independence and knowledge;

Robert A. Ingram

2/2

Owen Hughes

2/2

• Succession planning for Directors and senior management of
the Company;

Kieran McGowan

2/2

Kyran McLaughlin**

N/A

• Regular review of the structure, size and composition of the
Board and recommendation to the Board with regard to any
changes;

• Identification and nomination to the Board for approval,
candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise;
• Conducting evaluations of the Chairman of the Board and
the CEO.

Board Evaluation
During 2016 the Nominations Committee, in conjunction
with the Chairman of Governance and Conflicts Committee,
approved the framework of an internally facilitated Board
evaluation process. The key elements of the evaluation process
were (i) the circulation of a questionnaire of the focus areas for
evaluation to each Non-Executive Director and (ii) the Chairman
of Governance and Conflicts Committee meeting with each
Non-Executive Director individually to get feedback on the
questionnaire. The Chairman of the Governance and Conflicts
Committee then reported his findings to the Board in executive
session for its consideration. The Board evaluation process took
place during Quarter 1 of 2017 and details are set out in the
Report of the Governance and Conflicts Committee on pages 69
to 70.

Review of Board Composition
In conjunction with the Board evaluation process overseen by
the Chairman of the Governance and Conflicts Committee,
the Committee undertook a review of the composition of the
Board in February 2017. The Committee was of the view that
the Board should not drop below its current size, which was
seen as having the minimum number of Directors required
to function effectively. The Committee made a number of
recommendations to the Board in respect of potential new
Directors and it is anticipated that a number of new Directors
will be appointed during 2017.
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*

Retired from the Board effective 31 December 2016

** Appointed Committee Chairman effective 1 January 2017
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Governance and Conflicts Committee Report

Dear Shareholder,
On behalf of the Board, I am pleased
to present to you the report of the
Governance and Conflicts (“G&C”)
Committee of Malin Corporation
plc for the year ended 31 December
2016.
Overview
The G&C Committee comprises 2 Independent Non-Executive
Directors. The G&C Committee operates in accordance with
its Terms of Reference as adopted by the Board and which are
available on the Company’s website, www.malinplc.com.
The G&C Committee’s primary role is to oversee Malin’s
compliance with its Corporate Governance Guidelines and
relevant corporate governance codes, and to provide oversight
and supervision on the Company’s Code of Conduct and
Conflicts of Interest Policy. Under the G&C Committee’s Terms
of Reference, it is also charged with ensuring that an annual
Board self-evaluation takes place.

Activities in 2016
The main business conducted by the G&C Committee in 2016
was undertaking the consideration of the termination by
Malin of the Operating Services and Corporate Relationship
Agreement between Malin and the Brandon Point Industries
group (“BPI Group”), the fee payable under that Agreement
for the first 6 months of the year, the sale of the business and
assets of Emba Medical and Emba Neuro to NeuVT, and the
consideration of the terms of Malin’s investment in NeuVT. The
G&C Committee also oversaw the Board evaluation process in
Quarter 1 of 2017.

Liam Daniel
Chairman, Governance and Conflicts Committee
2 June 2017

69

Governance

Governance and Conflicts Committee Report (continued)

Review of Operating Services and Corporate
Relationships Agreement
In order to maintain a flexible and cost efficient infrastructure,
at the time of its IPO the Company decided to outsource
certain functions and accordingly entered into an Operating
Services and Corporate Relationships Agreement (the
“Operating Services Agreement”) with the Brandon Point
Industries Group (the “BPI Group”) on 19 March 2015. Under
the Operating Services Agreement, the BPI Group provided a
range of corporate, administrative and operational back-office
services to the Company. At its meeting in August 2016 the
Committee reviewed and approved a proposal by the Company’s
management to directly engage the services it had previously
received under the Operating Services Agreement and to
terminate the Operating Services Agreement with effect from
1 July 2016. The Committee also reviewed and approved the
services provided by the BPI Group to the Company during the
period from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016, and the associated
fee invoiced to the Company.

Review of NeuVT Investment
The G&C Committee reviewed the terms of the proposed sale
of the business and assets of Emba Medical and Emba Neuro to
NeuVT, and the consideration of the terms of Malin’s investment
in NeuVT. In particular, the Committee noted that the BPI
Group would hold approximately 20% of NeuVT following the
Company’s investment.
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Board Evaluation
The Chairman of the G&C Committee led an internally facilitated
Board evaluation process in Quarter 1 of 2017. The key elements
of the evaluation process were the circulation of a questionnaire
of the focus areas for evaluation to each Non-Executive Director
and the Chairman of the G&C Committee subsequently meeting
with each Non-Executive Director individually to get feedback on
the questionnaire. The findings were then reported to the Board
in executive session. The overall results of the Board evaluation
were very positive, and the key findings and recommendations
are set out below:
• Frequency of Board meetings, quality of materials provided
to Board and openness of Board discussions all found to be
extremely satisfactory;
• Relationship between Executive and Non-Executive Directors
and between the Chairman and CEO deemed to be excellent;
• Board size should not drop below current size which is seen as
the minimum required;
• Lack of gender diversity on Board should be addressed if
possible;
• Appointment of additional Directors with certain specific
backgrounds deemed to be desirable.

Governance and Conflicts Committee membership
and attendance at meetings in 2016
Members

Number of Meetings
Attended in 2016

Liam Daniel (Chairman)

1/1

Owen Hughes

1/1
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present the Directors’
report and the consolidated
financial statements of Malin
Corporation plc and its subsidiary
companies for the year ended
31 December 2016.
Accounting Records
The Directors believe that they have complied with the
requirements of Section 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014
with regard to accounting records by employing personnel with
appropriate expertise and by providing adequate resources
to the financial function. The accounts of the Company are
maintained at its registered office: 2 Harbour Square, Crofton
Road, Dun Laoghaire, Co. Dublin.

Dividends
There were no dividends paid or proposed by the Company
during 2016.

Going Concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company, and the Group as a whole, has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
In making this assessment, the Directors have considered
that Malin’s capital position, and its ability to invest in new or
existing assets, may be impacted by a number of potential
value inflection points during 2017 which could result in capital
inflows as well as the potential inflows from raising additional
debt or equity capital. The Company’s cash position is also
supported by the completion of a placing of 2.7 million Malin
shares in May 2017 raising gross proceeds of €27.0 million.

Directors Statement on Relevant Audit Information
Each of the persons who are Directors at the time when this
Directors’ report is approved has confirmed that: (i) so far as
that Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the company’s auditors are unaware; and (ii) that Director
has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a
director in order to be aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report
and the Company and Group financial statements in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Under the Companies Act
2014, the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial
statements each year in accordance with IFRS as adopted by
the EU and they have elected to prepare the Company financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their interpretations
approved by the IASB as adopted by the EU and those parts
of the Companies Act 2014 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.
Under the Companies Act 2014, the Directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position
of the Company and the Group of their profit and loss for the
period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are
required to:
• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;
• State that the Financial Statements comply with IFRS
as adopted by the EU as applied in accordance with the
Companies Act 2014;
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time,
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss
of the Company, and which enable them to ensure that the
financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance
with applicable IFRS as adopted by the EU and comply with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2014, and as regards the Group
Financial Statements, Article 4 of IAS Regulation.
The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included in the Group’s and Company’s website, www.malinplc.
com. Legislation in Ireland concerning the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
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Directors Compliance Statement
The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for
securing compliance by Malin with its Relevant Obligations as
defined in the Companies Act 2014 (the “Relevant Obligations”).
The Directors confirm that they have drawn up and adopted a
compliance policy statement setting out the Company’s policies
that, in the Directors’ opinion, are appropriate to the Company
in respect of compliance by the Company with its Relevant
Obligations. The Directors further confirm the Company has
put in place appropriate arrangements or structures that are, in
the Directors’ opinion, designed to secure material compliance
with its Relevant Obligations including reliance on the advice
of qualified accounting, legal and tax professionals employed
by Malin and external legal and tax advisers as considered
appropriate from time to time and that they have reviewed the
effectiveness of these arrangements or structures during 2016.

Except as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of and has not
received any notification from any institution or person confirming
that such institution or person is interested, directly or indirectly,
in 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company, nor is it
aware of any person who directly or indirectly, jointly or severally,
exercises or could exercise control over the Company.

Political Donations
The Company did not make any donations disclosable under the
Electoral Act 1997 during 2016.

Other Information
Other information relevant to the Directors’ Report may be
found in the following sections of the annual report:
Information

Location in Annual Report

Board of Directors

The auditor, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, was appointed to
the Company in 2015 in accordance with Section 384 of the
Companies Act 2014 and, in accordance with Section 383(2) of
the Companies Act 2014, will continue in office. A resolution
authorising the Directors to fix the auditor remuneration will be
proposed at the Company’s 2017 AGM.

Governance and Conflicts
Report
– Pages 69 to 70

Principal activities, business
review and likely future
developments

Chairman’s Letter;
Chief Executive’s Review;
Operating Review
– Pages 4 to 44

Substantial Holdings

Principal Risks and
Uncertainties

Risk Management
– Pages 36 to 41

Results

Financial Statements
– Pages 73 to 134

Corporate Governance

Governance and Conflicts
Report
– Pages 69 to 70

Directors Remuneration

Directors’ Remuneration
Report
– Pages 57 to 66

Interests of the Directors and
Company Secretary in the
share capital of the Company

Directors’ Remuneration
Report
– Pages 57 to 66

Subsidiaries

Financial Statements
– Page 101

Events after the Balance Sheet
Date

Financial Statements
– Page 124

Auditor

The issued share capital of the Company as at 1 June 2017
consisted of 42,325,225 Ordinary Shares (31 December 2016:
39,626,086 Ordinary Shares). Each Ordinary Share has a nominal
value of €0.001. All Ordinary Shares have equal voting and
dividend rights. All shareholdings in excess of 3% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 1 June 2017, insofar as the
Company is aware, are set out in the table below:
Name

% of Issued Share
Capital

Woodford Investment Managers

24.40%

UK Pension Protection Fund

11.96%

Ireland Strategic Investment Fund

11.81%

Reedy Creek Investments LLC

11.38%

Aviva Global Investors

7.14%

Peter Löscher

5.13%

Kelly Martin*

4.70%

On behalf of the Board:

* 1,114,488 shares (representing 2.63% of the issued share capital) held by corporate
entities are regarded as being disclosable interests on behalf of Mr. Martin pursuant to
section 258(d) of the Companies Act, 2014.

Kelly Martin
CEO
2 June 2017
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Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report to Malin Corporation plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements
(the “financial statements”) of Malin Corporation plc for the
year ended 31 December 2016 which comprise the Group
statement of comprehensive income, the Group and Company
statements of financial position, the Group and Company
statements of changes in equity, the Group statement of
cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
adopted by the European Union and in respect of the Company
financial statements, Irish law and FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework.

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit
1. Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016 and of its loss for the year then ended;
• the Company financial statements give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as
at 31 December 2016;
• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;
• the Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework; and
• the Group financial statements and Company financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Acts 2014.

74

2. Our conclusions on other matters on which we are
required to report by the Companies Act 2014 are set out
below:
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we
consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were
sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and
properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement
with the accounting records.
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is
consistent with the financial statements.
3. We have nothing to report in respect of matters on which
we are required to report by exception
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) (UK and Ireland)
require that we report to you if, based on the knowledge we
acquired during our audit, we have identified information in
the annual report that contains a material inconsistency with
either that knowledge or the financial statements, a material
misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading.
In addition, the Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and
transactions required by sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not
made.
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Basis of our report, responsibilities and restrictions
on use
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities set out on page 71, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise
comply with the Companies Act 2014. Our responsibility is
to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with Irish law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply
with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

Whilst an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK and
Ireland) is designed to provide reasonable assurance of
identifying material misstatements or omissions it is not
guaranteed to do so. Rather the auditor plans the audit to
determine the extent of testing needed to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of
uncorrected and undetected misstatements does not exceed
materiality for the financial statements as a whole. This testing
requires us to conduct significant audit work on a broad range
of assets, liabilities, income and expense as well as devoting
significant time of the most experienced members of the audit
team, in particular the engagement partner responsible for the
audit, to subjective areas of the accounting and reporting.

An audit undertaken in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland)
involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes
an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group and Company’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies, we consider the implications for our report.

Sean O’Keefe
2 June 2017
for and on behalf of
KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Stokes Place
St. Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Period from incorporation
on 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015

Notes

Year ended
31 December
2016
€’m

Excluding
Including
Company
Company
Company
Establishment Establishment Establishment
Costs Costs (note 6)
Costs
€’m
€’m
€’m

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

4
6

42.1
(30.6)
11.5

22.9
(19.3)
3.6

Research and development expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating loss

6
6

(5.1)
(62.6)
(56.2)

(2.7)
(29.3)
(28.4)

11

(26.4)

(5.9)

-

(5.9)

2.4

-

2.4

Share of net losses of associate undertakings
Net gain on change in equity ownership of associate
undertakings
Fair value movements on derivative assets and
liabilities
Net finance expense
Loss before tax
Income tax
Loss after tax for the year/period
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
owners of the parent (euro per share)

76

11

-

(17.1)
(17.1)

22.9
(19.3)
3.6
(2.7)
(46.4)
(45.5)

15
9

(1.3)
(2.4)
(86.3)

(0.8)
(32.7)

(17.1)

(0.8)
(49.8)

10

28

(0.3)
(86.6)
(83.5)
(3.1)

0.2
(32.5)
(27.8)
(4.7)

(17.1)
(17.1)
-

0.2
(49.6)
(44.9)
(4.7)

24

(€2.12)

-

-

(€1.63)
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Period from incorporation
on 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015

Notes

Net loss for the period
Other comprehensive income/loss (“OCI”):
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to income statement
Foreign currency translation differences
Share of OCI of associate undertakings – foreign
currency translation
Available-for-sale investments – fair value movement
Available-for-sale investments – foreign currency
translation
Other comprehensive gain/(loss) for the period
Total comprehensive loss for the period
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Year ended
31 December
2016
€’m

Excluding
Including
Company
Company
Company
Establishment Establishment Establishment
Costs Costs (note 6)
Costs
€’m
€’m
€’m

(86.6)

(32.5)

0.1

0.3

-

0.3

11
12

(9.3)
9.3

(2.4)
-

-

(2.4)
-

12

2.5
2.6
(84.0)

1.0
(1.1)
(33.6)

(17.1)

1.0
(1.1)
(50.7)

(81.4)
(2.6)

(29.0)
(4.6)

(17.1)
-

(46.1)
(4.6)

28

(17.1)

(49.6)
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2016

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

11
12
14
16
15
10
18

162.3
79.3
57.6
12.2
0.2
1.7
7.0
320.3

176.2
54.0
51.3
12.2
1.3
295.0

17
18
15
19

13.9
17.9
1.9
48.9
82.6
402.9

14.0
16.4
1.8
97.0
129.2
424.2

21

62.9
1.0
8.7
72.6

27.6
0.5
7.9
36.0

21
15
20

4.7
0.3
16.7
0.5
22.2

7.3
2.1
12.7
0.7
22.8

22

393.2
20.5
(127.7)
286.0

387.9
6.3
(44.9)
349.3

22.1
308.1
402.9

16.1
365.4
424.2

Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in associates
Available-for-sale investments
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Derivative financial asset
Deferred tax asset
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Provisions
Deferred tax liability
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Other reserves
Retained losses
Equity attributable to owners of parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
On behalf of the Board:

Kelly Martin		
Darragh Lyons
CEO			CFO
2 June 2017
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Share capital Share premium Other reserves
€’m
€’m
€’m

At beginning of year
Acquisition accounting
finalisation
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
gains
Total comprehensive
gain/(loss) for the year

Retained
earnings
€’m

Total
€’m

Noncontrolling
interests
€’m

Total equity
€’m

16.1

365.4

-

387.9

6.3

(44.9)

349.3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(83.5)

-

-

3.0

(0.4)

-

-

3.0

(83.9)

-

5.3

11.9

-

17.2

-

17.2

-

-

-

-

-

9.4

9.4

(1.1)
0.4

1.1
-

0.4

(0.4)

1.1

17.6

9.0

26.6

286.0

22.1

308.1

Equity settled share-based
payments
Acquired with subsidiaries
(note 28)
Exercise of Viamet
derivative asset
Transactions with NCI
Total transactions with
shareholders

-

-

-

5.3

11.2

At 31 December 2016

-

393.2

20.5

(127.7)

(0.4)

(0.4)

(83.5)

(3.1)

(86.6)

2.6

0.5

(80.9)

(2.6)

3.1
(83.5)

-
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the period from incorporation on 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015

Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Share capital Share premium Other reserves
€’m
€’m
€’m

At incorporation
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive losses
Total comprehensive
losses for the period
Issue of shares on admission
to the ESM
Issue of shares from
additional placing
Issue of shares to BPI Group
as consideration for BPI
Investment Transfers
Issue costs
Receipt of call option on
Viamet from BPI Group for
nil consideration
Equity settled share-based
payments
Acquired with subsidiaries
Transactions with NCI
Total transactions with
shareholders
At 31 December 2015
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-

Retained
earnings
€’m

Total
€’m

-

-

Noncontrolling
interests Total equity
€’m
€’m

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1.2)

(44.9)
-

(44.9)
(1.2)

(4.7)
0.1

(49.6)
(1.1)

-

-

(1.2)

(44.9)

(46.1)

(4.6)

(50.7)

-

330.0

-

-

330.0

-

330.0

-

42.0

-

-

42.0

-

42.0

-

7.6
(8.3)

-

-

7.6
(8.3)

-

7.6
(8.3)

-

1.1

-

-

1.1

-

1.1

-

16.6
-

5.7
0.7

-

22.3
0.7

0.4
21.0
(0.7)

22.7
21.0
-

-

387.9

7.5

-

395.4

20.7

416.1

-

387.9

6.3

349.3

16.1

365.4

(44.9)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of goodwill & intangibles
Inventory provisions
Net share of losses and gain attributable to equity accounted investments
Movement on inventory valued at fair value
Non-cash stock compensation
Net finance costs
Derivative fair value movements
Tax charge
Other

(Increase)/Decrease in inventory
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Tax paid
Interest paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Investments in associates
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Purchase of available-for-sale investments
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Convertible loan notes acquired from investees
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares
Transaction costs relating to financing activities
Increase in loans and borrowings
Net cash from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

14
16
14
11

9
10

14
16

21

19

Year to
31 December
2016
€’m

Period to
31 December
2015
€’m

(86.6)

(49.6)

3.4
1.6
9.7
1.4
26.4
0.6
17.2
2.4
1.3
0.3
(22.3)

1.6
1.0
3.5
4.8
22.8
0.8
(0.2)
0.1
(15.2)

(1.8)
3.5
1.3
(2.0)
(1.1)
(22.4)

(3.6)
(1.7)
7.3
(3.8)
(17.0)

(27.2)
(1.2)
(14.8)
(2.1)
(1.0)
(11.8)
(58.1)

(177.4)
(21.8)
(49.0)
(0.4)
(0.4)
(249.0)

(0.8)
33.0
32.2
(48.3)
97.0
0.2
48.9

372.0
(8.3)
(0.7)
363.0
97.0
97.0
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. General information and basis of preparation
Malin Corporation plc (“the Company”) is an Irish incorporated
public limited company trading on the Enterprise Securities
Market (“ESM”) of the Irish Stock Exchange (“ISE”) as of 25 March
2015 (the “Admission”).
The audited consolidated financial statements (the “financial
statements”) include the financial statements of the Company
and all of its subsidiary undertakings (together referred to as
“the Group” or “Malin”). These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with European Union (“EU”) adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), which
comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and the
Companies Act 2014.
The financial statements are presented in euro, rounded to
the nearest million (€’m) unless otherwise stated. Euro is the
functional currency of the Company and also the presentation
currency for the Group’s financial reporting. The financial
statements are prepared under the historical cost basis, as
modified by the measurement at fair value of share-based
payments and certain financial instruments.
The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
could differ materially from these estimates. In preparing
these financial statements, the critical judgements made by
management in applying the Group’s accounting policies and the
key sources of estimation uncertainty have been described in
note 3 of the financial statements.
The Company’s approach to managing cash resources is to ensure
as far as possible that it will always have sufficient cash resources
to:
• Fund its ongoing activities and future capital commitments;
• Ensure funds exist to allow for the selective and efficient
deployment of capital in strategic businesses which have
potential to create further shareholder value; and
• Maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate against risk
and unforeseen events.
As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s main source of funding
was a combination of equity finance and debt finance. During 2015,
the Company raised €372.0 million on equity markets and on 23
June 2016, the Company’s subsidiary, Malin Life Sciences Holdings
Limited, secured a debt facility of €70.0 million over a period
of 7 years from the European Investment Bank (“EIB”). As at 31
December 2016, €40.0 million of this facility was drawn down.
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On 3 May 2017, the Company completed a placing of 2,689,906
new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company representing
approximately 6.4% of Malin’s issued share capital at this time,
at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross proceeds of €27.0
million.
A number of the Group’s assets have made meaningful progress
over the period which has or is expected to result in value
creation. The Directors expect that some of these assets may
have near-term value inflection points which could result in cash
realisations and inflows which would bolster the Company’s cash
resources.
On the basis of the above, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, a
period of not less than 12 months from the date of this report.
For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the 12-month period ended 31
December 2016.
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2. Significant accounting policies
New standards
The following new and amended standards and interpretations
are effective for the Group for the first time for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2016 as follows:
• Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in Joint Operations
• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and amortisation
• Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment and
IAS 41: Bearer Plants
• Amendments to IAS 27: Equity method in Separate Financial
Statements
• Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle
• Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment
entities – exception to consolidation.
The aforementioned did not have a material impact on the Group.
A number of new Standards, Amendments to Standards and
Interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2017, and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. These are set out as follows:
• Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative1
• Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses2
• IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers including
amendments to IFRS 15: Effective date of IFRS 152,4
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments2,4
• Clarifications to IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers2
• Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions2
• Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts2
• Annual Improvements to IFRS 2014 – 2016 Cycle2

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact on the
financial statements of the new standards, interpretations and
amendments to published standards.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s
share of net assets of associates for the period ended 31
December 2016.
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by the
Group.
Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) represent the portion of the
equity (or net assets) of a subsidiary not attributable, either
directly or indirectly, to the Group and are presented separately
in the consolidated income statement (“income statement”) and
within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position
(“statement of financial position”), distinguished from the
Company’s shareholders’ equity.
In a business combination, NCI is measured at its proportionate
share of the recognised amount of the subsidiary’s identifiable
net assets at the acquisition date. NCI is allocated its share
of profit or loss and its share of each component of other
comprehensive income and other reserves included in equity,
post-acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

• IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration2
• IFRS 16: Leases3

1. Amendments are effective for annual period commencing after 1 January 2017.
2. Amendments are effective for annual period commencing after 1 January 2018.
3. Amendments are effective for annual period commencing after 1 January 2019 with early adoption permissible for entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers at or before the date of initial application of this Standard.
4. IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are the only standards endorsed by the EU at the time of approval of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, income and expenses,
and any unrealised gains or losses arising from such transactions
are eliminated in preparing the financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses
are eliminated in the same manner as unrealised gains, but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment in the
Group’s interest in the entity.

Business combinations

Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence, but not control. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operational policy decisions of
an entity, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
Significant influence generally accompanies a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of voting rights.

Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a
business combination are expensed as incurred.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting, from the date significant influence is
deemed to exist, and are initially recognised at cost.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits and losses of associates is
recognised in the income statement and its share of postacquisition movements in certain reserves is recognised directly
in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition
share of profits and losses are adjusted against the cost of
the investment in associates on the statement of financial
position, less any impairment in value. If the Group’s share of
losses exceeds the carrying amount of an associate, the carrying
amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred
obligations in respect of the associate.
The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment
loss.
The cost of acquiring an additional stake in an associate
(including any directly attributable costs), where there is no
change in the influence Malin can exercise over the investee
company, is added to the carrying value of the associate and
goodwill arising on the purchase of the additional stake is
calculated using fair value information at the date the additional
interest is acquired.
Where Malin’s stake in an associate is diluted but Malin maintains
the ability to exercise significant influence, the disposal is
accounted for as a partial disposal with a corresponding gain or
loss recognised in the income statement.
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
consideration transferred is measured at fair value. For each
business combination, where a non-controlling interest arises,
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date
through the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group’s available-for-sale (“AFS”) investments represent
equity shareholdings in investee companies in which Malin
does not have control, joint control or significant influence and
therefore accounts for its investment in these companies as
available-for-sale investments.
Available-for-sale investments are included in non-current assets
unless management intends to dispose of the available-for-sale
financial asset within 12 months of the reporting date. They
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and
are subsequently adjusted to fair value at each reporting date.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the available-for-sale assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When such available-for-sale assets are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are
included in the income statement as gains or losses.
The Group’s available-for-sale assets are not traded in active
markets, were acquired by the Group in the period from
incorporation to 31 December 2016 and the subscription price paid
represented the market price at the acquisition date. For some of
the Group’s available-for-sale investments, the price that would
be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the reporting date, can be identified. For
the remaining available-for-sale investments, management has
determined that given the recent timing of these investments and
based on an assessment of the market and company performance
in the intervening period, the initial investment price is still a fair
approximation of fair value at the reporting date.

Malin Corporation plc | Annual Report 2016

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Foreign currency translation

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration
receivable for the sale of goods to external customers net of
value added tax, rebates and discounts. The Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured,
when it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the
entity, and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Currency
translation differences on monetary assets and liabilities are
taken to the income statement except when cash flow or net
investment hedge accounting is applied. Currency translation
differences, arising from monetary items which provide an
effective hedge for a net investment in a foreign operation, are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the disposal
of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the
income statement.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical products is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods are transferred to the buyer and when the amount of
revenue and costs incurred can be measured reliably. This
generally arises on delivery or in accordance with specific terms
and conditions agreed with individual customers. Sales returns
and discounts are recorded in the same period as the original
revenue as a reduction in revenue.
Sale of services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income
statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the related
contract or fully when no further obligations exist on the related
service contract. When the outcome of the contract can be
measured reliably, stage of completion is measured by reference
to services completed to date as a percentage of total services to
be performed. Where services are to be performed rateably over
a period of time, revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the contract.

Segment reporting
Segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(the “CODM”). The Group is organised, reviewed and analysed
internally by the CODM in a single operating segment structure.
The CODM, responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Group.

Group companies
Results and cash flows of subsidiaries and associates with noneuro functional currencies have been translated into euro at
actual exchange rates for the reporting period, and the related
statements of financial position have been translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Adjustments arising on translation of the results and net assets
of non-euro subsidiaries and associates are recognised in a
separate translation reserve within equity. All other translation
differences are taken to the income statement.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition
of a foreign subsidiary or associate are regarded as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated
accordingly.
The principal exchange rates used for the translation of results,
cash flows and statements of financial position into euro were as
follows:

Euro 1 =

US Dollar
Pound Sterling

Average
Average
Year
period
Period
year to 31
end – 31
to 31
end – 31
December December December December
2016
2016
2015
2015

1.11
0.82

1.05
0.86

1.12
0.73

1.09
0.73
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(continued)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration
paid over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary or associate and the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets associated with NCI, at the
date of acquisition.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation
is calculated to write off the book value of each item of
property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life.

Goodwill on the acquisition of a subsidiary is included with
intangible assets and allocated from the acquisition date to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected
to benefit from the business combination.

Buildings
Plant and equipment

Goodwill is carried at the initial carrying amount less
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised and
is tested annually for impairment by assessing the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses arising
in respect of goodwill are not reversed following recognition.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Other intangible assets acquired in the course of a business
combination are capitalised at cost, being the fair value as at the
date of acquisition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. The carrying values of definitelived intangible assets (the Group does not currently have
any indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill) are
reviewed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date
and are subject to impairment testing when events or changes
in circumstances indicated that the carrying values may not be
recoverable.
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis. In
general, definite-lived intangible assets are amortised over
periods ranging from 1 to 10 years, depending on the nature of
the intangible asset.
Annual rate
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3%
2% – 25%

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation methods, useful lives and
residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end.

Goodwill associated with the acquisition of an associate is
included within the investment in associate.

Customer lists
IPR&D
Other intangibles

Annual rate

10%
10%
20%

Repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which it is incurred.
The carrying amounts of items of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. An impairment loss is
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.
Cost is based on the first-in, first-out principle and includes all
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing
them to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses. Materials held for use in the production of
inventories are not written down below cost if the finished
goods, in which they will be incorporated, are expected to be
sold at or above cost.
Provision is made, where necessary, for slow moving, obsolete
and defective inventories.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less an
allowance for potentially uncollectible debts.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of the arrangement. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default in payments are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount
of any provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.
The impairment charge is recognised in the income statement.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, which approximates
to fair value given the short-dated nature of these liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand
and short term deposits with an original maturity of 3 months or
less.
For the purpose of the Group’s cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of bank overdrafts.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
legislation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the reporting date which is defined as
the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not subject to discounting
and are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Share capital
Issued Ordinary Shares and Issued A Ordinary Shares (together
“Total Issued Share Capital”) are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new Ordinary
Shares are shown in the share premium reserve in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Share-based payments

All loans and borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
current and non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are measured at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant
of equity is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments granted including any market performance
conditions (for example, a total shareholder return target);
and the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to hold shares for a specific period
of time). It excludes the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period).

Income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.
Current tax
Current tax represents the expected tax payable or recoverable
on the taxable profit for the period using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and taking into
account any adjustments stemming from prior periods.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are
expected to vest, where vesting is based on non-market vesting
conditions and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

87

Financial Statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The critical accounting estimates and judgements described
below reflect the critical estimates and judgements made by
management in the period since incorporation. It is anticipated
that additional critical estimates and judgements will arise as the
business develops, including critical estimates and judgements
made within the investee companies. Management evaluates
estimates and judgements based on their previous experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

a. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, management has
made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively.
(i) Share based payments – fair value of Founder Equity
granted
In conjunction with the formation and Admission of Malin in
2015, the Company issued 1,543,199 Ordinary Shares to a
company within the Brandon Point Industries Group (the “BPI
Group”) (“Founder Ordinary Shares”) representing 4% of the
Total Issued Share Capital at the grant date and 3,279,299
A Ordinary Shares (“Founder A Ordinary Shares”) to BPI
representing 8.5% of the Total Issued Share Capital at the grant
date (together known as the “Founder Shares”).
The Founder Ordinary Shares are not subject to any
performance conditions so the full amount of the fair value of
the Founder Ordinary Shares of €15.4 million was recognised
as a share-based payment expense on the grant date (the
Admission Date) and is presented within the 2015 income
statement.
The Founder A Ordinary Shares are convertible into Ordinary
Shares in 2 separate tranches upon the achievement by Malin
of agreed performance thresholds or on the occurrence of
a change of control. The first tranche of 6% is convertible at
any time after the third year anniversary of Admission on the
achievement by Malin of a Compounded Annual Growth Rate
(“CAGR”) on Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) of equal to or
greater than 11% (the “First Tranche”). The second tranche of
2.5% is convertible at any time after the fifth year anniversary
of Admission on the achievement by Malin of a CAGR on TSR of
equal to or greater than 17.5% (the “Second Tranche”).
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Based on a Monte Carlo simulation model, the fair value of the
First Tranche and Second Tranche of Founder A Ordinary Shares
was estimated at €6.84 and €4.23 per share respectively. The
cumulative fair value of the First Tranche and Second Tranche
of Founder A Ordinary Shares is €15.8 million and €4.1 million
respectively. The key assumptions for the Monte Carlo model and
Malin’s determinations of these assumptions are set out below.
Expected life of the Founder Shares
The terms of the Founder A Ordinary Shares are not subject
to a maximum life or lapse date. However, the nature of CAGR
targets are such that it becomes increasingly difficult to achieve
the targets as time progresses beyond the first possible vesting
dates (i.e. the 3 year and 5 year anniversaries of the grant date).
In order to estimate an expected life, the fair value model was
tested to assess the fair value ranges using different expected
life estimates to identify the period beyond which the impact
on the grant date fair value was not significant. Based on this
analysis, a 9 year expected life for both tranches of shares was
identified as a reasonable time frame over which to assess the
impacts of reaching or not reaching the threshold TSR targets
for each tranche of the Founder Share awards.
Share price volatility
Share price volatility should be calculated on the date of grant
over a period consistent with the life of the Founder A Ordinary
Shares. The expected volatility should reflect the amount by
which Malin’s share price is expected to fluctuate over the
expected lifetime of the option or share award. Volatility is
expressed as an annualised figure. In the absence of implied
volatility data from traded awards with similar features the
initial consideration is the historical volatility of Malin’s share
price over a period commensurate with the projection period
of the award. As Malin’s equity has only been stock-exchange
quoted since 25 March 2015, TSR volatility estimates are based
on the share prices of comparable companies that have been
quoted over a time period commensurate with the expected
life of the Founder A Ordinary Share awards. Sample volatility
assumptions have been calculated based on historic TSR and
share price data up to the grant dates. The number of years of
historic data used is 9 years. The volatility displayed by these
comparable companies in this timeframe is 35%. This volatility
was also used for Malin’s Founder A Ordinary Shares fair value as
no adjustment to this peer volatility was deemed necessary.
Risk-free rate of interest
The risk-free interest rate has been set as the yield on
appropriate benchmarks over the term of the award being
valued. The risk- free rates for Malin used in the model have
been derived from the Euro swap rate curve for the expected
life of the awards as at the measurement date. The risk-free
interest rate used was 0.54%.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Dividends
At the grant date, there was no immediate expectation of
dividends being paid by Malin and the selected peer companies
used to estimate Malin’s volatility assumption have not paid
dividends to shareholders. Therefore, a dividend yield of zero
has been assumed in the estimates of the fair value of the
Founder A Ordinary Shares.
(ii) Share based payments – fair value of share-based
payments granted
In October 2015, Malin established 2 distinct remuneration
initiatives:
a. A long-term bonus plan (the “2015 LTBP”)
b. A long-term incentive plan (the “2015 LTIP”)
2015 LTBP
The 2015 LTBP provides for a bonus pool to be created if an
exceptional level of TSR is delivered by Malin. The bonus pool
will be an amount equal to 8.5% of the TSR in respect of the
performance period commencing on 1 November 2015. The
2015 LTBP has the potential to vest over the earlier of 1 of 3
performance periods: cumulative TSR from the commencement
date of 100% is achieved after 3 years; cumulative TSR from
the commencement date of 125% is achieved after 4 years;
or cumulative TSR from the commencement date of 150% is
achieved after 5 years. If the TSR of 150% is not achieved after
5 years, the plan will terminate and no bonus payments will be
made. Any obligations arising under the plan may be settled
in cash, shares or a combination of both cash and shares. The
Remuneration Committee has sole discretion and control over
how any obligations arising under this plan will be settled. As a
result of the equity settlement option and in the absence of a
past history or other factors suggesting that the pool would be
settled in cash, the plan will be accounted as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction.

The fair value of the 2015 LTBP has been arrived at by applying
a Monte Carlo simulation technique. The key assumptions for
the Monte Carlo model, at 31 December 2016, and Malin’s
determinations of these are set out below.
Expected life of the 2015 LTBP
The 2015 LTBP has the potential to vest over 1 of 3 potential
performance periods. At each date the TSR will be calculated per
the definition in the terms of the awards. The expected life has
been estimated at 5 years from the commencement date.
Share price volatility
The share price volatility used in determining the fair value of
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted is approximately 38%. It is
based on comparable companies’ volatility as Malin’s equity has
only been stock-exchange quoted since 25 March 2015.
Risk-free rate of interest
The risk-free interest rate has been set as the yield on
appropriate benchmarks over the term of the award being
valued. The risk-free rates for Malin used in the model have been
derived from the Euro swap rate curve for the expected life of
the awards as at the measurement date. The risk-free interest
rate used was -0.02%.
Dividends
At 31 December 2016, there was no immediate expectation of
dividends being paid by Malin and the selected peer companies
used to estimate Malin’s volatility assumption have not paid
dividends to shareholders. Therefore, a dividend yield of zero has
been assumed in the estimates of the fair value of the 2015 LTBP.
Based on the Monte Carlo model, the cumulative fair value of the 2015
LTBP awards was estimated at €9.4 million on 31 December 2016
which represents a €1.5 million increase in the aggregate fair value of
the plan between 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016.

As the eligible participants of the plan do not have details of the
specific benefits that might accrue to them individually under
the plan, the grant date of the 2015 LTBP is not deemed to
occur until the Remuneration Committee operates its discretion
at the end of the vesting period to allocate the pool to the
eligible participants. The fair value of the award is determined
at the start of the service period and will be re-measured at
each reporting date with the final measurement occurring at
the end of the vesting period. As well as the achievement of
the TSR targets, there is an implied service condition by eligible
participants. The TSR target is a ‘market condition’, so is taken
into account when determining the fair value of the equity
instruments.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
2015 LTIP
The Company’s 2015 LTIP was established on 1 November 2015.
The terms of awards granted under the 2015 LTIP are set out in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66. Awards
granted under the 2015 LTIP are generally structured in tranches
with the first tranche of awards not subject to vesting conditions
and vesting immediately on the grant date. In general, there
are 2 vesting conditions attached to subsequent tranches:
(i) achievement of the TSR target (market condition) which
applies to the majority of awards granted, and (ii) employees
must remain in employment at the vesting date (non-market
condition) which applies to all of the awards granted.
Awards under the 2015 LTIP were made to the majority
of employees in May 2016. In addition, awards to certain
Executive and Non-Executive Directors were made in July 2016.
Information in respect of the July 2016 awards are set out in the
table on page 65.
To date, the Group has facilitated the net-settlement of
employee awards by paying the taxes due on behalf of the
employees and issuing a reduced number of shares.
The fair value of the tranches of RSUs granted in 2016 under
the 2015 LTIP was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation
technique to estimate the fair value of the awards at the grant
date. The key assumptions for the Monte Carlo model and
Malin’s determinations of these are set out below.
Expected life of the 2015 LTIP
The expected life has been estimated based on the specific
vesting period of each grant.
Share price volatility
The share price volatility used in determining the fair value of RSUs
granted is based on peer companies’ volatility as Malin’s equity has
only been stock-exchange quoted since 25 March 2015.
Risk-free rate of interest
The risk-free interest rate has been set as the yield on
appropriate benchmarks over the term of the award being
valued. The risk- free rates for Malin used in the model have
been derived from the Euro swap rate curve for the expected
life of the awards as at the measurement date.
Dividends
At each of the grant dates, there was no immediate expectation
of dividends being paid by Malin and the selected peer
companies for the volatility assumption have not paid dividends
to shareholders. Therefore, a dividend yield of zero has been
assumed in the estimates of the fair value of grants under the
2015 LTIP.
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(iii) Fair value of financial instruments
Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are fair valued at each reporting
date. The Group’s available-for-sale assets are not traded in
active markets and were acquired by the Group in the period
from incorporation to 31 December 2016. For two of the
Group’s available-for-sale investments, Melinta and Hatteras,
management has determined that given the recent timing of
these investments and based on an assessment of the market
and company performance in the intervening period, the initial
investment cost is still a fair approximation of fair value. Xenex
completed a financing round in 2016 in which third-party
investors participated. The enhanced valuation of this financing
round over the valuations of Xenex when Malin completed its
prior investments formed the basis for the fair value of Malin’s
entire Xenex investment holding at 31 December 2016.
Derivative financial instruments
Malin has entered into call and put investment options and
contingent investment commitments which could result in
Malin making further investments in a number of its investee
companies over time. These derivative financial instruments
are not traded in an active market and therefore fair value
is determined by using valuation techniques. Management
have assessed the characteristics of each of these contracts
to determine the most appropriate basis for determining the
fair value of these derivatives on initial recognition. For further
information on the basis, estimates and assumptions used for
each derivative contract, please refer to note 15.
In subsequently measuring these derivatives at fair value at the
reporting date, management take account of the fact that the
fair value of the underlying shares is not observable.
(iv) Business combinations – fair value of identifiable assets
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method which requires that the assets and liabilities assumed
are recorded at their respective fair values at the date of
acquisition. The application of this method requires certain
estimates and assumptions particularly concerning the
determination of the fair values of the acquired assets and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.
For intangible assets acquired, the Group bases valuations on
expected future cash flows. This method employs a discounted
cash flow method using the present value of the estimated
after-tax cash flows expected to be generated from the
purchased intangible asset using risk adjusted discount rates and
revenue forecasts as appropriate. The period of expected cash
flows is based on the expected useful life of the intangible asset
acquired.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
b. Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies
(i) Accounting for investee companies
The determination of the accounting for investee companies on
initial recognition requires an assessment of the level of control
or significant influence that the Group can exercise over the
investee companies. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Control is generally, but not always, accompanied with a
shareholding of greater than 50% of the voting rights. Associates
are companies over which the Group can exercise significant
influence but not control. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operational policy decisions of
an entity, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
Significant influence generally accompanies a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of voting rights. Where the Group
does not control, jointly control or cannot exercise significant
influence over an investee company, the Group’s interest in that
entity is recorded as an available-for-sale investment on initial
recognition.
Management has evaluated the characteristics of the
Group’s relationship with each investee company, including
an assessment of the contractual and economic rights with
each company to determine the most appropriate accounting
treatment in accordance with the guidance in IFRS.
Malin has determined that it has significant influence over
Viamet Pharmaceuticals Holdings, LLC (“Viamet”), Novan Inc.
(“Novan”), Kymab Limited (“Kymab”), Immunocore Limited
(“Immunocore”), Jaan Health, Inc. (“Jaan Health”) and KNOW Bio,
LLC (“KNOW Bio”) even though it has a shareholding of less than
20% of the equity of these companies. Malin has appropriate
proportionate representation on the boards of these companies
to exercise significant influence over the financial and
operational policies of the companies. This representation as
well as certain contractual protective provisions has resulted in
Malin accounting for these companies as associate companies
using the equity method of accounting.
(ii) Assessing the carrying value of investments in
associates and available for sale investments
An impairment review is performed where there is an
indication of impairment of an investee company. Indicators of
impairment include, but are not limited to; negative changes in
technology or markets, significant delay in achieving or failure
to attain appropriate regulatory approval, clinical trial failure

or postponement, a significant fall in the market capitalisation
of the investee company or if the carrying amount of the
investee company in the financial statements is higher than the
company’s discounted future cash flows.
If there is an indication that an investee company asset may be
impaired, then the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the investee company’s
fair value less costs of disposal (net selling price) and its value in
use (present value of future cash flows expected to be derived
from the investee company). Given the nature of some of the
Group’s investments in early-stage and development companies,
applying both the net selling price and value in use (present
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the
investee company) approaches to estimating the recoverable
amount of investee companies involves making significant
estimates and judgements.
In applying the net selling price approach to estimating
the recoverable amount of investee companies, Malin
references the value of comparable public companies or
market transactions to estimate the fair value of a privatelyheld investee company. Significant judgement is required in
assessing the comparability of the market transactions and/or
public company to the Malin investee company being assessed.
Management typically refer to more than one comparable
transaction/company in applying this technique.
Where a value-in-use approach is used to assess the recoverable
amount of the investee company, calculations use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budgets and projections. The
cash flow forecasts exclude incremental profits and other cash
flows derived from planned acquisition activities. Sales forecasts
are extrapolated using growth rates based on similar companies’
experiences. The value in use of each asset is calculated using a
pre-tax discount rate representing the Group’s estimated pretax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect risks
associated with each investee company.
In applying the value in use approach, where there are often
no current and no short-term future earnings or positive cash
flows for our investee companies, significant estimation is
required to gauge the probability and financial impact of the
successes or failures of development or research activities and
to make reliable cash flow forecasts. In making the cash flow
forecasts, significant estimates and judgements are required in
determining the commercial prospects for the approved drug
including the peak sales, market share and pricing that it can
achieve and the time and costs involved in doing so.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Management recognises the significant judgments and subjectivity associated with the assumptions used to prepare a value in use
calculation and seeks to ensure key assumptions are consistent with relevant external sources of information.
An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised as expenses in the income statement. Where the investee company’s recoverable amount exceeds the carrying value,
no impairment loss is recognised.
Management will continue to actively assess the performance and position of any such investee company asset and review for
future indicators of impairment.
Goodwill recognised on investee company subsidiary acquisitions is not tested for impairment separately as it does not generate
cash flows independently of other assets. Goodwill is tested for impairment only when a CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill
has been allocated is being tested for impairment or as part of the annual mandatory impairment testing of goodwill (without there
being an indication of impairment in the underlying CGUs).

4. Revenue
The Group’s revenue is attributable almost entirely to Malin’s investee subsidiary, Altan, with the balance of €0.4 million
attributable to Malin’s investee subsidiary, Cilatus Biopharma Ireland Limited (“Cilatus”). Altan’s revenue is derived from the sale of
pharmaceutical products, primarily the sale of injectable medications, by Altan, to hospitals and other healthcare providers.
The Group’s revenues are analysed below based on the geographical location of customers.
Spain
EU (excluding Spain)
Rest of world

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

24.3
12.2
5.6
42.1

13.5
5.8
3.6
22.9

Altan’s 2015 revenue relates to the period from 10 June 2015, the date the Group acquired its interest in Altan, to 31 December 2015.

5. Operating segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The Group’s CODM has
been identified as the CEO of the Group, Kelly Martin.
The Group’s activities are organised, reviewed and analysed internally by the CODM, in a single operating segment structure.
Management will continue to evaluate this as the Group evolves.
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6. Cost of sales and operating expenses
The operating expenses that arose during the year to 31 December 2016 are analysed below:
Cost of sales
expenses
€’m

Malin corporate subsidiaries
Investee subsidiary companies
Write-off of goodwill on subsidiary (note 14)
Founder Equity and Malin share-based payments charges (note 25)

30.6
30.6

Research and
Selling, general
development and administrative
expenses
expenses
€’m
€’m

5.1
5.1

20.2
13.5
9.7
19.2
62.6

Total
€’m

20.2
49.2
9.7
19.2
98.3

The operating expenses that arose during the period from 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015 are analysed below:
Cost of sales
expenses
€’m

Malin corporate subsidiaries
Investee subsidiary companies
Business integration costs
Malin share-based payment charges
Investee company employee share-based payments charges
Company Establishment Costs

19.3
19.3
19.3

Research and
Selling, general
development and administrative
expenses
expenses
€’m
€’m

2.7
2.7
2.7

10.0
9.8
1.4
6.9
1.2
29.3
17.1
46.4

Total
€’m

10.0
31.8
1.4
6.9
1.2
51.3
17.1
68.4

Malin incurred costs of €1.7 million in 2015 in relation to the formation and structuring of the Company and the acquisition of
subsidiaries. In addition, a share-based payment charge of €15.4 million related to the Founder Shares issued to BPI, in conjunction
with the formation and Admission of Malin, which are not subject to a vesting period, was incurred in 2015. The aggregate cost
of €17.1 million was presented as Company Establishment Costs on the face of the income statement for the period ended 31
December 2015. Further information on the equity granted and the share-based payment charges associated with the Founder
Equity is set out in note 25.

7. Statutory and other information
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 16)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 14)
Auditor’s remuneration
Audit of Group and Company financial statements
Other assurance services
Tax advisory services
Other non-audit services

2016
€’m

20151
€’m

1.6
3.4

1.0
1.6

0.2
0.1
0.2
0.5

0.2
0.1
0.3
0.4
1.0

Directors’ remuneration for the period to 31 December 2016 was €9.8 million (2015: €3.8 million) and is set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66 and includes director bonuses which have been deferred until specific additional Company
milestones have been achieved. Auditor’s remuneration for the audit of the Company financial statements was €10,000 (2015: €10,000).

1. Period from 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015.
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8. Employee costs
The average number of persons (full time equivalents) employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) during the year and at
31 December 2016, analysed by category was:

Cost of sales
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

2016 average

2015 average1

202
15
75
292

201
14
52
267

The number of persons (full time equivalents) employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) at 31 December 2016 was 303
(31 December 2015: 291).
The employee benefit expenses for the period were:
Wages and salaries
Social welfare costs
Defined contribution costs
Share-based payments expense

2016
€’m

20151
€’m

17.9
2.7
0.5
13.0
34.1

10.1
1.2
0.2
1.9
13.4

2016
€’m

20151
€’m

9. Net finance expense

Finance income
Interest income
Finance expense
Interest expense
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Interest rate swap
Net finance expense

1. Period from 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015.
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(0.5)
(0.5)
2.0
0.9
2.9
2.4

0.8
(0.3)
0.3
0.8
0.8
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10. Income tax
2016
€’m

Current tax expense
Deferred tax benefit
Income tax expense/(benefit)

1.6
(1.3)
0.3

20151
€’m

1.3
(1.5)
(0.2)

The income tax expense for the period can be reconciled to the expected income tax expense at the effective rate of tax in Ireland
as follows:
Net loss before tax
Tax at the Irish corporation tax rate of 12.5%
Income taxed at higher rates
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised (no expiry date)
Other
Income tax expense/(benefit) on net loss

2016
€’m

20151
€’m

(86.3)
(10.8)
0.5
5.5
5.3
(0.2)
0.3

(49.6)
(6.2)
1.7
2.9
1.3
0.1
(0.2)

The current tax expense comprises corporation tax payable in Spain, Kenya, the US and the United Kingdom (“UK”) on normal
business activities. The deferred tax benefit relates to the recognition of deferred tax assets in respect of the timing differences
in the US and UK because it is probable that future operating profits will be available in these jurisdictions against which the Group
can recognise these timing differences. The deferred tax benefit also comprises the release to the income statement of previously
recognised deferred tax liabilities.
The total deferred tax liability at 31 December 2016 was €8.7 million. The Group recognised a deferred tax liability during the year
of €1.7 million related to the fair value step-up of NeuVT’s net assets at acquisition date. The balance of the deferred tax liability at
31 December 2016 was recognised on the acquisition of Altan in 2015.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of certain tax losses of the Group amounting to €53.3 million (2015: €11.0
million) because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can use these tax losses.

11. Investments in associates
At 31 December 2016, Malin had 10 associates (31 December 2015: 10), all of which are accounted for using equity method.

At beginning of period
Cash consideration for investments in associates during the period
Non-cash consideration for associates acquired during the period (BPI Investment Transfers)
Net impact attributed to financial derivatives related to associates (note 15)
Transaction costs
NeuVT Transaction: reclassification to subsidiary
Share of net losses of associates:
Income statement – share of losses
Income statement – net gain on partial disposal
Other comprehensive income – currency translation loss
At 31 December

2016
€’m

20151
€’m

176.2
27.2
(1.8)
(3.6)

174.5
5.4
(0.7)
2.9
-

(26.4)
(9.3)
162.3

(5.9)
2.4
(2.4)
176.2

1. Period from 16 December 2014 to 31 December 2015.
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11. Investments in associates (continued)
Novan
In September 2016, Novan completed an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of its shares at $11.00 per share. Novan raised gross proceeds
of approximately $52.0 million of which Malin subscribed €7.8 million ($8.8 million) to acquire an additional 800,000 shares in the
company. Following the fundraising and completion of the IPO, Malin holds 2,623,485 shares in Novan.
In January 2017, Novan announced the results of both of its Phase 3 pivotal clinical trials for SB204 in the treatment of acne
vulgaris. SB204 demonstrated statistical significance compared to vehicle on all three co-primary endpoints in one of the trials, but
demonstrated statistical significance on only one of three co-primary endpoints in the other. This had a significant negative impact on
the market capitalisation of the company and, on the basis of Novan’s share price, it would indicate that the carrying value of Malin’s
investment in Novan of €25.1 million may exceed the recoverable amount. Malin has performed a review of the carrying value of
Novan using a discounted cash flow model, over Novan’s two main programmes, SB204 and SB206, using a discount rate of 9%, and
determined that Malin’s share of the fair value of the business continues to be in excess of the carrying value of Malin’s investment in
Novan. Under both approaches of estimating the recoverable amount of Malin’s investment, no account is taken of the fair value of
the non-dermatology assets of Novan which were separated and spun-out of Novan into KNOW Bio in December 2015. Malin’s share of
KNOW Bio is carried at €1.1 million at 31 December 2016, which is based on the nominal value attributed to the assets spun out (€1.1
million) less Malin’s share of insignificant losses in KNOW Bio in the subsequent period to 31 December 2016.
The determination by Malin that the carrying value of its investment in Novan is recoverable involved making significant estimates
and judgements on the future progression of the Novan business. Management will consider the recoverability of this investment
at the next reporting date (the 6-month period to 30 June 2017) taking account of the progress and events in the business in the
interim period.

Viamet
During the year, Malin invested a further €7.8 million ($8.8 million) in Viamet through the exercise of a €4.5 million ($5.0 million) call
option with Viamet on 17 February 2016 and an additional investment of €3.3 million ($3.8 million) on 21 September 2016.
As part of the September 2016 funding round, Malin also committed to invest a further €3.6 million ($3.8 million) by 21 March 2017,
and obtained a call option, exercisable solely at Malin’s discretion, on or before 31 July 2017, to subscribe for 3.9 million shares at
the same subscription price per share as the additional investment. Please refer to note 15 for information on the call option.

Kymab
On 23 November 2016, Malin committed to invest a further €2.8 million ($3.0 million) in Kymab payable up to 12 months from
January 2017, in 2 equal tranches of $1.5 million, upon the completion of specified conditions. The first tranche was paid on 20
January 2017 following the achievement of these conditions and the second tranche is payable anytime between 1 July 2017 and
20 January 2018. The €2.8 million ($3.0 million) contingent investment commitment is a derivative financial liability which is required
to be recognised and subsequently measured at fair value. It has been determined that the fair value of this contingent investment
commitment was close to €nil when the commitment was made and at 31 December 2016.

Poseida
On 1 August 2016, Malin completed its $10.0 million contingent investment commitment with Poseida Therapeutics Inc. (“Poseida”)
following the achievement by Poseida of the operational milestones included in the initial investment agreement. Malin paid €9.0
million ($10.0 million) for approximately 9% incremental equity in Poseida.

An2H
In October 2016, Malin entered into a convertible loan note agreement with An2H Discovery Limited (“An2H”) for €5.0 million (the
“An2H notes”) (see note 18). With the provision of this financing, Malin and An2H mutually agreed to terminate Malin’s €10.0 million
contingent investment commitment with An2H. The fair value of this investment commitment was insignificant on termination
(31 December 2015: Insignificant).
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11. Investments in associates (continued)
Artizan
Artizan Biopharma Inc. (“Artizan”) is headquartered in Durham, NC, with labs in New Haven, CT, focused on developing a platform to
identify putative disease-driving bacteria from the intestinal microbiota in humans with inflammatory bowel disease and ultimately
eliminate or neutralise the specific colitogenic bacteria.
On 27 September 2016, Malin completed a €1.2 million ($1.3 million) investment in Artizan to acquire approximately 27% of the
issued share capital of Artizan. On the same date, Malin also committed a further €0.8 million ($0.9 million) at the same subscription
price as the initial investment, to be paid as consideration for additional shares upon the achievement by Artizan of specific
milestones.
The board of Artizan is comprised of 6 directors of which Malin has the right to designate one. Malin has accounted for its
investment in Artizan as an investment in associate as Malin can exercise significant influence but not control over the financial and
operating policies of Artizan.
The €0.8 million ($0.9 million) contingent investment commitment is a derivative financial liability which is required to be recognised
and subsequently measured at fair value. It has been determined that the fair value of this contingent investment commitment was
close to €nil when the investment closed and at 31 December 2016.

Emba Medical
On 3 May 2016, Malin invested a further €0.9 million ($1.0 million in Emba Medical). In August 2016, NeuVT was established by
combining existing Malin investee companies, Emba Medical (associate) and Emba Neuro (subsidiary), with Hatchill, a company
established to develop a platform of neurovascular therapies. On the basis of Malin’s representation on the NeuVT board of
directors, NeuVT has been deemed a subsidiary of Malin and the investment has been accounted for as a business combination.
Consequently, Emba Medical is no longer classified as an associate in Malin’s financial statements. No gain or loss arose on the
disposal of Emba Medical as an associate.

Other associates
Malin does not consider its equity method investments in An2H, KNOW Bio, Emba Medical, Artizan and Jaan Health, to be
individually significant and has elected to group these investments into one category, in both the current year and prior comparative
period, in the tables on pages 98 and 99.

BPI Investment Transfers
In 2015, the BPI Group, along with its principals and shareholders, funded initial investments in three companies whose businesses
were aligned with the business strategy of Malin. These investments were transferred to Malin, along with all related investor rights,
obligations and commitments, on 2 February 2015 (the “BPI Investment Transfers”). The investments were transferred to Malin in
each case at their initial transaction date value (i.e. the consideration paid by the BPI Group, its principals and shareholders) totalling
€7.6 million ($8.6 million) which was also deemed to be the fair value of the investments at the date of transfer. Malin issued 32,797
B Ordinary Shares to the BPI Group, its principals and shareholders, as consideration for the investments transferred. The B Ordinary
Shares converted to 764,145 Ordinary Shares of Malin at a conversion ratio of approximately 23.2992 Ordinary Shares for each B
Ordinary Share held, based on the total fair value of the BPI Investment Transfer of €7.6 million ($8.6 million) and the Placing Price
of €10.00 per share. The BPI Group also transferred its 33% portion of a $15.0 million call option with Viamet to Malin as part of the
investor rights transferred to Malin. For further information on the call option, please refer to note 15.
The Group’s share of the results of associates and its share of their net assets, for the current and comparative periods, have been
set out on the following two pages.
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98
(2.0)
0.2
(2.5)
19.7

16%

16%

(8.7)
25.1

0.5
18.5
(0.3)
(6.5)
12.2
2.0

16.0
33.7
(7.6)
(12.7)
29.4
4.8

7.8

(2.5)

(8.7)

7.8

0.7

0.9

16.2

1.9

(0.9)

26.0

(5.1)

Viamet
€’m

(8.7)

Novan
€’m

(5.4)
10.9

-

16.3

11%

3.4
25.7
(13.1)
16.0
1.8

(5.4)

(2.2)

0.3

(3.5)

(0.8)
14.2

0.5

14.5

38%

1.4
6.2
(0.6)
7.0
2.7

(0.8)

0.4

-

(1.2)

(15.7)
59.1

-

74.8

10%

30.6
225.5
(51.4)
204.7
21.3

(15.7)

(10.5)

-

(5.2)

Kymab 3D4 Medical Immunocore
€’m
€’m
€’m

(1.1)
26.6

9.0

18.7

37%

8.6
18.2
(1.0)
(10.1)
15.7
5.8

(1.1)

1.0

(1.1)

(1.0)

Poseida
€’m

(3.6)
(1.5)
6.7

-

2.1

9.7

1.7
13.2
(5.7)
9.2
1.7

(1.5)

0.4

(0.2)

(1.7)

Other
Associates1
€’m

(2.0)
0.2
(3.6)
(35.7)
162.3

27.2

176.2

62.2
341.0
(8.9)
(100.1)
294.2
40.1

(35.7)

(9.3)

2. Represents a gain or loss arising on the re-measurement of Malin’s equity interest in its associate investee companies following the completion of funding rounds, subsequent to Malin’s initial investment in these
investee companies, in which Malin may or may not have participated.

4. The Group’s share of the net assets of its associate investee companies relates to the recognised assets of these companies only. It does not include goodwill attributed to the company by the Group on initial
recognition of the investee company.

3. Represents foreign currency translation adjustments.

-

(26.4)

Total
€’m

1. Malin does not consider its equity method investments in An2H, KNOW Bio, Emba Medical, Artizan and Jaan Health, to be individually significant and has elected to group these investments into one category, in
both the current year and prior comparative period.

Malin’s interest in the investee at 1 January 2016
Cash consideration for investments
in associates during the year
Net consideration attributed to financial derivatives
acquired during the year
Exercise of Viamet derivative asset during the year
NeuVT Transaction: reclassification to subsidiary
Total comprehensive loss attributable to the Group
Carrying amount of investee at 31 December 2016

Total comprehensive loss for year to
31 December 2016:
Loss for the year attributable to the Group
Gain/(loss) on changes in equity ownership of
investments2
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
attributable to the Group3
Total comprehensive loss for the year ended
31 December 2016
Statement of financial position as at 31 December
2016:
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets at 31 December 2016
Malin’s share of net assets4
Malin’s ownership interest at 31 December 2016
(rounded %)
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0.3
29.1
(0.4)
(6.8)
22.2
2.7
12%

2.2
43.6
(4.7)
41.1
6.7
16%

(3.0)
16.2

(3.0)

(0.8)

(0.8)
26.0

(0.3)

0.1

18.6
0.6
-

-

2.4

27.3
0.6
(1.1)

(2.7)

Viamet
€’m

(3.3)

Novan
€’m

(2.1)
16.3

18.0
0.4
-

14%

2.5
32.1
(10.5)
24.1
3.3

(2.1)

0.1

-

(2.2)

0.1
14.5

14.7
(0.7)
0.4
-

38%

1.4
9.0
(0.5)
9.9
3.8

0.1

0.4

-

(0.3)

0.5
74.8

74.3
-

10%

58.5
313.8
(78.0)
294.3
30.9

0.5

(3.0)

-

3.5

Kymab 3D4 Medical Immunocore
€’m
€’m
€’m

0.2
18.7

18.2
0.3
-

31%

0.1
20.5
(4.6)
(5.5)
10.5
3.3

0.2

0.2

-

-

Poseida
€’m

(0.8)
9.7

8.8
0.6
1.1

4.8
6.4
(0.2)
(1.2)
9.8
2.0

(0.8)

0.1

-

(0.9)

Other
Associates1
€’m

(5.9)
176.2

179.9
(0.7)
2.9
-

69.8
454.5
(5.2)
(107.2)
411.9
52.7

(5.9)

(2.4)

2.4

(5.9)

Total
€’m

4. The Group’s share of the net assets of its associate investee companies relates to the recognised assets of these companies only. It does not include goodwill attributed to the company by the Group on initial
recognition of the investee company.

3. Represents foreign currency translation adjustments.

2. Represents a gain or loss arising on the re-measurement of Malin’s equity interest in its associate investee companies following the completion of funding rounds, subsequent to Malin’s initial investment in these
investee companies, in which Malin may or may not have participated.

1. Malin does not consider its equity method investments in An2H, KNOW Bio, Emba Medical, Artizan and Jaan Health, to be individually significant and has elected to group these investments into one category, in
both the current year and prior comparative period.

Malin’s interest in the investee at incorporation
Consideration for associates acquired during the period
Net consideration attributed to financial derivatives
Transaction costs
Spin-out of KNOW Bio
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the
Group
Carrying amount of investee at 31 December 2015

Total comprehensive gain/(loss) for the period from
Malin’s investment to 31 December 2015:
Gain/(loss) for the period from Malin’s investment to 31
December 2015 attributable to the Group
Gain on changes in equity ownership of investments in
the period2
Other comprehensive income/(losses) for the period
attributable to the Group3
Total comprehensive gain/(loss) for the period from
Malin’s investment to 31 December 2015
Statement of financial position as at 31 December
2015:
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets at 31 December 2015
Malin’s share of net assets4
Malin’s ownership interest at 31 December 2015
(rounded %)

11. Investments in associates (continued)
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12. Available-for-sale investments

At beginning of period
Cash consideration for investments acquired during the period
Non-cash consideration for investments acquired during the period (BPI Investment Transfers)
Fair value of Melinta derivative liability acquired during the period
Exercise of Melinta derivative liability during the period
Transaction costs
Fair value movement recognised in other comprehensive income
At 31 December

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

54.0
14.8
(1.3)
11.8
79.3

48.3
2.2
1.8
0.7
1.0
54.0

The breakdown of the Group’s available-for-sale investments at 31 December 2016 is set out below:

Unlisted securities
Melinta
Xenex
Hatteras

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

43.4
33.8
2.1
79.3

34.1
19.1
0.8
54.0

Melinta
On 9 March 2016, Melinta Therapeutics, Inc. (“Melinta”) called its $10.0 million put option with Malin which required Malin to invest
a further €9.1 million ($10.0 million) at the same subscription price as its initial investment. During the second half of 2016, Malin
advanced €6.7 million ($7.4 million) to Melinta to acquire unsecured convertible promissory notes (“Melinta notes”) (see note 18).
Management has performed an analysis of the fair value of its investment in Melinta and has determined that the fair value as at 31
December 2016 approximates the original investment value.

Xenex
During the period, Malin recognised a fair value uplift of €9.3 million on its investment in Xenex Disinfection Services LLC (“Xenex”),
increasing the total value of its holding in Xenex to €33.8 million as at 31 December 2016. The fair value uplift was calculated based
on the enhanced valuation of a financing round in 2016 in which Malin invested €4.5 million ($5.0 million) on 10 March 2016 and in
which third party investors also participated.

Hatteras
Malin had invested €2.0 million ($2.2 million) in Hatteras Venture Partners V, L.P. (“Hattteras”) as at 31 December 2016 (31
December 2015: €0.7 million) and has committed to invest a further €16.9 million ($17.8 million) with Hatteras over a 10-year period
which commenced in August 2015.
Management has performed an analysis of the fair value of its investment in Hatteras and has determined that the fair value at 31
December 2016 approximates the original investment value.
Please refer to note 26 for details on how Malin measures its available-for-sale investments.
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13. Business Combinations
The following table summarises the consideration paid for new subsidiaries, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and
the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date as well as the goodwill arising from business combinations entered into during
the year.
NeuVT
€’m

Provisional fair value of net assets acquired:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred tax liability
Other creditors
Net assets acquired
Malin’s % shareholding at the acquisition date
Malin’s % of fair value of net assets
Goodwill (note 14)
Total consideration (enterprise value)
Satisfied by:
Cash consideration
Non-cash consideration2
Non-controlling interest

Wren Other entities1
€’m
€’m

Total
€’m

12.5
0.8
(1.7)
(2.3)
9.3
23%
2.1
3.7
5.8

3.3
3.3
35%
1.1
2.2
3.3

0.6
0.3
(0.6)
0.3

12.5
0.6
1.1
3.3
(1.7)
(2.9)
12.9

0.3
0.5
0.8

3.5
6.4
9.9

0.3
5.5
7.2

3.3
2.2

0.8
-

4.4
5.5
9.4

In each of the above business combinations the non-controlling interest in the acquiree has been measured at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

NeuVT
In August 2016, NeuVT was formed by combining existing Malin investee companies, Emba Medical and Emba Neuro, together with
Hatchill, a company established in 2014, so as to focus on the development of a portfolio of innovative neurovascular and peripheral
vascular medical devices (together referred to as the “NeuVT Transaction”).
The NeuVT Transaction was completed on 22 August 2016 and involved 3 distinct steps:
1.A restructuring that resulted in the trading businesses of Emba Medical, Emba Neuro and Hatchill transferring into a new Irish
company (NeuVT);
2. Malin investing €1.8 million ($2.0 million) into NeuVT of which €0.3 million represented the equity component of the financial
instrument and €1.5 million represented convertible debt; and
3.Malin having a call option to invest a further €3.6 million ($4.0 million) at the same valuation.
On the basis of Malin’s representation on the NeuVT board of directors, NeuVT has been deemed a subsidiary of Malin and the
investment has been accounted for as a business combination.
The fair value determination of the acquisition date acquired IPR&D was €12.5 million representing acquired research and
development assets that have been initiated and achieved material progress. The fair value of all other assets was determined to be
equivalent to their book value. The goodwill of €3.7 million arising on this business combination represents the skills and expertise
of the founders who will continue to provide strategic oversight and industry expertise in growing NeuVT. The recognition of
incremental identifiable net assets has resulted in the recognition of an additional deferred tax liability of €1.7 million.

1. Malin does not consider its business combination transactions with the three Brandon entities and Cilatus to be individually significant and selected to group these
investments into “Other Entities” in the table above.
2. Of the €5.5 million non-cash consideration for NeuVT, €3.6 million represents the reclassification of Emba Medical from associate to subsidiary. The remaining balance of
€1.9 million represents non-cash consideration in respect of Emba Neuro which was an existing Malin subsidiary company prior to the NeuVT Transaction.
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13. Business Combinations (continued)
Following the completion of the NeuVT Transaction and prior to the exercise of the $4.0 million call option, Malin held 23% of
NeuVT Holding’s issued share capital. On 28 September 2016, the Group exercised the call option to invest a further €3.6 million
($4.0 million) in NeuVT, increasing the Group’s share of NeuVT’s issued share capital to 32%. The increase in Malin’s ownership
interest arising from this investment has been accounted for as an equity transaction.

2016
€’m

Reduction in carrying amount of NCI due to issuance of new shares to parent
NCI portion of proceeds from issuance of new shares to parent
(68% of €0.6 million being the equity portion of the follow-on investment)
Movement in equity attributable to owners of the Group

(0.8)
0.4
(0.4)

Wren
On 3 August 2016, Malin acquired approximately 35% of Wren Therapeutics Limited (“Wren”) issued share capital for cash
consideration of €3.3 million (£3.0 million). On the basis of Malin’s representation on the Wren board of directors, Wren has been
deemed a subsidiary of Malin and the investment has been accounted for as a business combination.
On the same date, and as part of the same agreement, Wren granted a call option to Malin, at a share price lower than Malin’s
initial investment, of €3.5 million (£3.0 million) to increase its fully diluted ownership interest to approximately 67%. This option is
exercisable solely at Malin’s discretion, any time on or before 3 August 2018. It has been determined that the fair value of this call
option was close to €nil when the option was granted and at 31 December 2016.
Based on the fair value determination of the acquisition date net assets, goodwill of €2.2 million (£1.9 million) was recognised in the
financial statements. The goodwill arising on this business combination represents the skills and expertise of the founders allowing
the company to successfully progress in targeting protein misfolding diseases.

Brandon entities
In the second half of the year as part of the structuring of the termination of the Operating Services Agreement between Malin
and BPI and to facilitate the transition of these resources directly to Malin (see note 30), Malin acquired control of three entities,
Brandon Point Industries Unlimited, Brandon Point Management Services Unlimited and Brandon Point Industries (US), Inc., from the
BPI Group. This transaction has been accounted for as a business combination.
The fair value of the net assets acquired was deemed to be equivalent to their book value on the acquisition date. Malin paid BPI
Group €0.3 million, representing the consideration paid for the net assets acquired by Malin, less the repayment of the operating
service charge prepaid to BPI Group in January 2016. As the consideration paid was equal to the fair value of the net assets on the
acquisition date, no goodwill arose on the accounting for this business combination.

Cilatus
On 18 November 2016, Malin paid €0.5 million (CHF 0.5 million) and committed to pay further deferred contingent consideration
valued as €0.3 million (CHF 0.3 million), to acquire 80% of the issued share capital of Cilatus, a Swiss consulting company that
provides end-to-end leadership, strategy, consulting, and operational management services for biopharma technical operations.
If each of the 2016 business combinations had occurred on 1 January 2016, management’s estimate of the impact on the Group’s
income statement is set out in the following table:
NeuVT
€’m

Revenue
Cost of sales
Research and development
General and administration
Profit/(loss) for the year
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(8.2)
(8.2)

Wren Other entities
€’m
€’m

(0.1)
(0.1)

Total
€’m

2.9

2.9

(1.5)
(1.3)
0.1

(1.5)
(8.3)
(1.3)
(8.2)
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13. Business Combinations (continued)
In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on
the date of acquisition would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2016.

Altan
On 10 June 2015, Malin acquired 65% of the share capital of Altan, a speciality pharmaceutical company, for consideration of €34.5
million. Given the complexity and timing of the closure of the Altan transaction, management had not completed their full analysis
of the components of fair value of the business and the assignment of these fair values to identifiable assets and liabilities when the
Group’s 2015 annual report was released. Following a detailed analysis of the business, its cash flows and the identifiable assets and
liabilities, the goodwill balance previously disclosed as €10.0 million has increased to €10.7 million.

14. Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goodwill Customer Lists
€’m
€’m

Cost:
At 1 January 2016
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Derecognition of subsidiary
Exchange differences
Additions
Acquisition accounting finalisation (note 13)
At 31 December 2016
Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2016
Exchange differences
Amortisation
Impairment
At 31 December 2016
Net book value: 31 December 2016
Net book value: 1 January 2016

IPR&D
€’m

Total
€’m

21.3
6.4
(1.3)
(0.4)
0.7
26.7

26.9
26.9

12.5
0.9
13.4

4.7
(0.1)
(0.1)
2.1
(1.3)
5.3

52.9
18.9
(1.4)
0.4
2.1
(0.6)
72.3

(9.7)
(9.7)
17.0
21.3

(1.3)
(2.7)
(4.0)
22.9
25.6

13.4
-

(0.3)
(0.7)
(1.0)
4.3
4.4

(1.6)
(3.4)
(9.7)
(14.7)
57.6
51.3

Goodwill Customer Lists
€’m
€’m

Cost:
At incorporation
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Exchange differences
Additions
At 31 December 2015
Accumulated amortisation:
At incorporation
Exchange differences
Amortisation
At 31 December 2015
Net book value: 31 December 2015
Net book value: At incorporation

Other
Intangibles
€’m

Other
Intangibles
€’m

Total
€’m

21.5
(0.2)
21.3

26.9
26.9

4.3
0.4
4.7

52.7
(0.2)
0.4
52.9

21.3
-

(1.3)
(1.3)
25.6
-

(0.3)
(0.3)
4.4
-

(1.6)
(1.6)
51.3
-
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14. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition. Included in the Group’s statement of financial position at 31 December 2016 is goodwill of €17.0 million (31
December 2015: €21.3 million) (see note 13). The movement in goodwill arose from business combination transactions with Cilatus,
NeuVT and Wren during the year offset by goodwill impairment arising from a restructuring of the Serenus business.
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that goodwill may be impaired. This testing
involves determining the recoverable amount of the relevant cash generating unit (being each subsidiary company) and comparing this
to the carrying amount of the investee company. A number of key assumptions have been made as a basis for the impairment tests. In
each case, these key assumptions have been made by management and are consistent with relevant external sources of information.
Where a value-in-use approach is used to assess the recoverable amount of the investee company, calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and projections. The cash flow forecasts exclude incremental profits and other cash flows
derived from planned acquisition activities. Sales forecasts have been extrapolated using growth rates based on similar companies’
experiences. The value-in-use of each asset is calculated using a pre-tax discount rate representing the Group’s estimated pre-tax
weighted average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect risks associated with each investee company.
The assumptions used for the value-in-use approach are detailed in the table below:

Altan
NeuVT

Projection
period

Growth rate

Terminal
growth rate

Discount rate

6 years
13 years

7 – 10%
17%

2%
3%

10%
12%

During the year, a restructuring of the Serenus Biotherapeutics Limited (“Serenus”) business was completed to narrow the African
geographic focus of the business. The revised long-term projection resulted in a recoverable amount for Serenus that does not
support the original carrying value of goodwill associated with the cash-generating unit. An impairment charge of €9.7 million has
been recognised in the income statement, reducing the carrying value of the goodwill recognised on Serenus to €nil.

15. Derivative assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2016, Malin had entered into call and put investment options and contingent investment commitments with
investee companies which could result in Malin making further investments in these companies over time. The fair value of each of
these investment options and commitments is set out below.

Derivative financial assets > 1 year:
Cilatus call option
Derivative financial assets < 1 year:
Viamet call options
3D4Medical call option
Derivative financial liabilities < 1 year:
Melinta put option
Interest rate swap
Net derivative financial asset/(liability) position
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31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

0.2
0.2

-

1.7
0.2
1.9

1.1
0.7
1.8

(0.3)
(0.3)
1.8

(1.8)
(0.3)
(2.1)
(0.3)
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15. Derivative assets and liabilities (continued)
The movement in Malin’s derivative assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:
At beginning of period
Fair value of derivative assets/liabilities acquired during the period
Exercise of derivative assets/liabilities at fair value during the period
Revaluation of derivative assets/liabilities to fair value during the period
At end of period

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

(0.3)
2.2
1.1
(1.2)
1.8

(0.2)
(0.1)
(0.3)

Viamet
As outlined in note 11, the BPI Group transferred its 33% portion of a $15.0 million (approximately €13.8 million) call option with
Viamet to Malin in 2015 in conjunction with the BPI Investment Transfers. The call option entitled the holders to invest a further
$15.0 million in Viamet at the same subscription price as the initial investments in the period through to the release of the Phase 2b
interim clinical trial results for Viamet’s lead compound, VT-1161. The fair value of the option transferred on initial recognition and
at 31 December 2015 was estimated at €1.1 million ($1.3 million).
On 17 February 2016, Malin exercised its €4.5 million ($5.0 million) call option with Viamet. The fair value of the option was
estimated at €0.1 million ($0.2 million) at the exercise date (31 December 2015: €1.1 million) resulting in a fair value loss of €1.0
million for the year to 31 December 2016.
On 21 September 2016, Malin acquired a call option, exercisable solely at Malin’s discretion, on or before 31 July 2017 to subscribe
for 3.9 million shares at the same subscription price per share as the additional investment in September 2016. The fair value of
this option on initial recognition was estimated at €2.0 million ($2.2 million) and at €1.7 million ($1.8 million) at 31 December 2016
resulting in a fair value loss of €0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

3D4Medical
The fair value of this derivative financial asset was estimated at €0.2 million ($0.2 million) at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015:
€0.7 million) resulting in a fair value loss of €0.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Cilatus
On 18 November 2016, Malin obtained a call option to acquire the remaining 20% of Cilatus for consideration based on future
EBITDA targets being met. The call option is a derivative financial asset and its fair value was calculated at €0.2 million (CHF 0.2
million) on initial recognition and again at 31 December 2016.

Melinta
On 9 March 2016, Melinta called its €9.1 million ($10.0 million) put option when the fair value of the derivative financial liability was
€1.3 million ($1.9 million) resulting in a fair value gain of €0.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Poseida
On 1 August 2016, Malin completed its €9.0 million ($10.0 million) contingent investment commitment with Poseida. At the date of
exercise, the fair value of the derivative was estimated at close to €nil (31 December 2015: close to €nil).

Serenus, Hatteras, Artizan, Wren and Kymab
Malin has determined that the fair value of each of its options and commitments with Serenus, Hatteras, Artizan, Wren and Kymab
was close to €nil at 31 December 2016.

An2H
With the provision of the An2H notes in 2016, Malin and An2H mutually agreed to terminate Malin’s €10.0 million contingent
investment commitment with An2H. At the termination date the fair value of this investment commitment was deemed to be €nil
(31 December 2015: €nil).
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Cost:
At 1 January 2016
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 13)
Additions
At 31 December 2016
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2016
Charged in the period
At 31 December 2016
Net book value: 31 December 2016
Net book value: 1 January 2016

Cost:
At incorporation
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions
At 31 December 2015
Accumulated depreciation:
At incorporation
Charged in the period
At 31 December 2015
Net book value: 31 December 2015
Net book value: date of incorporation

Land and
buildings
€’m

Plant and
equipment
€’m

Total
€’m

4.2
4.2

9.0
0.6
1.0
10.6

13.2
0.6
1.0
14.8

(0.1)
(0.1)
(0.2)
4.0
4.1

(0.9)
(1.5)
(2.4)
8.2
8.1

(1.0)
(1.6)
(2.6)
12.2
12.2

Land and
buildings
€’m

Plant and
equipment
€’m

Total
€’m

4.1
0.1
4.2

8.7
0.3
9.0

12.8
0.4
13.2

(0.1)
(0.1)
4.1
-

(0.9)
(0.9)
8.1
-

(1.0)
(1.0)
12.2
-

17. Inventories

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

A provision of €1.3 million was made against Serenus inventory in the year ended 31 December 2016.
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31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

8.0
0.5
5.4
13.9

6.0
0.3
7.7
14.0
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18. Trade and other receivables and non-current assets

Trade and other current assets
Trade receivables
Prepayments
Vat recoverable
Convertible loan notes
Other debtors
Other non-current assets
Convertible loan notes

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

10.7
0.8
0.9
5.0
0.5
17.9

13.1
1.8
0.8
0.7
16.4

7.0
7.0

-

Trade and other current assets
The trade receivables balance of €10.7 million relates almost entirely to Altan and incorporates private and public hospitals and
healthcare providers in Spain and other European countries, as well as Latin America, Asia and other geographies.
In October 2016, Malin entered into a convertible loan note agreement with An2H for €5.0 million. The An2H notes are interest-free
with a maturity date of 31 December 2017, upon which time the outstanding principal is due to convert to either An2H equity or be
repaid, if not having converted to An2H equity as part of a previous equity financing round. The An2H notes are expected to convert
into equity on, or prior to, the maturity date. Malin has assessed the fair value of the debt and equity components of the An2H notes
and the debt component was calculated as insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 December 2016.

Other non-current assets
The non-current receivables balance of €7.0 million relates entirely to the Melinta notes outstanding at 31 December 2016.
The Melinta notes carry a simple interest rate of 8% per annum and have a maturity date of 2 June 2018, upon which time the
outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest is due to convert to either Melinta equity or be repaid, if not having converted
to Melinta equity previously following specified events. The Melinta notes are expected to convert into equity on, or prior to, the
maturity date. Malin has assessed the fair value of the debt and equity components of the Melinta notes and the debt component
was calculated as insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 December 2016.

19. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash held by Malin and Malin direct corporate subsidiaries
Cash held by Malin investee company subsidiaries

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

28.8
20.1
48.9

67.0
30.0
97.0

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance included a restricted cash balance of €2.0 million.
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20. Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
PAYE, VAT payable and social welfare

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

6.9
9.6
0.2
16.7

6.4
5.7
0.6
12.7

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

0.5
4.2
4.7

5.4
1.9
7.3

39.3
23.6
62.9
67.6

27.6
27.6
34.9

21. Borrowings

Current borrowings
Bank borrowings – Malin corporate
Bank borrowings – Malin investee company subsidiaries
Loan drawn down from related party
Non-current borrowings
Bank borrowings – Malin corporate
Bank borrowings – Malin investee company subsidiaries
Total borrowings

On 23 June 2016, the Company’s subsidiary, Malin Life Sciences Holdings Limited, secured a debt facility of €70.0 million over a
period of 7 years from the EIB to enable Malin to increase its investment in innovation and research across the dynamic and fastgrowing segments of the European life sciences industry. As at 31 December 2016, Malin had drawn down €40.0 million of this debt
facility in 2 tranches, €10.0 million on 29 July 2016 (“Tranche 1”) and €30.0 million on 10 October 2016 (“Tranche 2”). Each tranche is
repayable in 4 equal payments over a 7-year period with the first repayment due in July 2020.
Interest on the drawn down loan tranches is repayable semi-annually from January 2017 and April 2017 respectively, is calculated as
the 6 month Euribor rate plus an interest margin and equates to approximately 4% for both tranches.
Transaction costs incurred relating to the debt facility were approximately €0.8 million and are amortised over the term of the loan
under the effective interest rate method.
Under the terms of the EIB debt facility, Malin is obliged to pay a non-utilisation fee on any undrawn facility from 22 December
2017 and is required to maintain a specific level of unencumbered funds in its bank accounts for the duration of the debt facility
drawdown period. Malin is also required to hold 25% of investment realisation proceeds, with named exceptions, in a separate cash
sweep account owned by Malin.
The loans contain a debt covenant requiring that the ratio of the total fair value of investments plus cash and qualifying liquidity to
debt should at no time fall below 4:1. The loan also stipulates that on any date, the aggregate of all amounts scheduled for payment
to the EIB in the following 12 months should be kept in a separate bank account secured to the EIB.
€27.3 million of the Group’s borrowings at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: €32.5 million) relate to a secured term loan
obtained by Altan in June 2015 of which €5.2 million was repaid in 2016. The term loan is secured on the assets of the former GES
Group and is for a term of 72 months. The loan carries a coupon of 3.50% plus the 6 month Euribor rate.
In addition, Altan has a €7.5 million revolving credit facility which can be drawn at any time through May 2019 and carries a coupon
of 3.25% plus the 6 month Euribor rate. At the balance sheet date, this facility was fully undrawn.
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22. Share capital and premium
31 December 2016

Authorised Share Capital
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
A Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
B Ordinary Shares of €0.0001 each
C Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
D Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
Series Preferred Shares of €0.001 each
Deferred Shares of €0.0001 each
Issued Share Capital
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
A Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
B Ordinary Shares of €0.0001 each
C Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
D Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
Series Preferred Shares of €0.001 each
Deferred Shares of €0.0001 each

31 December 2015

Number

€’m

Number

€’m

300,000,000
5,000,000
305,000,000
200,000,000
305,000,000
1,115,000,000

0.3
0.2
0.5

300,000,000
5,000,000
350,000
650,000
306,000,000

0.3
0.3

39,626,086
3,279,299
42,905,385

-

39,230,527
3,279,299
42,509,826

-

Authorised share capital
On 26 April 2016, the unissued C Ordinary Shares and unissued D Ordinary Shares in the authorised share capital of the Company
were cancelled. On the same date, 305,000,000 B Ordinary Shares, 200,000,000 Series Preferred Shares and 305,000,000 Deferred
Shares were authorised for issue. There were no other changes to the authorised share capital of the Company in the year to 31
December 2016.

Issued share capital
During the year, 395,559 new Ordinary Shares were issued following the vesting of awards under the 2015 LTIP. No proceeds arose
on any issuance. There have been no other changes to the Issued Share Capital of the Company in the year to 31 December 2016. As
at 31 December 2016, the Issued Ordinary Share Capital consisted of 39,626,086 Ordinary Shares of nominal value €0.001 each (31
December 2015: 39,230,527).
Subsequent to the year end, on 3 May 2017, Malin completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the
Company representing approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital at this time, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising
gross proceeds of €27.0 million. Following admission of these new Ordinary Shares, Malin’s issued Ordinary Share capital consists of
42,325,225 Ordinary Shares of nominal value €0.001 each.
The A Ordinary Shares will automatically and immediately convert on a one-for-one basis to Ordinary Shares on a change of control.
The A Ordinary Shares do not carry any voting rights, rights to a dividend or rights to participate on a return of capital.
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23. Other reserves
Share-based
payment Available-forreserve sale reserve
€’m
€’m

At 1 January 2016
Founder A Ordinary Shares
expense
2015 LTBP and 2015 LTIP
charges
Currency translation:
Arising in the
period – subsidiaries
Arising in the
period – associates
Arising in the period – recycle
of FX – associates
Exercise of Viamet derivative
asset
Available-for-sale
investments – change in fair value
(note 12)
Available-for-sale
investments – change in fair value
(foreign currency) (note 12)
Transactions with NCI
At 31 December 2016

5.7

1.0

6.1

-

5.8

110

(2.2)

Viamet BPI
Retransfer measurement
reserve
of NCI
€’m
€’m

Capital
redemption
reserve
€’m

Total
€’m

1.1

0.7

-

6.3

-

-

-

-

6.1

-

-

-

-

-

5.8

-

-

0.1

-

-

-

0.1

-

-

(9.3)

-

-

-

(9.3)

-

-

0.4

-

-

-

0.4

-

-

-

-

-

(1.1)

-

9.3

-

-

-

-

9.3

17.6

2.5
12.8

-

0.4
1.1

-

2.5
0.4
20.5

Total
€’m

Share-based
payment Available-forreserve sale reserve
€’m
€’m

At incorporation
Receipt of call option on Viamet
from BPI
Founder A Ordinary Shares
expense
2015 LTBP and 2015 LTIP
charges
Altan share-based payment
charge
Currency translation:
Arising in the
period – subsidiaries
Arising in period – associate
undertakings
Available-for-sale
investments – change in fair value
(foreign currency) (note 12)
Transactions with NCI
At 31 December 2015

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
€’m

(11.0)

(1.1)

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
€’m

Viamet BPI
transfer
reserve
€’m

NCI
€’m

Capital
redemption
reserve
€’m

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.1

-

-

1.1

4.7

-

-

-

-

-

4.7

0.2

-

-

-

-

-

0.2

0.8

-

-

-

-

-

0.8

-

-

0.2

-

-

-

0.2

-

-

(2.4)

-

-

-

(2.4)

5.7

1.0
1.0

(2.2)

1.1

0.7
0.7

-

1.0
0.7
6.3
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23. Other reserves (continued)
Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve comprises the amounts expensed in the income statement in connection with share-based
payments which were unissued at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve comprises unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets including changes arising from foreign currency translation.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The Group’s foreign currency translation reserve represents all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
net assets of the Group’s non-euro denominated operations, including the translation of the profits and losses of such operations
from the actual rate for the period to the closing rate at the reporting date, as well as the Group’s share of the currency translation
adjustment of its associate undertakings.

Viamet BPI transfer reserve
The Viamet BPI transfer reserve represents a $5.0 million call option with Viamet that BPI transferred to Malin as part of the investor
rights transferred to Malin in 2015 as part of the BPI Investment Transfers (see note 11). Malin exercised the call option on 17
February 2016.

Re-measurement of NCI
This reserve category represents re-measurement of the NCI following step-up investments and disposals of Malin’s subsidiaries
which resulted in movements in Malin’s ownership interests.

Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve of €2k arose in 2015 from the Company buying back and cancelling its ordinary shares.

24. Loss per Ordinary Share
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares
outstanding and, when dilutive, adjusted for the effect of all potentially dilutive shares, including the unvested Founder A Ordinary
Shares and outstanding RSUs.

Numerator:
Net loss for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent
Denominator:
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding for the period
Basic and diluted loss per share (euro per share)

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

(83.5)

(44.9)

39.4

27.5

(€2.12)

(€1.63)

As at 31 December 2016, there were 3,279,299 unvested Founder A Ordinary Shares (31 December 2015: 3,279,299) and 634,073
outstanding RSUs (31 December 2015: 265,131) that could potentially have a dilutive impact on earnings per share in the future. As
a net loss was recorded in the period, the dilutive potential shares are anti-dilutive for the earnings per share.
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25. Share-based compensation

Founder Ordinary Shares expense
Founder A Ordinary Shares expense
Long-term bonus plan expense
Long-term incentive plan and equity based remuneration expense
Shares issued for services rendered
Altan share-based payment expense

2016 expense
€’m

2015 expense
€’m

6.1
2.0
11.0
0.1
19.2

15.4
4.7
0.2
1.6
0.4
1.2
23.5

Founder Shares
In connection with the Admission in March 2015, Malin issued 1,543,199 Ordinary Shares to a BPI Group Company, representing 4%
of the Total Issued Share Capital of the Company at the grant date, referred to as the Founder Ordinary Shares. The full amount of
the fair value of the Founder Ordinary Shares of €15.4 million was recognised as a share-based payment expense on the grant date
and is presented within the Company Establishment Costs in the 2015 income statement (note 6). The Founder Ordinary Shares
were subject to a 3-year lock-up arrangement from the Admission date during which time the BPI Group may not sell, transfer,
grant any option over, or otherwise dispose of, the legal, beneficial or any interest that it has in these shares for a period of 3
years following Admission. Malin was informed by the BPI Group Company in August 2016 that the lock-up arrangement had been
released in respect of approximately one third of the Founder Ordinary Shares.
In addition, the Company issued 3,279,299 A Ordinary Shares in March 2015 to a BPI Group Company, representing 8.5% of the
Total Issued Share Capital of the Company at the grant date, referred to as the Founder A Ordinary Shares. There are 2 separate
tranches of performance thresholds upon which the Founder A Ordinary Shares convert to Ordinary Shares. The first tranche of
6% (2,314,561 A Ordinary Shares) is convertible at any time after the third year anniversary of Admission on the achievement by
the Company of a CAGR on TSR of equal to or greater than 11%. This infers Malin having a share price of €13.68 on the third year
anniversary date. The second tranche of 2.5% (964,738 A Ordinary Shares) is convertible at any time after the fifth year anniversary
of Admission on the achievement by the Company of a CAGR on TSR of equal to or greater than 17.5%. This infers Malin having a
share price of €22.40 on the fifth year anniversary date. The Founder A Ordinary Shares will automatically and immediately convert
on a one-for-one basis to Ordinary Shares on a change of control.
The fair value of the Founder A Ordinary Shares was arrived in 2015 by applying a Monte Carlo simulation technique with the
following weighted average assumptions:
Assumptions

Expected volatility
Expected life
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate

35%
9 years
0.54%

Based on the Monte Carlo model, the fair value of the First Tranche of Founder A Ordinary Shares (11% CAGR TSR Target vesting
from the third anniversary of the Placing) was estimated at €6.84 per share. The fair value of the Second Tranche Founder A
Ordinary Shares (17.5% CAGR TSR Target vesting from the fifth anniversary of the Placing) was estimated at €4.23 per share.
The cumulative fair value of the First Tranche Founder A Ordinary Shares (2,314,561 A Ordinary Shares) issued to the BPI Group
Company on the Admission Date is €15.8 million and the cumulative fair value of the Second Tranche Founder A Ordinary Shares
(964,738 A Ordinary Shares) issued to the BPI Group Company on the Admission Date is €4.1 million.
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25. Share-based compensation (continued)
Malin is recognising the fair value of these awards as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding credit recorded in a
share based payment reserve in equity over the relevant vesting periods. The vesting period of the First Tranche Founder A Ordinary
Shares has been estimated at 3 years while the vesting period of Second Tranche Founder A Ordinary Shares has been estimated at
5 years. A charge of €6.1 million was recognised for the year to 31 December 2016 (2015: €4.7 million) in relation to the Founder A
Ordinary Shares. This charge is presented within general and administrative expenses in the income statement (note 6).

Long-term bonus plan
The 2015 LTBP provides for a bonus pool to be created if an exceptional level of TSR is delivered by Malin. Malin recognises the fair
value of the plan over its estimated vesting period of 5 years from 1 November 2015. Further detail on the 2015 LTBP is out in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66.
The fair value of the 2015 LTBP awards has been arrived at by applying a Monte Carlo simulation technique with the following
weighted average assumptions:
At 31
December
2016

Reference share price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate

€10.63
38.45%
4 years
(0.02)%

At 31
December
2015

€10.63
37.77%
5 years
0.31%

Based on the Monte Carlo model, the cumulative fair value of the 2015 LTBP awards was estimated at €9.4 million at 31 December
2016 (31 December 2015: €7.9 million). A charge of €2.0 million was recognised for the year to 31 December 2016 in relation to the
2015 LTBP awards in the consolidated income statement.

Long-term incentive plan and equity based remuneration
The Company’s 2015 LTIP was established on 1 November 2015. The terms of share options granted under the 2015 LTIP during the
year are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66. To date, the Group has net-settled a portion of employee
awards with equity and paid the taxes due on behalf of the employees.
The fair value of awards made under the 2015 LTIP is recognised in the consolidated income statement with a corresponding credit
recorded in a share-based payment reserve in equity over the relevant vesting periods. A charge of €3.0 million was recognised for
the not-yet-vested tranches in the year to 31 December 2016. At 31 December 2016, the remaining unamortised expense for awards
granted under the 2015 LTIP which remained unvested at 31 December 2016, was €3.5 million.
The fair value expense of equity based remuneration for 2016 was €0.8 million.
The RSUs outstanding at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are summarised below:
No. of RSUs at No. of RSUs at
31 December 31 December
2016
2015

Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Exercised – issued
Exercised – net settlement adjustment
Outstanding at end of period

265,131
903,114
(395,559)
(138,613)
634,073

397,697
(73,450)
(59,116)
265,131
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26. Financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015. The tables do not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair
value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Financial assets:
Available-for-sale investments (note 12)
Derivative financial assets (note 15)
At end of year/period
Financial liabilities:
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Non-interest bearing loans and borrowings
Derivative financial liabilities (note 15)
At end of year/period

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Available-for-sale investments (unquoted equity shares)
Derivative financial assets
At 31 December 2016
Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Non-interest bearing loans and borrowings
Derivative financial liabilities
At 31 December 2016

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Available-for-sale investments (unquoted equity shares)
Derivative financial assets
At 31 December 2015
Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Non-interest bearing loans and borrowings
Derivative financial liabilities
At 31 December 2015
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31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Carrying
amount
€’m

Fair value
€’m

Carrying
amount
€’m

Fair value
€’m

79.3
2.1
81.4

79.3
2.1
81.4

54.0
1.8
55.8

54.0
1.8
55.8

(66.8)
(0.8)
(0.3)
(67.9)

(58.7)
(0.6)
(0.3)
(59.6)

(32.1)
(2.8)
(2.1)
(37.0)

(29.4)
(2.6)
(2.1)
(34.1)

Level 1
€’m

Level 2
€’m

Level 3
€’m

Total
€’m

-

-

79.3
2.1
81.4

79.3
2.1
81.4

-

(58.7)
(0.6)
(0.3)
(59.6)

-

(58.7)
(0.6)
(0.3)
(59.6)

Level 1
€’m

Level 2
€’m

Level 3
€’m

Total
€’m

-

-

54.0
1.8
55.8

54.0
1.8
55.8

(1.8)
(1.8)

(29.4)
(2.6)
(2.1)
(34.1)

-

(29.4)
(2.6)
(0.3)
(32.3)
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26. Financial instruments (continued)
Fair value hierarchy
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows:
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.
• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (e.g.
quoted prices for similar assets). These are mainly based on prices determined from recent investments in the last 12 months and
a review of the individual circumstances of each investee company.
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Where quoted prices in active markets are not available, the standard identifies 3 types of valuation techniques that can be applied
to estimate fair value. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable (i.e. similar) assets, liabilities, or a group of assets and liabilities, such as a business. The income approach
converts future amounts (e.g. cash flows or income and expenses) to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount. The fair value
measurement is determined on the basis of the value indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts.
The cost approach reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the service capacity of an asset (often referred to
as current replacement cost). The cost approach will only be relevant if the investment was acquired within the previous 12 months
and its cost is still considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value at the measurement date.

Fair value of cash at bank and in hand
For cash at bank and in hand, the carrying value is deemed to reflect a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Fair value of borrowings
The fair value of borrowings is measured by discounting contractual cash flows at prevailing interest and exchange rates.

Fair value of Malin’s available for sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are fair valued at each reporting date. The Group’s available-for-sale assets are not traded in active
markets and were acquired by the Group in the period from incorporation to 31 December 2016. For 2 of the Group’s available-forsale investments, Melinta and Hatteras, management has determined that given the recent timing of these investments and based
on an assessment of the market and company performance in the period since, the initial investment cost is still a fair approximation
of fair value.
Xenex completed a financing round in 2016 in which third party investors participated. The enhanced valuation of this financing
round over the valuations of Xenex when Malin completed its prior investments formed the basis for the fair value of Malin’s entire
Xenex investment holding at 31 December 2016.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
Management have assessed the characteristics of each of these contracts to determine the most appropriate basis for determining
the fair value of these derivatives on initial recognition.
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27. Financial risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing its financial risks are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to build value and provide compelling total shareholder return performance, while maintaining a strong balance sheet to support
the continued organic and acquisitive growth of its businesses and to maintain investor and market confidence.
The Group is exposed to financial risks which arise during the ordinary course of business. These financial risks primarily relate to the
Group’s liquidity and exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.

Risk exposures
a. Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
Credit risk arises from credit exposure to trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents including deposits with banks and financial
institutions and derivative financial instruments.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents give rise to credit risk on amounts due from counterparties. The maximum credit risk is represented by
the carrying value at the reporting date and management does not anticipate that any significant counterparty will fail to meet
its obligations. The Group controls this exposure by transacting with high quality financial institutions for the purpose of placing
deposits and limiting its exposure to any one financial institution. Exposure to each counterparty and any changes in their credit
rating is monitored by management on a regular basis.
The Group’s treasury policy criteria limits the amount of cash that can be held with financial institutions based on their credit rating
per established rating agencies.
Of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance at 31 December 2016, the following table shows the amounts held with A-rated
and B-rated institutions based on Standard and Poor’s credit ratings and equivalent credit ratings from other established rating
agencies.

A-rated financial institutions
B-rated financial institutions

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

27.7
21.2
48.9

64.3
32.7
97.0

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

10.7
12.0
0.9
1.3
24.9

13.1
0.8
2.5
16.4

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Convertible loan notes
VAT recoverable
Prepayments and other debtors

The trade receivables balance of €10.7 million relates almost entirely to Altan and incorporates private and public hospitals and
healthcare providers in Spain and other European countries, as well as Latin America, Asia and other geographies. There is no
concentration of credit risk or dependence on individual customers. The Group’s credit risk management policy in relation to trade
receivables involves periodically assessing the financial reliability of customers, taking into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.

116

Malin Corporation plc | Annual Report 2016

27. Financial risk management (continued)

Trade receivables

Spain
EU (excluding Spain)
ROW

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

7.3
3.0
0.4
10.7

9.5
2.8
0.8
13.1

Included in the Group’s trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2016 are balances of €5.3 million (31 December 2015: €8.3
million) which are past due at the reporting date, of which €0.1 million (31 December 2015: €0.1 million) has been provided for. The
aged analysis of trade receivable balances is as follows:

Trade receivables

Current
Less than 30 days overdue
30 – 60 days overdue
61 – 90 days overdue
91 – 120 days overdue
Over 120 days overdue

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

5.4
2.0
0.9
0.6
0.4
1.4
10.7

4.8
2.9
1.5
1.1
0.7
2.1
13.1

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

At beginning of period
Arising on acquisition
Subsequent recovery of amounts previously provided for
Amounts written off during the period
Provision for impairment recognised in the period
At end of period

0.1
(0.1)
0.1
0.1

0.3
(0.1)
(0.2)
0.1
0.1

The provision for impairment relates to trade receivables which are over 120 days due from Spanish, European and rest-of-world
healthcare providers to Altan.
b. Liquidity risk
The Group maintains a strong balance sheet which includes cash balances in current and deposit accounts with notice periods of up
to 35 days. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure as far as possible that it will always have sufficient liquidity to:
• Fund its ongoing activities and future capital commitments
• Ensure funds exist to allow for the selective and efficient deployment of capital in strategic businesses which have potential to
create further shareholder value
• Maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate against risk and unforeseen events.
At 31 December 2016, the Company’s main source of funding was a combination of equity finance and debt finance. During 2015, the
Company raised €380.0 million on equity markets and on 23 June 2016, the Company’s subsidiary, Malin Life Sciences Holdings Limited,
secured a debt facility of €70.0 million over a period of 7 years from the EIB. As at 31 December 2016, €40.0 million of this facility was
drawn down. The loan agreement with the EIB requires Malin Life Sciences Holdings Limited to maintain a minimum cash balance of €25.0
million. The Group also has a separate loan balance with a carrying value of €27.8 million associated with its subsidiary, Altan.
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27. Financial risk management (continued)
At 31 December 2016, Malin had entered into a number of investment commitments, some of which are contingent on investee
milestones, which could result in Malin making further investments in specific investee companies over time. For further information
on these commitments please refer to notes 11, 12 and 15. Malin has also entered into a collaborative funding agreement with the
Chemistry of Health at the University of Cambridge and Malin’s commitments under this agreement are expected to commence in
2018. For further information on this collaborative agreement please refer to note 29.
Subsequent to the year end, on 3 May 2017, Malin completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the
Company representing approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital at this time, at a price of €10.03 per share, to raise
gross proceeds of €27.0 million.
Management’s focus is on providing strategic, operational, technical and scientific oversight and support to each of our assets to
advance the businesses and create shareholder value. This focus on execution within our assets should support some near-term
value inflection points for our assets with resultant cash realisations and inflows potentially bolstering our year-end cash position.
The Group believes it has sufficient cash resources and bank debt facilities at its disposal, which provides flexibility in financing
existing operations, acquisitions and other developments. Malin’s capital position, and its ability to invest in new or existing assets,
may be impacted by a number of potential value inflection points during 2017 which could result in capital inflows, as well as
potential inflows from raising additional equity or debt capital.
The following are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial instruments, including interest payments and excluding the
impact of netting arrangements at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

Interest bearing loans and
borrowings
Non-interest bearing loans
and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Provisions
(non-investment related)
Derivative financial
instruments
Interest rate swap
Contingent investment
commitments1
Investment commitments
At 31 December 2016

Carrying
amount
€’m

Contractual
cash flow
€’m

6 months
or less
€’m

6 – 12
months
€’m

Between
1 – 2 years
€’m

Between
2 – 5 years
€’m

More than
5 years
€’m

66.8

78.9

3.2

3.6

8.0

43.1

21.0

0.8
16.7

0.9
16.7

0.1
16.7

0.1
-

0.1
-

0.4
-

0.2
-

0.7

0.7

-

-

0.2

-

0.5

0.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

-

0.3
85.6

7.1
17.4
122.5

4.9
1.6
26.6

2.2
5.6
11.6

9.8
18.3

44.1

21.9

1.	Investment commitment subject to achievement of milestones by investee company.
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27. Financial risk management (continued)

Interest bearing loans and
borrowings
Non-interest bearing loans
and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Derivative financial
instruments
Put option
Interest rate swap
Contingent investment
commitments1
Investment commitments
At 31 December 2015

Carrying
amount
€’m

Contractual
cash flow
€’m

6 months
or less
€’m

6 – 12
months
€’m

Between
1 – 2 years
€’m

Between
2 – 5 years
€’m

More than
5 years
€’m

32.1

37.2

3.9

2.5

5.2

21.2

4.4

2.8
12.7
0.5

2.8
12.7
0.5

2.0
12.7
0.5

0.1
-

0.3
-

0.3
-

0.1
-

1.8
0.3

9.2
0.8

9.2
0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

-

50.2

19.2
13.0
95.4

1.2
29.6

19.2
1.2
23.1

2.5
8.2

3.7
25.6

4.4
8.9

c. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the value of investments held
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments.
Foreign exchange risk
Malin’s functional and reporting currency is euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial and investment transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in the Group’s foreign operations giving rise to other currencies, principally the
US dollar and GB Pound Sterling. Details of the Group’s assets and liabilities and income statement are set out below.

Assets and liabilities held by the Group at
31 December 2016
2016 Income statement

Assets and liabilities held by the Group at
31 December 2015
2015 Income statement

Euro
€’m

USD
€’m

236.9
(72.8)

59.9
(13.9)

CAD
€’m

-

GBP
€’m

ZAR
€’m

CHF
€’m

Total
€’m

11.5
(0.1)

0.3

(0.1)
(0.1)

308.2
(86.6)

Euro
€’m

USD
€’m

CAD
€’m

GBP
€’m

ZAR
€’m

Total
€’m

321.8
(38.4)

39.3
(11.5)

3.2
-

1.0
(0.1)

0.1
0.4

365.4
(49.6)

A reasonably possible strengthening, or weakening, of the US dollar and GB Pound Sterling against the euro at 31 December 2016
would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and
ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases.

Effect in €’m

USD (5% movement)
GBP (5% movement)

Year ended 31 December 2016

31 December 2016

Income statement

Equity

Strengthening
€’m

(0.5)
-

Weakening Strengthening
€’m
€’m

0.5
-

3.2
0.6

Weakening
€’m

(2.9)
(0.5)

1.	Investment commitment subject to achievement of milestones by investee company.
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27. Financial risk management (continued)

Effect in €’m

USD (5% movement)
CAD (5% movement)

Period ended 31 December
2015

31 December 2015

Income statement

Equity

Strengthening
€’m

(0.4)
-

Weakening Strengthening
€’m
€’m

0.4
-

2.1
0.2

Weakening
€’m

(1.9)
(0.2)

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balance of €48.9 million was denominated in the following currencies:

Euro
US Dollar
Pound Sterling
Canadian Dollar
Other

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

33.3
10.4
5.1
0.1
48.9

52.7
40.3
0.6
3.2
0.2
97.0

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash deposits as at 31 December 2016 and the interest-bearing debt held by Malin and its
subsidiary, Altan. Interest rate risk is managed on a continuous basis in conjunction with assessing the funding requirements of the Group.
Capital risk
Malin considers capital to consist of certain equity (share capital, share premium and retained earnings) and long-term debt. The
Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the ongoing
development of the Group. The Board periodically reviews the capital structure of the Group, considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital.
Other risks
Malin had investments across 18 different entities at the reporting date. The Group mitigates exposure to the value of these
investments by having an established investment appraisal process in place which involve continuous monitoring procedures which
are subject to senior management and board review.

28. Non-controlling interests
At beginning of period
Acquisition accounting finalisation
Acquisition of subsidiaries in the period (note 13)
Share of loss for the period
Share-based payment charge attributable to NCI
Equity transactions with NCI
Follow-on cash investment by parent into subsidiary
Share of foreign exchange reserve
At 31 December

2016
€’m

2015
€’m

16.1
(0.4)
15.7
9.4
(3.1)
(0.8)
0.4
0.5
22.1

21.0
(4.7)
0.4
(2.9)
2.2
0.1
16.1

On 28 September 2016, the Group acquired an additional 9% interest in NeuVT for €3.6 million ($4.0 million) of which €0.6 million
was the equity component and €3.0 million was convertible debt.
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28. Non-controlling interests (continued)
The following table summarises the information at 31 December 2016 relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has NCI.
Altan
€’m

NeuVT
€’m

NCI percentage at 31 December 2016

35%

68%

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets
Net assets attributable to NCI

39.1
40.8
(30.8)
(13.8)
35.3
12.4

13.4
2.0
(6.6)
(0.9)
7.9
5.4

Revenue

41.7

-

Other
Entities1

0.5
12.6
(1.1)
12.0
4.3

Total
€’m

22.1

0.4

Net gain/(loss)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)

2.3
2.3

(2.6)
0.4
(2.2)

(8.4)
0.4
(8.0)

7.9

Gain/(loss) allocated to NCI
OCI allocated to NCI
Total comprehensive income/(loss) allocated to NCI

0.8
0.8

(1.8)
0.3
(1.5)

(2.1)
0.2
(1.9)

(3.1)
0.5
(2.6)

29. Commitments and contingencies
At 31 December 2016, Malin had made 2 investment commitments, to Hatteras and Cilatus, and 3 contingent investment commitments
to Artizan, Kymab and Viamet, which could result in Malin making further investments in these investee companies over time. For further
information on these commitments please refer to notes 11, 12 and 15.
In August 2016, Malin entered into a collaborative funding agreement with the Chemistry of Health Centre at the University of
Cambridge under which Malin has committed to invest €1.2 million (£1.0 million) per year in respect of the Nidus Cambridge
Laboratory Project for a minimum period of 5 years. This commitment is expected to commence in 2018.

30. Related party transactions
Under IAS 24, “Related Party Disclosures” (“IAS 24”), Malin has various related parties stemming from relationships with subsidiaries,
associate undertakings and non-controlling interests, its founders, key management personnel and other related parties. All
transactions with subsidiaries eliminate on consolidation and are not presented, in accordance with revised IAS 24.

BPI and Malin related parties
Malin’s founder is the BPI Group, an Irish life sciences holding company. The related party transactions between Malin and the BPI
Group are set out below.
Brandon Point Management Services Unlimited Company (trading as “BPI Consulting”) contract
Malin entered into an operating services agreement (the “Operating Services Agreement”) with BPI Consulting, a subsidiary of the BPI
Group, in 2015, pursuant to which BPI Consulting provided a range of corporate, administrative and operational services to the Company.

1. Malin does not consider the NCI information of Cilatus, Serenus and Wren to be individually significant and selected to group these investment into “Other Entities” in
the table above.
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30. Related party transactions (continued)
The Operating Services Agreement was overseen by the Governance and Conflicts Committee of the Board. Malin paid for
these services on normal commercial terms or competitively favourable terms reflecting the synergies between BPI Consulting’s
infrastructure and the infrastructure required by Malin. The annual fee was approved by the Governance and Conflicts Committee of
the Board based on submissions of the services and costs provided by Malin and BPI Consulting. The Operating Services Agreement
was subject to a maximum annual charge of €1.7 million for each year of the initial 3-year term.
With effect from 1 July 2016, Malin and BPI Consulting mutually agreed to terminate the Operating Services Agreement between
the 2 entities. The estimated charge for 2016, which was prepaid by the Company in January 2016, was €1.5 million, inclusive of
irrecoverable VAT.
For operational efficiency, Malin acquired the BPI Consulting business infrastructure used by Malin and previously paid for under the
Operating Services Agreement. Malin paid the BPI Group €0.3 million, representing the consideration paid for net assets acquired
by Malin, less the repayment of the portion of the Operating Service Agreement charge in respect of the second half of 2016
prepaid to BPI Consulting in January 2016. The employment contracts of 11 BPI Group employees transferred to Malin following the
termination of the Operating Services Agreement.
Founder Shares
In connection with the Admission in 2015, Malin issued the BPI Group with Founder Ordinary Shares representing 4% of the Total
Issued Share Capital of the Company at the time of issuance and Founder A Ordinary Shares representing 8.5% of the Total Issued
Share Capital of the Company at the time of issuance. The Founder A Ordinary Shares are convertible into Ordinary Shares upon the
achievement by the Company of agreed performance thresholds or on the occurrence of a change of control. A non-cash sharebased payment charge of €6.1 million associated with the Founder A Ordinary Shares was recognised in the period to 31 December
2016. For further information on the Founder Shares, please refer to note 25.
Other BPI shareholdings in Malin
In connection with the BPI Investment Transfers in 2015, Malin issued 764,145 Ordinary Shares to the BPI Group along with its
principals and shareholders, who funded initial investments that were transferred to Malin in each case at their initial transaction
date value (i.e. the consideration paid by the BPI Group, its principals and shareholders) totalling €7.6 million ($8.6 million) which was
also the fair value of the investments at the date of transfer.
The BPI Group along with its principals and shareholders have an interest in an aggregate 5.9% of the Issued Ordinary Share Capital
of the Company. This includes the interests of current directors; Kelly Martin, Adrian Howd Ph.D, and Darragh Lyons and former
directors; John Given and Sean Murphy, held in a personal capacity.
The interests of the Directors in the Issued Ordinary Share Capital of the Company on 1 June 2017, the latest practicable date, is set
out below.
Name

Kyran McLaughlin
Kelly Martin
Adrian Howd, Ph.D
Darragh Lyons
Liam Daniel
Owen Hughes
Robert A. Ingram
Kieran McGowan

Ordinary
Shares

200,000
1,988,9151
46,539
19,367
10,000
11,373
17,406
14,099

% of Issued
Share Capital

0.5%
4.7%
0.1%
-

1. 1,114,488 Ordinary Shares, representing 2.6% of the Issued Ordinary Share Capital of the Company, held by corporate entities are regarded as being a disclosable interest on
behalf of Kelly Martin pursuant to Section 258(d) of the Companies Act, 2014 as Kelly Martin is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of these entities. In addition, these entities held 3,279,299 A Ordinary Shares in the company at 31 December 2016 and at 1 June 2017.
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30. Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with directors
Kyran McLaughlin is deputy chairman of the Davy Group and head of the Capital Markets business division. Davy Corporate Finance,
a separate division of the Davy Group, acted as Malin’s ESM-required advisor during 2016. The total invoiced value of these services
was €0.1 million (2015: €1.1 million). There was no amount outstanding at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: €nil).
Directors and shareholders of BPI
Kelly Martin, CEO and Director of the Company, is a founder and shareholder of the BPI Group and is a non-executive director of
a number of BPI Group companies. During the year, $245,000 of 10% BPI Group loan notes held by Mr Martin converted to share
capital in the BPI Group (31 December 2015: $245,000 outstanding).
Kyran McLaughlin, Chairman of the Company, held $1,000,000 of 10% loan notes in the BPI Group at 31 December 2016 (31 December
2015: $1,000,000).
Adrian Howd, Ph.D, CIO and Director of the Company, is a shareholder and non-executive director of the BPI Group.
Sean Murphy, who retired as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 17 August 2016, is a director and shareholder of the BPI Group.
During the year, $390,000 of 10% BPI Group loan notes held by Mr Murphy converted to share capital in the BPI Group (31 December
2015: $390,000 outstanding).
Darragh Lyons, CFO and Director of the Company, is a shareholder of the BPI Group.
John Given who retired as Director on 31 December 2016, is a shareholder and non-executive director of the BPI Group.
BPI Consulting Operating Services Agreement
Up to 30 June 2016, BPI Consulting had operating services agreements in place with Serenus, Altan and Emba Neuro, all subsidiaries
of Malin, and Emba Medical, an associate undertaking of the Group. As part of the termination of the Operating Services Agreement,
effective 1 July 2016, these operating services agreements transferred to Malin.

Relationships with investee companies
Emba Medical and Emba Neuro
Kyran McLaughlin, Chairman of the Company, Kelly Martin, CEO and Director of the Company and Sean Murphy, a former NonExecutive Director of the Company, held equity interests in Emba Neuro and Emba Medical which pre-dated Malin’s investments in
these entities. Post the restructuring of these entities into NeuVT under the NeuVT Transaction in August 2016. Mr McLaughlin held
approximately 2%, Mr Martin held approximately 12% and Mr Murphy held approximately 4% of the post-combination equity capital
of NeuVT in their own personal capacity, including the interests of their families where applicable, at 31 December 2016.
Xenex
Mr McLaughlin held approximately 0.9% of the equity of Xenex as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: 0.8%).
Hatteras
Malin had invested €2.0 million ($2.2 million) in Hatteras as at 31 December 2016 and has committed to invest a further €16.9
million ($17.8 million) in the company. Mr Robert A. Ingram serves as General Partner of Hatteras Venture Partners.
Viamet
Hatteras Venture Partners, in which Robert A. Ingram serves as General Partner, held approximately 7% (31 December 2015: 7%) of the
fully diluted equity capital of Viamet, through various Hatteras Venture Partners funds. Mr Ingram is Chairman of the Board of Viamet.
Artizan
Hatteras Venture Partners held approximately 23% of the fully diluted equity capital of Artizan at 31 December 2016, through
Hatteras Venture Partners V.
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30. Related party transactions (continued)
Novan
Robert A. Ingram served as a director on Novan’s board prior to Malin’s agreement to invest in Novan and was appointed Chairman
of Novan in February 2016.
Kelly Martin and Robert A. Ingram, both Directors on Malin’s Board, and Sean Murphy, a former Non-Executive Director of the
Company, received cash remuneration of $10,313, $16,250 and $11,250 respectively and 14,484 share options each in Novan, in
their capacity as directors of Novan in 2016, of which 7,242 share options are exercisable within 60 days of 31 March 2017. Mr
Ingram also owns 0.4% of common stock in Novan, in addition to the exercisable options.

Key management compensation
The key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The remuneration expense for
the Executive Directors for the year to 31 December 2016 was €9.4 million (2015: €3.5 million) and is set out in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 57 to 66 along with Directors’ fees.
At 31 December 2016, Malin had a payable of €26k owed to Darragh Lyons, CFO and Director, relating to reimbursable business
expenses incurred in the year ended 31 December 2016.

31. Events after the reporting date
Kymab contingent investment commitment
On 20 January 2017, Malin completed the first of its two €1.4 million ($1.5 million) contingent investment commitments with Kymab.

Viamet investment commitment
On 21 March 2017, Malin completed its €3.5 million ($3.8 million) investment commitment with Viamet.

Hatteras follow-on investment
Between the year end date of 31 December 2016 and the date of release of this report, Malin had advanced a further €1.6 million
($1.7 million) to Hatteras under its investment commitment.

Placing of Ordinary Shares
On 3 May 2017, Malin completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company representing
approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital at this time, at a price of €10.03 per share, to raise gross proceeds of
€27.0 million.
Following admission of these new Ordinary Shares, Malin’s issued Ordinary Share capital consisted of 42,325,225 Ordinary Shares of
nominal value €0.001 each.
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32. Subsidiaries and principal associated undertakings
a. Subsidiaries
Incorporated and operating in

Ireland
Malin Corporation plc
Malin Life Sciences Holdings Ltd
Malin Life Sciences International Ltd
Nidus Laboratories Ireland Ltd
(formerly Malin Life Sciences 2 Ltd)
Harbour Square Corporate Secretaries Ltd
(formerly Malin Life Sciences 3 Ltd)
Malin Life Sciences 4 Ltd
Malin Life Sciences 5 Ltd
Cilatus Biopharma Ireland Ltd
(formerly Malin Life Sciences 6 Ltd)
Brandon Point Management Services Unlimited Company
Brandon Point Industries Unlimited Company
Serenus Biotherapeutics Ltd
Altan Pharma Ltd
Hatchill Ltd (formerly NeuVT Ltd)
NeuVT Ltd (formerly Hatchill Ltd)
Emba Neuro Ltd
United States
Malin Life Sciences, (US) Inc.
Brandon Point Industries, (US) Inc.
Serenus Biotherapeutics, Inc.
NeuVT, (US) Inc.
United Kingdom
Malin Life Sciences (UK) Ltd
Nidus Laboratories Ltd
Wren Therapeutics Ltd
Jersey
Malin J2 Ltd
Malin J3 Ltd
Spain
Altan Pharma Spain SLU
GES SAU
Genfarma SL
Biomendi SAU
BVI
Serenus Biotherapeutics, Inc.
Kenya
Serenus Biotherapeutics Kenya Ltd
South Africa
Serenus Biotherapeutics (Pty) Ltd

Group interest
at 31 December 2016
%

Principal place
of business

Principal
activities

Dublin
Dublin
Dublin

Ultimate parent company
Investment company
Operating company

100%
100%
100%

Dublin

Holding company

100%

Dublin
Dublin
Dublin

Company secretarial
Dormant
Dormant

100%
100%
100%

Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin

Operating company
Dormant
Dormant
Distribution
Operating company
Dormant
Development of medical devices
Holding company

80%
100%
100%
76%
65%
32%
32%
61%

Connecticut
Connecticut
Connecticut
Delaware

Management services
Dormant
Management services
Development of medical devices

100%
100%
76%
32%

Cambridge
Cambridge
Cambridge

Management services
Operating company
Operating company

100%
100%
35%

Jersey
Jersey

Holding company
Holding company

100%
100%

Spain
Spain
Spain
Spain

Holding company
Generic injectables
Generic injectables
Generic injectables

65%
65%
65%
65%

BVI

Management services

76%

Nairobi

Distribution

Johannesburg

Distribution

76%

76%
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32. Subsidiaries and principal associated undertakings (continued)

Incorporated and operating in

Principal place
of business

Principal
activities

Switzerland
Cilatus Biopharma AG

Switzerland

Biopharma consulting

b. Associates

Group interest
at 31 December 2016
%

80%

Group interest
at 31 December
2016
%

Incorporated and operating in

Principal place of
business

Principal activities

Ireland
An2H Discovery Ltd
Brandon Point Enterprises 1 Ltd
3D4Medical Ltd
Emba Medical Ltd

Dublin
Dublin
Dublin
Dublin

Oncology/neurology
Holding company
Anatomy technology
Holding Company

United States
Artizan Biopharma, Inc.
Jaan Health, Inc.
KNOW Bio, LLC
Novan Inc.
Poseida Therapeutics, Inc.
Viamet Pharmaceuticals Holdings, LLC

Delaware
New York
North Carolina
North Carolina
California
North Carolina

Bacterial vaccination
Mobile healthcare technology
Nitric-oxide platform
Dermatology
Genome engineering
Metaloenzyme platform

27%
15%
16%
16%
37%
16%

United Kingdom
Kymab Ltd2
Immunocore Ltd

Cambridge
Oxford

Monoclonal antibody development
Immuno-oncology

11%
10%

Jersey
Malin J1 Ltd

Jersey

Holding company

33. Approval of financial statements
The Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 on 2 June 2017.

1. 28% equity ownership but 72% voting rights.
2. Kymab’s financial year end is 30 September. All other companies have a year end of 31 December.
3. 36% equity ownership but 83% voting rights.
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as at 31 December 2016

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

2

168.7
168.7

8.6
8.6

3

206.9
0.1
1.9
208.9
377.6

296.9
0.2
64.9
362.0
370.6

0.3
0.3
377.3

0.3
0.1
0.4
370.2

393.2
16.8
(32.7)
377.3

387.9
4.9
(22.6)
370.2

Notes

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Loans and receivables from subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
Total current liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Share-based payment reserve
Retained losses
Total equity

On behalf of the Board:

Kelly Martin		
Darragh Lyons
CEO			CFO
2 June 2017
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Share capital Share premium
€’m
€’m

Share-based
payment
reserve
€’m

Retained
earnings
€’m

Total equity
€’m

At 1 January 2016
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive losses for the period

-

387.9

4.9

(22.6)

370.2

-

-

-

(10.1)
(10.1)

(10.1)
(10.1)

Equity settled share-based payments
Total transactions with shareholders
At 31 December 2016

-

5.3
5.3
393.2

11.9
11.9
16.8

(32.7)

17.2
17.2
377.3
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Share capital Share premium
€’m
€’m

At incorporation
Comprehensive income:
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive losses for the period
Issue of shares on admission to the ESM
Issue of shares from additional placing
Issue of shares to BPI as consideration for BPI Investment
Transfers
Issue costs
Equity settled share-based payments
Total transactions with shareholders
At 31 December 2015
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Share-based
payment
reserve
€’m

Retained
earnings
€’m

Total equity
€’m

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

330.0
42.0

-

-

7.6
(8.3)
16.6
387.9
387.9

4.9
4.9
4.9

(22.6)
(22.6)
(22.6)

(22.6)
(22.6)
330.0
42.0
7.6
(8.3)
21.5
392.8
370.2
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Notes to the company financial statements

1. General information and basis of preparation
The Company is an Irish incorporated public limited company trading on the ESM of the Irish Stock Exchange.
The individual financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework” (“FRS 101”) and the Companies Act 2014. FRS 101 sets out a reduced disclosure framework for
a “qualifying entity” as defined in the standard which addresses the financial reporting requirements and disclosure exemptions
in the individual financial statements of qualifying entities that otherwise apply the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of EU-adopted IFRS. A separate Company statement of comprehensive income is not presented in these financial
statements as the Company has availed of the exemption provided by Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014. The loss attributable
to shareholders dealt with in the financial statements of the Company for the year to 31 December 2016 was €10.1 million.
Significant accounting policies applicable to these separate individual Company financial statements, which are not reflected within
the accounting policies for the consolidated financial statements, are detailed below.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in these separate financial statements on the basis of direct equity interest, rather
than on the basis of the reported results and net assets of investees. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Intra-group guarantees
Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the financial indebtedness of companies within the
Group, the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. The Company treats the
guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that it will be required to make a payment under
the guarantee.
As at 31 December 2016, the Company had entered into guarantees in relation to the liabilities of the Republic of Ireland registered
subsidiary company, Malin Life Sciences Holding Limited (“MLSHL”).

Share-based payments
Where the Company has granted rights over its equity instruments to the employees of Malin Corporation plc there is a
corresponding increase recognised in the investment in the subsidiary.
Certain employees and directors receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for shares or for rights over shares. The fair value of the employee service received in exchange for the grant of options
or shares is recognised as an expense. As further detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, the total amount to
be expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options or shares
determined at the grant date, excluding the impact of any non-market based vesting conditions.
Non-market based vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable or the number of shares that the employee will ultimately receive. This estimate is revised at each balance sheet date
and the movement is charged or credited to the investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the company financial statements
(continued)

2. Investment in subsidiary undertakings

At beginning of year / incorporation
Cost of capital contribution of BPI investment transfers to subsidiaries
Cost of capital contribution of investment to subsidiaries
Cost of share-based payments in respect of subsidiaries
Conversion of portion of loan to subsidiary to equity (note 3)

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

8.6
10.1
150.0
168.7

7.6
0.1
0.9
8.6

The capital contributions arising from share-based payment charges represents the Company granting rights over its equity
instruments to the employees of the Company’s subsidiaries. This results in a corresponding increase in investment in subsidiary.
Details of subsidiary undertakings are disclosed in note 32 of the consolidated financial statements.

3. Loans and receivables from subsidiaries

Loans to subsidiaries
Other amounts owed by subsidiaries

31 December
2016
€’m

31 December
2015
€’m

206.9
206.9

296.4
0.5
296.9

Loans to subsidiaries relates to an interest-free loan with MLSHL which is and repayable on demand. During the year, the Company
converted €150.0 million of its loan receivable balance for an allotment of 150 ordinary shares in the capital of MLSHL.
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4. Share capital
31 December 2016

Authorised Share Capital
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
A Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
B Ordinary Shares of €0.0001 each
C Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
D Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
Series Preferred Shares of €0.001
Deferred Shares of €0.0001
Issued Share Capital
Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
A Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
B Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
C Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each
D Ordinary Shares of €0.001 each

31 December 2015

Number

€’m

Number

€’m

300,000,000
5,000,000
305,000,000
200,000,000
305,000,000
1,115,000,000

0.3
0.2
0.5

300,000,000
5,000,000
350,000
650,000
306,000,000

0.3
0.3

39,626,086
3,279,299
42,905,385

-

39,230,527
3,279,299
42,509,826

-

See note 22 of the consolidated financial statements for details of the Company’s authorised and issued share capital classes.
On 3 May 2017, the Company completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company representing
approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross proceeds of €27.0 million.
Following admission of these new Ordinary Shares, the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital consisted of 42,325,225 Ordinary
Shares of nominal value €0.001 each.

5. Share-based payment reserve
Share-based
payment
reserve 2016
€’m

Share-based
payment
reserve 2015
€’m

4.9
6.1
5.8
16.8

4.7
0.2
4.9

At beginning of the year
Founder A Ordinary Shares expense
LTIP and LTBP charges
At 31 December
See note 25 of the consolidated financial statements for details of the Company’s share-based payment reserve.

6. Commitments and contingencies
The Company, as the parent of the Group has entered into a guarantee in relation to any losses or liabilities, as defined in section
357 of the Companies Act 2014, of its Republic of Ireland registered subsidiary company, Malin Life Sciences Holdings Limited, for
the year ended 31 December 2016.
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7. Related parties
See note 30 of the consolidated financial statements for details of the Group’s related party transactions. The Company has taken
advantage of the exemption available to parent companies under IAS 24, not to disclose transactions and balances with wholly
owned subsidiaries.

8. Directors’ emoluments and employee information
Directors’ fees are borne by the Company in respect of the Directors’ services to the Group as a whole. Full details of Directors’
remuneration are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 57 to 66. The Company had no employees during the
period ending 31 December 2016.

9. Events after the reporting period
Placing of ordinary shares
On 3 May 2017, the Company completed a placing of 2,689,906 new Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company representing
approximately 6.4% of the Company’s issued share capital, at a price of €10.03 per share, raising gross proceeds of €27.0 million.
Following admission of these new Ordinary Shares, the Company’s issued Ordinary Share capital consisted of 42,325,225 Ordinary
Shares of nominal value €0.001 each.

10. Approval of financial statements
The Board of Directors approved the Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 on 2 June 2017.
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